# HP ALM Lab Management

Software Version: 12.00

Lab Management Guide

Document Release Date: March 2014 Software Release Date: March 2014



#### **Legal Notices**

#### Warranty

The only warranties for HP products and services are set forth in the express warranty statements accompanying such products and services. Nothing herein should be construed as constituting an additional warranty. HP shall not be liable for technical or editorial errors or omissions contained herein.

The information contained herein is subject to change without notice.

#### **Restricted Rights Legend**

Confidential computer software. Valid license from HP required for possession, use or copying. Consistent with FAR 12.211 and 12.212, Commercial Computer Software, Computer Software Documentation, and Technical Data for Commercial Items are licensed to the U.S. Government under vendor's standard commercial license.

#### **Copyright Notice**

© Copyright 2002 - 2014 Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P.

#### **Trademark Notices**

Adobe® is a trademark of Adobe Systems Incorporated.

Intel® is a trademark of Intel Corporation in the U.S. and other countries.

Java is a registered trademark of Oracle and/or its affiliates.

Microsoft® and Windows® are U.S. registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

Oracle® is a registered trademark of Oracle and/or its affiliates.

UNIX® is a registered trademark of The Open Group.

#### **Documentation Updates**

The title page of this document contains the following identifying information:

- Software Version number, which indicates the software version.
- Document Release Date, which changes each time the document is updated.
- Software Release Date, which indicates the release date of this version of the software.

To check for recent updates or to verify that you are using the most recent edition of a document, go to: http://h20230.www2.hp.com/selfsolve/manuals

This site requires that you register for an HP Passport and sign in. To register for an HP Passport ID, go to: http://h20229.www2.hp.com/passport-registration.html

Or click the New users - please register link on the HP Passport login page.

You will also receive updated or new editions if you subscribe to the appropriate product support service. Contact your HP sales representative for details.

#### Support

Visit the HP Software Support Online web site at: http://www.hp.com/go/hpsoftwaresupport

This web site provides contact information and details about the products, services, and support that HP Software offers.

HP Software online support provides customer self-solve capabilities. It provides a fast and efficient way to access interactive technical support tools needed to manage your business. As a valued support customer, you can benefit by using the support web site to:

- Search for knowledge documents of interest
- Submit and track support cases and enhancement requests
- Download software patches
- Manage support contracts
- Look up HP support contacts
   Review information about available services
- Review miorination about available services
   Enter into discussions with other software customers
- Research and register for software training

Most of the support areas require that you register as an HP Passport user and sign in. Many also require a support contract. To register for an HP Passport ID, go to:

http://h20229.www2.hp.com/passport-registration.html

To find more information about access levels, go to:

http://h20230.www2.hp.com/new\_access\_levels.jsp

HP Software Solutions Now accesses the HPSW Solution and Integration Portal Web site. This site enables you to explore HP Product Solutions to meet your business needs, includes a full list of Integrations between HP Products, as well as a listing of ITIL Processes. The URL for this Web site is http://h20230.www2.hp.com/sc/solutions/index.jsp

# Contents

Contents	3
Welcome to this Guide	11
How This Guide is Organized	11
ALM Help	
ALM Help Guides	13
Topic Types	16
Additional Online Resources	17
ALM Extension Guides	
Chapter 1: Lab Management at a Glance	19
Lab Management Overview	
Chapter 2: Lab Management Administration	21
Introduction to Lab Management Administration	21
How to Create Lab Management Administrators	21
How to Work with Lab Management Administration	
Lab Management Administration User Interface	24
Lab Management Tab	25
General Settings Dialog Box	26
Chapter 3: Project Settings	
Project Settings Overview	
Using Target IP Addresses	28
Using Subnet Masks	
How to Create a Project	
Project Settings User Interface	
Project Settings Module	
Project Settings Module Menus and Buttons	33
Project Settings Module Fields	35
Project Settings Details Dialog Box	
VUDs Actions	
Performance Center Controller Options Dialog Box	43

Chapter 4: Maintenance Tasks	50
Maintenance Tasks Overview	
Maintenance Tasks User Interface	51
Maintenance Tasks Module Window	52
Maintenance Task Fields	53
Maintenance Task Menus and Buttons	
Maintenance Task Details Dialog Box	54
Chapter 5: Cloud Settings	
Cloud Hosts Overview	
Benefits of Using Cloud Hosts	56
Using Cloud Hosts in ALM	57
How to Set Up Cloud Hosts	
Initial Cloud Settings	
Initial Cloud Settings Overview	59
How to Initially Set Up Communication with the Cloud	63
How to Set Up Cloud Network Settings	63
How to Create Digital Certificates	64
Initial Cloud Settings User Interface	66
Cloud Network Settings Dialog Box	66
Cloud Accounts	68
Cloud Accounts Overview	
Cloud Credits	69
How to Manage Cloud Accounts	
Adding a Cloud Account	70
Modifying Cloud Account Details	71
Deleting a Cloud Account	72
Cloud Accounts User Interface	72
Cloud Accounts Module Window	72
Cloud Accounts Module Menus and Buttons	73
Cloud Accounts Module Fields	
New Cloud Account Dialog Box	77

Cloud Account Details Dialog Box	
Assign Projects to Cloud Account Dialog Box	79
Cloud Account Linked Projects Page	
Host Templates	81
Host Templates Overview	
How to Manage Host Templates	
Creating a Host Template	83
Modifying Host Template Details	84
Deleting a Host Template	
Host Templates User Interface	
Host Templates Module Window	
Host Templates Module Menus and Buttons	
Host Templates Module Fields	
New Host Template Dialog Box	
Host Template Details Dialog Box	
Provisioning Hosts	
Provisioning Hosts Overview	93
How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts	93
Provisioning Cloud Hosts	
Terminating Cloud Hosts	95
Provisioning Hosts User Interface	95
Provision Cloud Hosts Dialog Box	
Host Provisioning Report	98
Cloud Resources Monitoring	100
Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview	
Cloud Usage Reports	101
Cloud Alerts and Notifications	
How to Configure Cloud Alerts	101
Cloud Resources Monitoring User Interface	102
Cloud Alerts and Notifications Dialog Box	102
Chapter 6: Lab Resources	

Lab Resources Overview	
Managing Lab Resources	
How to Manage Testing Hosts	106
How to Manage Host Pools	114
How to Manage Host Locations	115
How to Reserve Timeslots	117
Schedule a Maintenance Timeslot - Administrator Use Case	118
Lab Resources Modules User Interface	
Lab Resources Module Menus and Buttons	121
Hosts Module	
Hosts/Testing Hosts Module Window	
Hosts Fields	130
New Testing Host Dialog Box	
Testing Host Details Dialog Box	137
Event Log	140
Processes Page	142
Services Page	143
Check Host Status Page	144
Check Host Status Fields	145
Over Firewall Page	146
Select Patch to Install Dialog Box	149
Pools Module	149
Pools Module Window	149
Pools Fields	
New Host Pool Dialog Box	151
Host Pool Details Dialog Box	
Add Hosts to Pool Dialog Box	
Linked Hosts Page	155
Locations Module	
Locations Module Window	
Locations Fields	

New Host Location Dialog Box	157
Host Location Details Dialog Box	
Timeslots Module	159
Timeslot Reservation: Maintenance Dialog Box	
Chapter 7: PC Test Runs	
PC Test Runs Module Overview	163
PC Test Runs User Interface	163
PC Test Runs Module Window	164
PC Test Runs Module Fields	
PC Test Runs Module Menus and Buttons	167
Run Details Dialog Box	
Chapter 8: Usage Reports	171
Usage Reports Overview	171
How to Generate Usage Reports	172
How to Export Reports to PDF or Excel Formats	173
Usage Report Time Frames	
Usage Reports User Interface	174
Resource Summary Report	175
Concurrency vs. License Report	
Timeslot Usage Report	
Resource by Duration Report	
Resource Usage by Runs Report	
VUDs License Usage per Project Report	191
Daily VUDs License Usage Report	
Cloud High Level Report	
Cloud Credits by Type Report	
Cloud Utilization Report	
Cloud Operations Report	202
Chapter 9: System Health	
System Health Overview	
System Health User Interface	207

System Health Module Window	
Configure System Check Dialog Box	
Chapter 10: PC Licenses	210
HP ALM Performance Center Licenses Overview	210
PC Licenses User Interface	212
PC Licenses Module Window	
Add Licenses from File Dialog Box	215
Chapter 11: MI Listeners	217
MI Listeners Overview	217
How to Manage MI Listeners	217
MI Listeners Module	218
MI Listeners Module Window	219
MI Listener Fields	
MI Listeners Module Menus and Buttons	
New MI Listener Dialog Box	
MI Listener Details Dialog Box	
Chapter 12: Diagnostics Management	
J2EE/.NET Diagnostics Overview	
ERP/CRM Diagnostics Overview	
How to Add ERP/CRM Mediators	
How to Add HP Diagnostics Servers	
How to Pre-Configure Siebel/Siebel DB Diagnostics	
How to Pre-Configure Oracle 11i Diagnostics	
How to Pre-Configure SAP Diagnostics	234
How to Enable and Disable Logging on the Siebel Server	235
How to Enable Logging on the Oracle Server	
How to Set and Disable the Oracle Server Diagnostics Password	237
Diagnostics User Interface	
Diagnostics Module Window	
Diagnostics Module Fields	239
Diagnostics Module Menus and Buttons	

Chapter 13: Patch Management	
Patches Overview	
How to Upload Patches to ALM	243
Patch Management User Interface	243
Patches Module Window	244
Patches Module Fields	244
Patches Module Menus and Buttons	
Patch Details Dialog Box	
New Patch Dialog Box	248
Chapter 14: AUT Host Management	249
AUT Resources Overview	
How to Import AUT Host Data from Excel	
AUT Resource Modules User Interface	
AUT Hosts Module	
AUT Host Fields	
New AUT Host Dialog Box / Add AUT Host Dialog Box	
AUT Host Details Dialog Box	
AUT Pools Module	
Linked Hosts Page	
Add AUT Hosts to Pool Dialog Box	
AUT Pools Fields	
New AUT Host Pool Dialog Box	
AUT Host Pool Details Dialog Box	
AUT Resource Module Menus and Buttons	
Chapter 15: Project Management	
Working With Lab Management Enabled Projects Overview	
How to Migrate a Lab Management System from a Staging to a Production	
Chapter 16: PC Servers	
PC Servers Overview	
How to Manage Performance Center Servers	

Performance Center Servers Module User Interface	
PC Servers Module Window	272
PC Servers Module Menus and Buttons	
PC Servers Module Fields	
PC Server Details Dialog Box	
New PC Server Dialog Box	
Processes Page	
Check Server Status Page	
Chapter 17: CDA Servers	
CDA Servers Overview	
How to Manage CDA Servers	
CDA Servers User Interface	
CDA Servers Module Window	
CDA Servers Module Menus and Buttons	
CDA Servers Module Fields	
New CDA Server Dialog Box	
CDA Server Details Dialog Box	
Chapter 18: Lab Service	
HP ALM Lab Service Overview	
Installing HP ALM Lab Service	
Modify or Uninstall HP ALM Lab Service	
Using HP ALM Lab Service	
Auto Login	
HP ALM Lab Service Agent	
We appreciate your feedback!	

# Welcome to this Guide

Welcome to HP ALM Lab Management. Lab Management allows users to manage the lab resources and systems they use for Functional and Performance testing in ALM.

This guide describes how to use the Lab Management project. It provides descriptive and conceptual information, step-by-step guidance to help you work with the project, and explanations of reference-oriented material.

# How This Guide is Organized

Chapter	Description
"Lab Management at a Glance" on page 19	Describes the Lab Management modules.
"Lab Management Administration" on page 21	Describes how to perform Lab Management Administration. <b>Relevant tasks:</b> "How to Create Lab Management Administrators" on page 21 and "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on
	page 22.
"Project Settings" on	Describes how to define and manage project settings.
page 28	Relevant task: "How to Create a Project" on page 29
"Maintenance Tasks" on page 50	Describes how to manage the automated tasks that monitor the key system components.
"Cloud Settings" on page 56	Describes how to manage cloud accounts in ALM and how to provision cloud hosts.
"Lab Resources" on page 104	Describes how to define and manage testing hosts, host pools, MI Listeners, and arrange for timeslot testing.
	Relevant task: "Managing Lab Resources" on page 106
"PC Test Runs" on page 163	Describes how to view information for PC test runs.
"Usage Reports" on page 171	Describes how to view and analyze information about Performance Center site users and resource usage.
	Relevant task: "How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172
"System Health" on page 207	Describes how to monitor the health of the components of the system.

The HP ALM Lab Management Guide contains the following chapters:

Chapter	Description
"PC Licenses" on page 210	Describes how to define and view PC licenses.
"MI Listeners" on	Describes how to manage MI Listeners.
page 217	Relevant task: "How to Manage MI Listeners" on page 217
"Diagnostics Management" on	Describes how to view diagnostic information about the performance of complex environments.
page 225	Relevant task: "How to Add HP Diagnostics Servers" on page 228
"Patch Management"	Describes how to upload and install patches on hosts.
on page 243	Relevant task: "How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243
"AUT Host Management" on page 249	Describes how to create, view, and manage AUT hosts and AUT host pools.
	Relevant task: "How to Import AUT Host Data from Excel" on page 249
"Project Management" on page 267	Describes how to migrate a Lab Management system from a staging to a production environment.
	<b>Relevant task:</b> "How to Migrate a Lab Management System from a Staging to a Production Environment " on page 268
"PC Servers" on page 270	Describes how to create, view, and manage Performance Center servers.
	Relevant task: "How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270
"CDA Servers" on	Describes how to create, view, and manage CDA servers.
page 283	Relevant task: "How to Manage CDA Servers" on page 283.
"Lab Service " on page 290	Describes how to install and use HP ALM Lab Service to run ALM tests on remote testing hosts.
	Relevant task: "Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298

# ALM Help

The ALM Help is an online help system that describes how to use ALM. You can access the ALM Help in the following ways:

• In the ALM main window select **Help > ALM Help** to open the ALM Help home page. The home page provides quick links to the main help topics.

• Click in the ALM masthead to open the ALM Help to the topic that describes the current page.

# **ALM Help Guides**

The ALM Help consists of the following guides and references, available online, in PDF format, or both. PDFs can be read and printed using Adobe Reader, which can be downloaded from the Adobe Web site (http://www.adobe.com).

Reference	Description
Using the ALM Help	Explains how to use the Help and how it is organized.
What's New?	Describes the newest features in the latest version of ALM. To access, select <b>Help &gt; What's New</b> .
Movies	Short movies that demonstrate the main product features. To access, select <b>Help &gt; Movies</b> .
Readme	Provides last-minute news and information about ALM.

HP Application Lifecycle Management (ALM) Guides	Description
HP ALM User Guide	Explains how to use ALM to organize and execute all phases of the application lifecycle management process. It describes how to specify releases, define requirements, plan tests, run tests, and track defects.
HP ALM Administrator Guide	Explains how to create and maintain projects using Site Administration, and how to customize projects using Project Customization.
HP ALM Lab Management Guide	Explains how to use Lab Management to manage lab resources used for functional and performance testing on remote hosts.
HP ALM Tutorial	A self-paced guide teaching you how to use ALM to manage the application lifecycle management process.
HP ALM Installation and Upgrade Guide	Describes the installation and configuration processes for setting up ALM Server, and the project upgrade process.
HP ALM Lab Management Troubleshooting Guide	Provides information for troubleshooting problems while working with HP ALM Lab Management.

HP Application Lifecycle Management (ALM) Guides	) Description
HP ALM External Authentication Configuration Guide	Describes the configuration needed to access ALM with external authentication.
HP ALM Business Views Microsoft Excel Add-in User Guide	Explains how to install and use the Business Views Microsoft Excel Add-in to create and configure business view Excel reports.
Business Process Testing User Guide	Explains how to use Business Process Testing to create business process tests.
HP ALM Performance Center Guides	Description
HP ALM Performance Center Quick Start	A self-paced guide giving the Performance Center user a high level overview of creating and running performance tests.
HP ALM Performance Center Guide	Explains to the Performance Center user how to create, schedule, run, and monitor performance tests. Explains to the Performance Center administrator how to configure and manage Performance Center projects.
HP ALM Performance Center Installation Guide	Describes the installation processes for setting up Performance Center Servers, Performance Center Hosts and other Performance Center components.
HP ALM Performance Center Troubleshooting Guide	Provides information for troubleshooting problems while working with HP ALM Performance Center.

HP ALM Best Practices Guides	Description
HP ALM Agile Testing Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for implementing agile testing principles.
HP ALM Business Process Models Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for working with the Business Models module.

HP ALM Best Practices Guides	Description
HP ALM Database Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for deploying ALM on database servers.
HP ALM Entities Sharing Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for sharing entities.
HP ALM Project Planning and Tracking Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for managing and tracking releases.
HP ALM Project Topology Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for structuring projects.
HP ALM Upgrade Best Practices Guide	Provides methodologies for preparing and planning your ALM upgrade.
HP ALM Versioning and Baselining Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for implementing version control and for creating baselines.
HP ALM Workflow Best Practices Guide	Provides best practices for implementing workflows.

HP ALM Performance Center Best Practices Guides	Description
HP Performance Centers of Excellence Best Practices	Provides best practices for successfully building and operating Performance Centers of Excellence.
HP Performance Monitoring Best Practices	Provides best practices for monitoring the performance of applications under test.

HP ALM API References	Description
HP ALM Project Database Reference	Provides a complete online reference for the project database tables and fields.
HP ALM Open Test Architecture API Reference	Provides a complete online reference for the ALM COM-based API. You can use the ALM open test architecture to integrate your own configuration management, defect tracking, and home-grown testing tools with an ALM project.
HP ALM Site Administration API Reference	Provides a complete online reference for the Site Administration COM-based API. You can use the Site Administration API to enable your application to organize, manage, and maintain ALM users, projects, domains, connections, and site configuration parameters.

HP ALM API References	Description
HP ALM REST API Reference	Provides an online reference for the ALM REST-based API. You can use the REST API to access and work with ALM data.
HP ALM COM Custom Test Type Developer Guide	Provides a complete online guide for creating your own testing tool and integrating it into the ALM environment using native COM development tools.
HP ALM .NET Custom Test Type Developer Guide	Provides a complete online guide for creating your own testing tool and integrating it into the ALM environment using a combination of DCOM and .NET classes.

HP ALM Performance Center API References	Description
HP ALM Performance Center REST API Reference	Provides an online reference for the ALM Performance Center REST- based API. You can use the REST API to execute actions to support automation and continuous integration.

# **Topic Types**

The content in the above mentioned ALM guides is organized by topics. Three main topic types are in use: **Concepts**, **Tasks**, and **Reference**.

Торіс Туре	Description	Usage
Concepts	Background, descriptive, or conceptual information.	Learn general information about what a feature does.

Торіс Туре	Description	Usage
Tasks	<ul> <li>Instructional Tasks. Step-by-step guidance to help you work with the application and accomplish your goals.</li> <li>Task steps can be with or without numbering: <ul> <li>Numbered steps. Tasks that are performed by following each step in consecutive order.</li> <li>Non-numbered steps. A list of self-contained operations that you can perform in any order.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Learn about the overall workflow of a task.</li> <li>Follow the steps listed in a numbered task to complete a task.</li> <li>Perform independent operations by completing steps in a non-numbered task.</li> </ul>
	<b>Use-case Scenario Tasks</b> . Examples of how to perform a task for a specific situation.	Learn how a task could be performed in a realistic scenario.
Reference	<b>General Reference</b> . Detailed lists and explanations of reference-oriented material.	Look up a specific piece of reference information relevant to a particular context.
	<b>User Interface Reference</b> . Specialized reference topics that describe a particular user interface in detail. Clicking ? on the masthead, or selecting ALM Help from the Help menu in the product generally opens the user interface topics.	Look up specific information about what to enter or how to use one or more specific user interface elements, such as a window, dialog box, or wizard.
Troubleshooting and Limitations	<b>Troubleshooting and Limitations</b> . Specialized reference topics that describe commonly encountered problems and their solutions, and list limitations of a feature or product area.	Increase your awareness of important issues before working with a feature, or if you encounter usability problems in the software.

## **Additional Online Resources**

The following additional online resources are available from the Help menu:

Resource	Description
Troubleshooting & Knowledge Base	Opens the Troubleshooting page on the HP Software Support Web site where you can search the Self-solve knowledge base. Choose <b>Help &gt;</b> <b>Troubleshooting &amp; Knowledge Base</b> . The URL for this Web site is http://h20230.www2.hp.com/troubleshooting.jsp.

Resource	Description
HP Software Support	<ul> <li>Opens the HP Software Support Web site. This site enables you to browse the Self-solve knowledge base. You can also post to and search user discussion forums, submit support requests, download patches and updated documentation, and more. Choose Help &gt; Software Support Online. The URL for this Web site is www.hp.com/go/hpsoftwaresupport.</li> <li>Most of the support areas require that you register as an HP Passport user and sign in. Many also require a support contract.</li> <li>To find more information about access levels, go to: http://h20230.www2.hp.com/new_access_levels.jsp</li> <li>To register for an HP Passport user ID, go to: http://h20229.www2.hp.com/passport-registration.html</li> </ul>
HP Software Quality Center Website	Opens the HP Software Web site. This site provides you with the most up- to-date information on HP Software products. This includes new software releases, seminars and trade shows, customer support, and more. Choose <b>Help &gt; HP Software Quality Center Website</b> . The URL for this Web site is www.hp.com/go/software.
HP Software Application Lifecycle Management Website	Opens the HP ALM Software Web site. This site provides you with the most up-to-date information on HP ALM. This includes new software releases, seminars and trade shows, customer support, and more. Choose <b>Help &gt;</b> <b>HP Software Application Lifecycle Management Website</b> . The URL for this Web site is http://www8.hp.com/us/en/software- solutions/software.html?compURI=1172141#tab=TAB1.
Add-ins	Opens the Add-ins page, which offers integration and synchronization solutions with HP and third-party tools.
ALM Tools	Opens the ALM Lab Management Tools page, which offers integration and synchronization solutions with HP and third-party tools that are installed with ALM on the ALM Server.

## **ALM Extension Guides**

Extensions provide added functionality to HP ALM. If you have a license for an ALM extension, you can utilize the added functionality by enabling the extension on a per project basis. For details on enabling extensions, refer to the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

To view the list of extensions available with ALM 12.00, or to download documentation for ALM extensions, visit the HP ALM Add-ins page, available from the HP Application Lifecycle Management Add-ins page (**Help > Add-ins**).

# **Chapter 1: Lab Management at a Glance**

This chapter includes:

### Lab Management Overview

HP ALM Lab Management enables you to manage the resources that you use for ALM server-side testing.

ALM tests can run using different modes of execution. If you are an ALM Edition or Performance Center user, you have access to Functional and Performance test sets which can run immediate or scheduled tests on remote testing hosts. You use ALM to deploy and test your builds in an end-toend fashion, and use Lab Management to manage the testing resources which form the infrastructure of ALM's server-side testing functionality.

Lab Management consists of the following groups of modules:

#### Lab Settings

Enable you to manage how resources are monitored, maintained, and distributed to your ALM projects. This group consists of the following modules:

Project Settings	Manage the settings of each of your ALM projects. Define host limit settings and assign host pools to a specific project.
Maintenance Tasks	Monitor the tasks which locate and repair failures in your system's key components.

#### Cloud Settings

Allow you to add cloud accounts and host templates used to provision cloud testing hosts in ALM.

Cloud Accounts	Add your external cloud accounts to ALM.
Host Templates	Create and modify the templates used to provision cloud hosts.

#### Lab Resources

Enable you to create and define the testing hosts and pools available for server-side testing.

Hosts	Create and modify the testing hosts ALM uses to run server-side tests.
Pools	Create and modify pools of testing hosts. Host pools are assigned to ALM projects.

Locations	Define the locations which can be assigned to testing hosts.
Timeslots	Schedule and reserve hosts for manual maintenance work.

#### Performance Center

Enable you to manage the resources, settings, and test result data relevant to Performance Center.

PC Test Runs	View test result information for Performance Center tests run across all projects.
Usage Reports	Analyze Performance Center site users and resource usage.
System Health	Track and maintain the health of the system.
PC Licenses	Maintain the Performance Center and Performance Center host licenses.
MI Listeners	Create and modify MI Listeners, which enable you to run performance tests across a firewall.
Diagnostics	Configure the integration of diagnostic modules to enable monitoring and analysis of the performance of complex applications under test.
Patches	Upload application patches so they can be installed on Performance Center servers and hosts.
AUT Hosts	Create and modify the machines which host the Application Under Test (AUT) components.
AUT Host Pools	Create and modify pools of AUT hosts.

#### Servers

Enable you to create and configure the servers used for performance testing and test deployment.

PC Servers	Create Performance Center servers and mange how they are used for performance testing.
CDA Servers	Create and modify HP Continuous Delivery Automation (CDA) servers, which enable ALM to dynamically deploy environments for server-side testing using the cloud.

# Chapter 2: Lab Management Administration

This chapter includes:

Introduction to Lab Management Administration	. 21
How to Create Lab Management Administrators	.21
How to Work with Lab Management Administration	. 22
Lab Management Administration User Interface	. 24

### Introduction to Lab Management Administration

A Lab Management user must be assigned administrator privileges to perform administrator tasks, such as creating and maintaining hosts and host pools.

Lab Management users are defined or assigned an administrator role in ALM Site Administration. For details on how to create a Lab Management administrator user, see "How to Create Lab Management Administrators" below.

For related task details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on the next page.

### How to Create Lab Management Administrators

This task describes how to create a Lab Management administrator user, who is responsible for all **project administration** tasks in Lab Management and in Site Administration.

#### Note:

- This task is a prerequisite for the task, "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on the next page.
- This task is performed in Site Administration. For details about logging in to and using Site Administration, refer to the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

#### To create a Lab Management administrator user:

- 1. Log in to Site Administration.
- 2. In the Site Users tab, create a new user.
- In the Lab Management tab, select the Lab Management Users tab. For user interface details, see "Lab Management Tab" on page 25.

4. Add the user you created above, and select the **Project Administrator** option for the new user.

## How to Work with Lab Management Administration

This section lists the tasks that a Lab Management administrator can perform.

Some of the tasks below are available only for projects with Performance Center licenses.

- "Prerequisites" below
- "Perform initial Performance Center configuration" below
- "Create Performance Center projects and define project settings" on the next page
- "Manage and maintain Lab Management lab resources" on the next page
- "View and manage performance test runs" on the next page
- "View Performance Center usage reports" on the next page
- "Upload application patches" on the next page
- "Manage Performance Center Servers" on the next page
- "Manage Performance Center and Performance Center host licenses" on the next page
- "Manage Diagnostic Servers and Mediators" on the next page
- "Maintain system health" on page 24
- "Change the Performance Center system user" on page 24
- "Update the Communication Security passphrase" on page 24
- "Update the secure host communication settings" on page 24
- "Configure general Performance Center settings" on page 24

#### Prerequisites

To perform any of these tasks, you must be a Lab Management administrator. For details on how to create a Lab Management administrator, see "How to Create Lab Management Administrators" on the previous page.

#### Perform initial Performance Center configuration

Immediately after installing the Performance Center components, the relevant component's configuration tool opens, prompting you for initial configuration settings. If this configuration was skipped, you must configure the settings manually before you can start working with Performance

Center.

For details, refer to the HP ALM Performance Center Guide.

#### **Create Performance Center projects and define project settings**

You create projects in Site Administration, and define the limits and other settings for the project in Lab Management, in the Project Settings module. For details, see "How to Create a Project" on page 29.

#### Manage and maintain Lab Management lab resources

You manage hosts, host pools, and host locations from the Lab Resources modules. For details, see "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106.

When you plan to perform maintenance tasks on the hosts—such as installing patches, rebooting hosts, and so on—it is recommended to reserve these hosts in timeslots. This way, you can be sure that they are available for maintenance. For details, see "How to Reserve Timeslots" on page 117.

#### View and manage performance test runs

The test runs from all the Lab Management in the system can be viewed and managed in the Test Runs module. For details, see "PC Test Runs Module Window" on page 164.

#### View Performance Center usage reports

Performance Center usage reports provide you with an overall analysis of Performance Center site users, resource usage, concurrent resource usage vs. license limitations, timeslot usage, as well as resource usage by duration and runs. For details, see "How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172.

You can also export these reports to PDF and Excel format. For details, see "How to Export Reports to PDF or Excel Formats" on page 173.

#### Upload application patches

Before you can install application patches on Performance Center Servers and hosts, you must upload the patches to the system. For details, see "How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243.

#### Manage Performance Center Servers

You manage Performance Center Servers in Lab Management from the PC Servers module. For details, see "How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270.

#### Manage Performance Center and Performance Center host licenses

You manage the Performance Center license and Performance Center host license in Lab Management from the Licenses module. For details, see "PC Licenses Module Window" on page 213.

#### Manage Diagnostic Servers and Mediators

Integrating diagnostics modules with ALM enables monitoring and analysis of the performance of complex applications under test. For details on setting up the diagnostics modules, see "Diagnostics Management" on page 225.

#### Maintain system health

You track and maintain the health of the system from the System Health module. For details, see "System Health Overview" on page 207.

#### Change the Performance Center system user

You use the System Identity Utility, installed on the Performance Center Server, to change the Performance Center system user on the Performance Center Server and hosts. For details, refer to the *HP ALM Performance Center Guide*.

#### Update the Communication Security passphrase

You use the System Identity Utility, installed on the Performance Center Server, to update the Communication Security passphrase on the Performance Center Server and hosts. For details, refer to the *HP ALM Performance Center Guide*.

#### Update the secure host communication settings

Initially, you define secure communication settings on each Performance Center host or standalone load generator using the Host Security Setup utility, installed locally on each host or load generator. For details, refer to the *HP ALM Performance Center Guide*.

To update these settings on all the hosts and load generators simultaneously, you can use the Host Security Manager, installed on the Performance Center Server. For details, refer to the *HP ALM Performance Center Guide*.

#### **Configure general Performance Center settings**

You manage general Performance Center settings in Lab Management. On the masthead, click

and select **Performance Center General Settings**. For user interface details, see "General Settings Dialog Box" on page 26.

### Lab Management Administration User Interface

This section includes:

Lab Management Tab	
General Settings Dialog Box	26

### Lab Management Tab

The Lab Management tab in Site Administration enables you to manage LAB\_PROJECT project details and define Lab Management users who are responsible for Lab Management administration tasks.

Site Projects Lab Management Site Users	Site Connections   Licenses   Ser	rers DB Servers Site Configu	ration Site Analysis
S. Refresh Project	🥒 Edit 🔅 🛎 Ping 🛛 🕰 🔻	✓ <sup>5</sup> ×	
🔹 🥰 LAB_PROJECT	Lab Management Details	Lab Management Users	
	🍟 Add 👻 🔥 Remove	5 Find	
	User Name	△ Full Name	Project Administrator 🔺
	Admin	Admin	
	Viewer		
	user1	user1	
	Total Users :3		

To access	In Site Administration, click the Lab Management tab.
Relevant tasks	"How to Create Lab Management Administrators" on page 21
See also	"Introduction to Lab Management Administration" on page 21

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
🥜 Edit	<b>Edit Connection String.</b> Edits the connection string for Lab Management. For details on editing the connection string, refer to the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide</i> .
🥦 Ping	<b>Ping Project.</b> Checks whether the project database is accessible from Site Administration.
<b>-</b>	<b>Maintain Project.</b> Enables you to verify, repair, and upgrade projects. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.</i>
V Ø	Activate/Deactivate Project. When you deactivate LAB_PROJECT, users cannot log in to Lab Management. Any users currently connected to the project are forced to log out when you deactivate. LAB_PROJECT is not deleted from the server.
	In addition, users cannot connect to projects linked to LAB_PROJECT, and currently connected users are disconnected.

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
S)	Restore Lab Project. Restores access to LAB_PROJECT and adds it to the Lab Management tab in Site Administration. Restoring a LAB_PROJECT allows you to use only Lab Management projects that were created in the restored LAB_PROJECT. For more details on the restore process, refer to the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide</i> .
	<b>Remove Lab Project.</b> Removes LAB_PROJECT from the Lab Management tab in Site Administration. This does not delete LAB_PROJECT from the server and you can restore it if necessary. If the project is still active, you are prompted to deactivate it. Removing LAB_PROJECT deactivates all associated Lab Management projects. These projects can be enabled only by restoring this version of LAB_PROJECT
Lab Management	Enables you to view and edit LAB_PROJECT details for working with Lab Management. For more information on the viewing and editing project details,
Details tab	refer to the HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.
Lab Management Users tab	Enables you to assign users who are responsible for Lab Management administration. For more information, refer to the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management Administrator Guide</i> .

### **General Settings Dialog Box**

Performance Server Gen	eral Settings	
PO Server     Deta Processor     Data Processor     Data Processor     Data Processor     Data Processor	Retarger       Reference         Reserver Cache size       Reference         Cache size       Reference         size (dB)       1         Not       Reference         PD Server cache size       Reference         Not       Reference         PD Server cache size       Reference         Not       Reference         PD Server cache size       Reference	
To access	In Lab Management, on the ALM mas Performance Center General Setting	sthead click 🄯 and select ings.

This dialog box enables you to define general settings for Performance Center.

Important information	The settings defined here are general settings for the Performance Center system.
Relevant tasks	"How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22
See also	"Introduction to Lab Management Administration" on page 21

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
PC Server > PC Server Settings page	Enables you to define Performance Center Server cache setting:
	• <b>Unlimited cache size.</b> The Performance Center Server cache size is unlimited and the cache is not cleaned.
	Cache size. The Performance Center Server cache size in gigabytes.
	Default: 1GB
Data Processor >	Enables you to define data processor settings:
Settings page	• Data Processor Timeslot minimum length (minutes). The minimum amount of time, in minutes, that a data processor timeslot should be allotted.
	Default: 1 minute
	• <b>Timeout for pending data processor task (minutes).</b> The amount of time a data processing task should be allowed to remain in a pending state.
	Default: 30 minutes
Apply	Saves the settings that you have defined.
Use Default	Restores the default Performance Center Server and Data Processor settings.

# **Chapter 3: Project Settings**

This chapter includes:

Project Settings Overview	. 28
How to Create a Project	29
Project Settings User Interface	31

## **Project Settings Overview**

The Project Settings module enables you to monitor and modify the project settings, including:

- General project details
- Using IP addresses as targets for performance testing
- VUDs Vusers allocation to the project and usage
- Timeslot settings for the project
- Controller settings for the project

For details about how to use Target IP Addresses, see "Using Target IP Addresses" below.

### **Using Target IP Addresses**

Target IP addresses are assigned so that the addresses of all hosts on a given network share a common prefix. The common prefix defines the network portion of the IP address, and the remainder defines the host portion (also referred to as the local portion).

The term network in this context refers to a logical network which might span one or more physical networks. The network portion of an IP address identifies a site and the local portion identifies a single host at that site.

### **Using Subnet Masks**

A site using subnet addressing must specify a 32-bit subnet mask for each network. Each bit in the subnet mask is set to 1 if the network treats the corresponding bit in the IP address as part of the network address or 0 if it treats the corresponding bit in the IP address as part of the host ID.

Consider, for example, the subnet mask

11111111 1111111 0000000 0000000

(or in decimal form, 255.255.0.0). This subnet mask specifies that the first two octets identify the network and the last two octets identify the host on that network.

The subnet mask 255.255.255.255 (or in binary form, 11111111 11111111 11111111 11111111), which you add when defining individual IP addresses, specifies that all four octets in the IP address identify the network and host as if there were no subnet mask. In practice, this means that null uses the exact IP address to target performance tests.

### How to Create a Project

This task describes how to create a project. You create projects in Site Administration, and define project settings in Lab Management.

#### Note:

- This task is part of a higher level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.
- **Product Feature Movie.** To view a movie that demonstrates how to create a performance testing project, select **Help > Movies** in the ALM main window.

This task includes the following steps:

- "Log in to Site Administration" below
- "Create a project domain optional" below
- "Create project administrator users" below
- "Create a new project" on the next page
- "Assign more project administrators to the project optional" on the next page
- "Define the project's settings" on the next page
- "Add and customize the project users " on page 31

#### 1. Log in to Site Administration

Open your Web browser and type the ALM URL in the following format:

http://<ALM name>[<:port number>]/qcbin

In the HP Application Lifecycle Management window, click **Site Administration**.

Enter your Site Administrator user name and password and click Login.

#### 2. Create a project domain - optional

Click the Create Domain button and enter a name for the new domain, and click OK.

#### 3. Create project administrator users

- a. Select the **Site Users** tab, and click the **New User** button. The New User dialog box opens.
- b. Enter the details of the project administrator user, and click **OK**.
- c. Select the user, click **Password** and enter the password. Click **OK**.

For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.

#### 4. Create a new project

- a. Click the Site Projects tab, and select the domain in which you want to create the project.
- b. Click the **Create Project** button, and follow the steps to create the project. When prompted:
  - Add the project administrator users you created above.
  - If it is not enabled already, select **ALM Lab Extension**.

For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.

#### 5. Assign more project administrators to the project - optional

To add additional project administrators:

- a. Click the Site Projects tab.
- b. In the **Projects** list on the left, select the project you created.
- c. In the right pane, click the Project Users tab.
- d. Add another user, and select **Project Administrator**.

#### 6. Define the project's settings

Projects are created with default settings which you can modify if desired. You define the project settings in Lab Management as follows:

- a. Log in to Lab Management with your administrator user name and password.
- b. On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Settings, select Project Settings.
- c. Define at least the following settings: Host limit, Vuser limit, and Concurrent Run limit.

For user interface details, see " Project Settings Details Dialog Box" on page 36.

**Note:** Project administrators can view the project settings in the project in ALM, and can modify some of the project settings. To access the project settings in ALM, on the

ALM masthead, click and select Lab Settings.

#### 7. Add and customize the project users

This step is performed by the project administrator. For details, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

## **Project Settings User Interface**

This section includes:

Project Settings Module	32
Project Settings Module Menus and Buttons	33
Project Settings Module Fields	35
Project Settings Details Dialog Box	36
Performance Center Controller Options Dialog Box	43

## **Project Settings Module**

This module enables you to view and manage all of the projects and their settings.

roject		Pool		AUT Pool		Vuser Limit	VUDs Limit	Concurrent.
nother project		General				100	0	1
test		General				10000	0	2
1		General				1000	10	3
<u>c</u>		General		PC default AUT pool		1000	2	3
1		General				0	0	0
noj		V_pool				1000	20	10
<u>: PC1</u>		General				1000	0	10
UTOMATION M	IGRATION PROJ	General				0	0	0
<u>21</u>		General				1000	0	10
WAN for Migration		General				0	0	0
oi1BHVat		General				500	0	5
<u>pi2</u>		General				500	0	10
							b.	Þ
VUDs Transacti	ons History							
ilter: Project Uniq	L¥   ♀ ue ID[8574f181-dd8	6-40d4-be59-8765	5df42801]; Sort By: Po	st Date[Descending]:	VUDs Tansaction	ID[Descending]		
Post Date	Responsible	Action	VUDs number	Updated inuse	Updated	Updated	VUDs Tansact	tion ID
3/07/2010 14:4	antons	Deallocated	100			0	1006	
13/07/2010 14-4	antons	Allocated	100			100	1005	

To access	On the sidebar, under Lab Settings, select Project Settings.
Important Information	This module displays a list of all of the projects in ALM. Alternatively, you can access project settings from within a particular project.
Relevant tasks	"How to Create a Project" on page 29
See also	"Project Settings Overview" on page 28

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
<project settings<br="">module common UI elements&gt;</project>	• <b>Project Settings module fields.</b> For field definitions, see "Project Settings Module Fields" on page 35.
	• <b>Project Settings module menus and buttons.</b> For command and button descriptions, see " Project Settings Module Menus and Buttons" on the next page.
	• ALM main menu and sidebar. For details on the <b>Tools</b> menu, Help menu and sidebar, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .
<project settings<br="">grid&gt;</project>	Displays a list of the projects in ALM and their project settings.

UI Elements	Description
PC VUDs transactions tab	Displays the PC VUDs transactions in each projects. For details, see " Project Settings Details Dialog Box" on page 36.
History tab	Lists changes made to the currently selected project. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### **Project Settings Module Menus and Buttons**

The Project Settings module enables you to view and manage project settings.

To access	• On the sidebar, under Lab Settings, select Project Settings.
	<ul> <li>Project administrator: In ALM, on the masthead, click in and select Performance Center Project Settings.</li> </ul>
Important information	If you are a project administrator, you can view the current project's settings in ALM. You can also modify some of the settings.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Copy URL	Project Settings and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Copies a selected project and pastes its URL as a link. The project itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking the link opens up ALM and takes you to the project file or folder. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
Export	Project Settings and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the project settings in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options: <ul> <li>All. Exports all project settings in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected project settings in the grid.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for project settings in the module. For details about search options, see the <i>HP</i> <i>Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

Menus and toolbars of the Project Settings module are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Go to Project Settings	Project Settings	Opens the Go To Project Settings dialog box, enabling you to find a specific project settings record by its ID number.
Grid Filters	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Enables you to filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Information Panel	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Organize Favorites dialog box, enabling you to organize the list of favorite views by changing properties or deleting views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Project Settings Details	Project Settings and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Project Settings Details dialog box, enabling you to view and edit details of the selected project.
Private	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.
Public	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	In the Project Details grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> . For details about the project setting fields, see "Project Settings Module Fields" on the next page.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the project settings in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Update Selected	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# **Project Settings Module Fields**

Field	Description					
AUT Pool	The AUT host pool of the project.					
Build Verification Suite Auto- Extend Duration	The number of minutes by which a build verification suite timeslot is automatically extended if the initial timeslot is not long enough. Requires that Automatically Extend Timeslot is enabled for the timeslot and requires that the appropriate testing resources are available to extend the timeslot.					
CDA Domain	The domain of the CDA server.					
CDA Server	The name of the CDA server.					
Concurrent Run Limit	The maximum number of concurrent test runs allowed within a project.					
Diagnostics Server	The Diagnostics Server defined for the project.					
Domain Name	The domain in which the project was created.					
Functional Test Auto- Extend Duration	The number of minutes by which a functional test timeslot is automatically extended if the initial timeslot is not long enough. Requires that Automatically Extend Timeslot is enabled for the timeslot and requires that the appropriate testing resources are available to extend the timeslot.					
Host Limit	The total number of hosts (Controller + load generators) reserved for a timeslot may not exceed this limit.					
ID	The project's ID.					

This section describes the Project Settings module fields:

Field	Description				
Maximum Times to Automatically Extend Timeslot	The maximum number of times that a timeslot can be automatically extended if the initial timeslot is not long enough for the BVS or functional test set to complete.				
Pool	The project's host pool.				
Project	The name of the project.				
VUDs Consumed	The number of VUDs consumed by the project.				
VUDs Limit	The maximum number of VUDs available to the project.				
VuGen Working Mode	<ul> <li>The mode to use to upload scripts from VuGen:</li> <li>Runtime Files mode. Uploads only the necessary files to replay the script correctly.</li> <li>User Defined mode. Uploads any available files including thumbnail images.</li> </ul>				
Vuser Limit	The maximum number of Vusers a project can run at once. The total number used by all of the project's concurrent performance tests must not exceed this limit.				

### **Project Settings Details Dialog Box**

This dialog box enables you to configure settings for a project.

📴 Project Settings Details						_ D <b>X</b>
10 0 0 0 4 10 10 10	1					
ID: 1001	Project: David					
Details	Details					
PC Target IPs PC VUDs Transacti Timeslots Settings	ID:	1001		Concurrent Run Limit:	0	
UP History	AUT Pool:	Alpha Pool	~	Host Limit:	1000	
	Diagnostics Server:		~	VUDs Limit:	0	
	VuGen Working Mode:	User Defined	~	VUDs Consumed:	0	
	Build Verification Suite Auto	15		Functional Test Auto-Extend	5	
	Maximum Times to Automati	4		CDA Domain:		
	CDA Server:		~	Domain Name:	DEFAULT	
					OK Can	cel Help
To access	In Lab Management:					
-----------------------	--					
	1. On the sidebar, under Lab Settings, select Project Settings.					
	2. Right-click a project in the grid, and select <b>Project Settings Details</b> .					
	In ALM:					
	On the ALM masthead, click 🔅 and select <b>Performance Center Project</b> Settings.					
Important information	The Controller Options page is available only when logged in to a particular project. You cannot set Controller options in Lab Management.					
Relevant tasks	"How to Create a Project" on page 29					
See also	"Project Settings Overview" on page 28					

### Common Elements

Common user interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
0000	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of projects.
	Available from: Lab Management only
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Project	The name of the project.

### **Details Page**

This page displays the general details about the selected project. For details, see "Project Settings Module Fields" on page 35.

### PC Target IPs Page

This page enables you to define IP addresses to use as targets for performance testing.

ID 4 0 01 👋 I	B	AR 	
ID: 1002	Pn	oject: BankingApplica	ationDemo
Details     PC Target IPs		* 🗉 🗙 🖸	ł
<ul> <li>FC VUDs Transac</li> <li>FC VUDs Transac</li> <li>Timeslots Settings</li> <li>History</li> </ul>	<b>A</b> A	qı	Mask

Important Information	Target IP can be defined on Performance Center hosts only, and not on standalone load generators.
Relevant tasks	"How to Create a Project" on page 29
See also	"Using Target IP Addresses" on page 28

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
*	<b>New.</b> Opens the New Target IP dialog box, enabling you to define an IP to use as a target for performance testing.
<b>I</b>	Edit. Opens the Target IP Details dialog box, enabling you to view and edit details of the selected target IP.
×	Delete. Enables you to delete the selected target IPs.
Ø	<b>Refresh.</b> Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
IP	A target IP address.
Mask	A 32-bit subnet mask for each network.

### **PC VUDs Transactions Page**

This page enables you to follow the PC VUDs transactions in your projects.

	RB	AR 					
ID: 1002	] Pr	oject: BankingAppli	cationDemo				
Details PC Target IPs RC VII Ds Transac		Filter: Project Uniq	II   Q ue ID[e5b83c41-6570	-43c0-b675-dbbbfb2	2e1993]; Sort By: Pos	t Date[Descending]:V	UDs Transaction
<ul> <li>Timeslots Settings</li> <li>History</li> </ul>	<b>△</b>	Post Date	Responsible	Action	VUDs Number	Updated In	Updated
		4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Action	The VUDs action performed. For details about the possible actions, see "VUDs Actions" on the next page.
In Use by Run ID	The ID of the test run that is currently running the VUDs.
Owner Run ID	The ID of the test run that originally issued the VUDs.
Post Date	The date that the transaction occurred.
Responsible user name	The user, or automated system process responsible for the transaction.
Token	Identifies all actions that belong to the same transaction.
Unique	<b>Note:</b> In one regular run that uses VUDs, there are three actions: Issued, Pending, and Expired. Each of these actions has a different transaction ID, but the same Token ID.
Updated in use VUDs	The current number of VUDs that are running as a result of the transaction.
Updated Pending VUDs	The current number of VUDs that are in the Pending state as a result of the transaction.
Updated project limit	The project's VUDs limit as a result of the transaction.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
VUDs number	The amount of VUDs involved in the action.
VUDs Transaction ID	The action ID.

### **VUDs Actions**

The following table lists the possible VUDs actions.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Allocated	VUDs added to the project's VUDs limit by the administrator.
Deallocated	VUDs removed from the project's VUDs limit by the administrator.
Expired	VUD's removed from the license after their 24 hour active period has ended.
	<b>Note:</b> VUDs that are involved in a performance test that exceeds 24 hours continue to run until completion before expiring.
Issued	VUDs added to a performance test.
	<ul> <li>Note:</li> <li>All VUDs involved in a performance test are considered to be issued from the start of the test, irrespective of whether they have started running or not.</li> <li>The amount of issued VUDs decreases the project's VUDs limit accordingly.</li> <li>All unused VUDs are returned to the project's VUDs limit at the conclusion of the test.</li> </ul>
Pending	VUDs which have completed a test run but are still available for further use as their 24 hour active period has not yet ended.
Refunded	VUDs which were issued but not used in the test. These VUDs are returned to the project's VUDs limit and may be reissued at a later date.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Reused	Running VUDs that that are taken from VUDs in the Pending state. <b>Note:</b> ALM Performance Center first reuses VUDs in the Pending state before issuing new VUDs. For example, assume you define a performance test that includes <b>100</b> VUDs, where the current project limit is <b>200</b> , and where <b>25</b> VUDs are currently in the Pending state. ALM Performance Center first reuses the <b>25</b> Pending VUDs and only issues <b>75</b> from the license. The new limit will be <b>125</b> .

### Timeslot Settings Page

This page enables you to configure timeslot settings.

IX <> <> <> <> <> <> <> <> <> <> <> <> <>	R. 1
ID: 1002	Project: BankingApplicationDemo
Details PC Target IPs PC VUDs Transac Timeslots Settings History	Send Aletts To         Immeslot creator         Timeslot creator         Project administrator(s)         Rules for Aletts         Send aletts for failed timeslots scheduled to start in the next         Zim         hours (min 12)         Autostart Retries         Retry autostart until         Solid mutual state for failed timeslot has elapsed.         (Maximum value: 99 %, Minimum value: 1%)         Note: There will be no retries in the last 30 minutes of the timeslot.

UI Elements	Description
Send	The users who should receive a timeslot alert:
Alerts Io	• Timeslot creator. The user who reserved the timeslot.
	• Timeslot modifier. The user who last modified the timeslot.
	• <b>Project administrators.</b> Administrators of the project in which the timeslot was reserved.

UI Elements	Description
Rules for Alerts	<ul> <li>The conditions under which timeslot alerts are sent (both conditions must hold):</li> <li>Send alerts for timeslots scheduled to start in the next <xx> hours. Sends an alert when a timeslot is XX hours within its due time to start.</xx></li> <li>Default value: 72 hours</li> <li>Minimum value: 12 hours</li> <li>Send alert if timeslot is in failure state for at least <xx> minutes. Sends an alert when the timeslot has been invalid for XX minutes.</xx></li> <li>Default value: 30 minutes</li> </ul>
	Maximum value: 360 minutes (6 hours)
Autostart Retries	If a performance test linked to a timeslot is scheduled to autostart but does not start running, the system continues to try to autostart the test until it starts running successfully. The Autostart Retries option enables you to specify when the system should stop trying to autostart the test. In any event, retries are stopped if there are 30 minutes or less left of the timeslot. Default value: 50%, that is the system stops retries when half the timeslot has elapsed. Maximum value: 99%; Minimum value: 1% Note: The system tries to restart a performance test up to three times.

### **History Page**

This page lists changes made to the project. For more details, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide*.

# Performance Center Controller Options Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to configure global Controller options for your Performance Center project.

🖳 Performance Center Con	troller Options
- Run Options     - Monitors     - Run-Time Settings     - Timeout     - Debug Information     General     Run Results     Collate Settings	Montors Transaction Data Sample information at frequency (sec) Send information in mode Summary Raw Data Server Resource Monitors Data Sampling Rate (sec) Debug Display debug messages Debug level
	OK Cancel Use Defa

To access	On the ALM masthead, click 🔅 and select <b>Performance Center Controller Options.</b>
	<b>Note:</b> This page is accessible only from the ALM project itself, and not from Lab Management.
Important information	The Controller is the manager of a performance test. The Controller receives the scripts, their runtime settings, and a list of the load generators to use. The Controller issues instructions to the load generators including which scripts to run, how many Vusers to run per script, and the time at which to start running the Vusers.
	During the performance test, the Controller displays online monitoring information. At the conclusion of the test run, the Controller collates the data for analysis.
	Before you run a performance test, you can configure load generator and Vuser options for all your performance tests in the project. Although the default settings correspond to most environments, you can modify the settings to customize the test behavior.
	The settings apply to all future test runs in the project and generally only need to be set once. The settings apply globally to all the load generators in a performance test.

Relevant tasks	"How to Create a Project" on page 29
See also	"Project Settings Overview" on page 28

### **Run Options > Monitors**

Enables you to activate the Transaction monitor, configure the behavior of the transaction data, and set the data sampling rate, debugging, and frequency settings for the online monitors.

UI Elements	Description
Transaction Data	Configures the behavior of data for the Transaction, Data Point, and Web Resource online graphs.
	• Enable Transaction Monitor. Select this option to activate the online Vuser Transaction monitor to begin monitoring transactions at the start of a test run.
	<b>Sample information at frequency &lt;&gt;.</b> Select the frequency, in seconds, at which the online monitor samples the data to produce the Transaction, Data Point, and Web Resource online graphs.
	The higher the frequency, the less network traffic there is. The data is averaged for the frequency period defined, and only one value is sent to the Controller.
	Default value: 5 seconds.
	Examples:
	<ul> <li>For a small test, use a frequency of 1.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>For a large test, use a frequency of 3 - 5.</li> </ul>
	<b>Note:</b> You cannot modify these settings during a test run; you must stop the test run before deactivating the monitor or changing its frequency.

UI Elements	Description
Send information in mode	<ul> <li>Specifies how to send data back to the Controller.</li> <li>Summary. Sends a summary of the transaction data back to the Controller.</li> <li>Raw Data. Sends all the transaction data back to the Controller in raw form. Sending raw data saves time because the data does not need to be processed.</li> <li>Note: When Raw Data is selected, the volume of data being transferred to the Controller may cause more network traffic. If the transfer speed is significant to you, select Summary.</li> </ul>
Server Resource Monitors	<ul> <li>Configures the behavior of the Server Resource monitors.</li> <li>Data Sampling Rate. The period of time (in seconds) between consecutive data sampling. By default, the online monitor samples the data at intervals of three seconds. If you increase the sampling rate, the data is monitored less frequently. This setting applies to all graphs.</li> <li>Note: <ul> <li>The sampling rate configured here is applied to all server monitors that you subsequently activate. It is not applied to server monitors that have already been activated. To apply the new sampling rate to activated server monitors, save your performance test and reopen it.</li> <li>Each type of monitor has a different minimum sampling rate. If the default sampling rate, or the rate set here is less than a monitor's minimum sampling rate. For example, the minimum sampling rate for the Oracle Monitor is 10 seconds. If the data sampling rate is set here at less than 10 seconds, the Oracle Monitor continues to monitor data at 10 second intervals.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Debug	<ul> <li>Display Debug Messages. The online monitor provides debugging capabilities. Select this option to display the debug messages in the Output window.</li> <li>Debug level. For the Network monitor, you can indicate the debug (detail) level of messages sent to the log, ranging from 1-9.</li> </ul>

### Run Options > Run-Time Settings

Enables you to specify runtime settings for your test relating to Vuser quotas, stopping Vusers, and random sequence seed, to prevent system overload, and to control the way in which Vusers stop running.

#### User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Vusers Quota	Vuser quotas prevent your system from overloading. The Vuser quotas apply to Vusers on all load generators.
	Number of Vusers that may be initialized simultaneously on all load generators. Limits the number of Vusers initialized at one time (when you send an Initialize command).
	Default value: 999
When	Controls the way Vusers stop running when you manually stop a test run:
Stopping Vusers	• Wait for the current iteration to end before stopping. (Default option) The Vuser completes the iteration it is running before stopping. The Vusers move to the Gradual Exiting status and exit the test run gradually.
	• Wait for the current action to end before stopping. The Vuser completes the action it is running before stopping. The Vusers move to the Gradual Exiting status and exit the test run gradually.
	• <b>Stop immediately.</b> The Vusers stop running immediately, moving to the <b>Exiting</b> status and exit the test run immediately.
Random advance mode of file type parameter	• Use random sequence with seed. Enables you to set a seed number for random sequencing. Select this option if you discover a problem during the test run and want to repeat the test using the same sequence of random values.
	• Use seed <#>. Each seed value represents one sequence of random values used for test execution. Whenever you use this seed value, the same sequence of values is assigned to the Vusers in the test.
	This setting applies to parameterized Vuser scripts using the Random method for assigning values from a data file. It also affects the random percentage of recorded think time (see information about the Run-Time Settings dialog box in the <i>HP Virtual User Generator User Guide</i> ).

#### **Run Options >Timeout**

Enables you to set timeouts for various Performance Center commands. When a command is issued by the Controller, you can set a maximum time for the load generator or Vuser to execute the command. If the command is not completed within the time limit, the Controller issues an error message.

UI Elements	Description
Command Timeout (seconds)	<b>Enable timeout checks.</b> Enables load generator and Vuser timeout checks described below.
	<b>Note:</b> If this option is not selected, ALM waits an unlimited time for the load generators to connect and disconnect, and for the Initialize, Start Vusers, Duration, and Stop Vusers actions to be executed.
Load Generator	<ul> <li>Load generator timeout limits:</li> <li>Connect operation (sec). The amount of time (in seconds) that elapses before connecting to any load generator. If a connection is not successful within this time, the status of the load generator changes to Failed.</li> <li>Default connection timeout: 30 seconds</li> <li>Disconnect operation (sec). The amount of time that elapses before disconnecting from any load generator. If the load generator does not disconnect within this time, the status of the load generator changes to Failed.</li> </ul>
	Default disconnection timeout: 120 seconds
Vusers	Vuser timeout limits:
	• Init stage (sec). The timeout value for the Initialize action.
	Default time limit: 180 seconds
	• Run stage (sec). The timeout value for the Start Vusers action.
	Default time limit: 120 seconds
	• Pause stage (sec). The timeout value for the Duration action.
	Default time limit: 120 seconds
	• Stop stage (sec). The timeout value for the Stop Vusers action.
	Default time limit: 120 seconds
	<b>Note:</b> Calculations consider the number of active Vusers and their influence on the timeout values. For example, 1000 Vusers trying to initialize take much longer than 10 Vusers. An internal value is added to the specified timeout value based on the number of active Vusers.

### Run Options > Debug Information

Enables you to select the type of information to trace during a test run. According to the selection here, trace files are created and are used to gather information for debugging purposes.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Enable the following traces	<ul> <li>The trace flags related to performance testing problems that you are encountering:</li> <li>General. Performs a general trace during the test run.</li> <li>File Transfer. Traces problems with the transfer of files during the test run.</li> <li>Incoming communication. Traces incoming communication during the test run.</li> <li>Outgoing communication. Traces outgoing communication during the test run.</li> </ul>
	<b>Note:</b> The Performance Center agent and the Controller create some temporary files that collect information such as the parameter file sent to the Vuser, the output compilation file, and the configuration file. The Performance Center agent files are saved in <b>brr</b> folders in the <b>TMP</b> or <b>TEMP</b> directory of the agent machine. The Controller files are saved in <b>Irr</b> folders in the <b>TMP</b> or <b>TEMP</b> directory of the Controller machine. At the end of the test run, all of these files are automatically deleted.

#### Run Options > General

Enables you to select a mode for allocating multiple IP addresses when IP spoofing is enabled.

For details about the **Test Options Dialog Box**, see the *HP ALM Performance Center Guide*.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Multiple IP Address Mode	<ul> <li>The Controller can allocate an IP address one of the following ways:</li> <li>IP address allocation per process. Allocates IP addresses per process.</li> <li>IP address allocation per thread. Allocates IP addresses per thread, resulting in a more varied range of IP addresses in a test run.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Examples:</li> <li>Web Vusers require IP address allocation per process.</li> <li>WinSock Vuser IP addresses can be allocated per thread or per process.</li> </ul>

### Run Results > Collate Settings

Enables you to specify behavior related to collation of the run results.

UI Elements	Description
Output Message Database	<ul> <li>Add output.mdb to RawResults.zip if it is smaller than RawResults.zip size (MB). Collator process adds output.mdb to RawResults.zip only if it is smaller in size than the RawResults.zip file size specified.</li> <li>Always exclude output.mdb from RawResults.zip. Collator process always excludes output.mdb from RawResults.zip.</li> </ul>
Timeout	<ul> <li>Collate timeout in minutes. The maximum amount of time the collate process should continue running without progress.</li> <li>Diagnostics collate timeout in minutes. The maximum amount of time the collate process should continue running without progress when collating results with Diagnostics data.</li> </ul>

# **Chapter 4: Maintenance Tasks**

This chapter includes:

Maintenance Tasks Overview	.50
Maintenance Tasks User Interface	.51

# **Maintenance Tasks Overview**

To run server-side tests in ALM, the lab system must be up and functioning correctly. Scheduled automated maintenance tasks provide constant monitoring of the system's key components in order to detect system failures. You use the Maintenance Tasks module to check the status of the system.

The following table describes the maintenance tasks:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Check Host Task	Verifies the host installation, and updates the host status to either <b>Operational</b> or <b>Non-Operational</b> .
	Default frequency: Every 24 hours
Data Processor Task	Sets and updates a data processing queue for any of the following actions: Analyzing a test run, recalculating the SLA, or adding test runs to a trend report. <b>Default frequency:</b> Every minute
Handle Non Polling Functional Hosts	Checks the Last Poll Time field of all registered Functional testing hosts. If a testing host has not been active for a long time, this task changes the status of the testing host to <b>Idle</b> or <b>Non-Operational</b> .
OFW Status Update Task	Updates the real status ( <b>Operational</b> or <b>Non-Operational</b> ) of a host that is located over a firewall. <b>Default frequency:</b> Every 15 minutes
Orphan Run Task	Identifies orphan test runs during and outside of the active timeslot. <b>Default frequency:</b> Every 15 minutes

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Resource Recovery Task	Performs predefined validation tests on Controllers and load generators that are in the <b>Non-Operational</b> state. If the host passes the test, its status changes to <b>Operational</b> .
	• <b>Controller validation tests.</b> Tests the OTA connection, ability to run, and available disk space.
	• Load Generator validation tests. Tests the connection to the agent.
	The task parameters should be within the following guidelines:
	MIN_APPLICATION_DIR_DISK_SPACE: Between 10 and 1000
	CHECK_LG_TIMEOUT: Between 1 and 15
	• MAX_RETRIES: Between 1 and 1000
	Default frequency: Every 15 minutes
	<b>Note:</b> For load generators over a firewall, this is performed by the OFW Status Update task (see above).
Result Cleaning Task	Cleans test run results from Controllers or load generators in the following instances:
	If the results have already been collated.
	There are old performance tests whose results were not collated.
	If the performance test was deleted.
	The <b>RESULT_EXPIRY_DAYS</b> task parameter should be between 1 and 1000.
	Default frequency: Every 6 hours
Synchronize Lab and SA times	Finds the time difference between Lab Management and Site Administrator and enters it into the parameter <b>SA_LAB_TIME_DIFF_MILLIS</b> in the <b>DATACONST</b> table.

# Maintenance Tasks User Interface

This section includes:

Maintenance Tasks Module Window	52
Maintenance Task Fields	. 53
Maintenance Task Menus and Buttons	. 53

Maintenance Task Details Dialog Box	54
maintenance rask Details Dialog Dox	······································

# Maintenance Tasks Module Window

This module displays information about maintenance tasks performed by the system.

	1		1
Name	Recurrence (minutes)	Description	Last Execution Time
Th	16	Because and the back	20/10/2012 12:25:20
ult Classics Tests	200	Resource recovery task	23/10/2012 13:23:36
Ult Cleaning Task	360	Result Cleaning Task	29/10/2012 11:55:32
V Status Opdate Task	10	Test suga health sheets	23/10/2012 13:25:36
Processor Task	1	Handle nending data processor tasks	29/10/2012 13:20:36
ok Host Task	15	Test bests validity aback	20/10/2012 13:30:30
die Non Polling Eurotional Hoete	5	Turn non polling functional bosts to Non Operational	29/10/2012 13:29:36
chronize Lab and SA times	5	This job writes the time difference between the Lab a	29/10/2012 13:30:36
dle Stale Execution	5	Handle Stale Execution Items that have not been up	20/10/2012 10:00:00
han PAL Reports Task	60	Delete report items that are not a part of any report	29/10/2012 12:57:35
	00	belete report tients that are not a part of any report.	LOTIOILOIL IL.OT.GO
ameters Description			

To access	On the sidebar, under Lab Settings, select Maintenance Tasks.
See also	"Maintenance Tasks Overview" on page 50

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description	
<maintenance Task tab UI elements&gt;</maintenance 	<ul> <li>Maintenance Task fields. For field definitions, see "Maintenance Task Fields" on the next page.</li> <li>Maintenance Task menus and buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "Maintenance Task Menus and Buttons" on the next page.</li> <li>ALM main menu and sidebar. For details on the Tools menu, Help menu, and sidebar, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</li> </ul>	
< Maintonanco	Displays a list of maintonance tasks. For details, see "Maintonance Tasks	
tasks grid>	Overview" on page 50.	
Parameters tab	Displays a description of the selected maintenance task.	
Description tab	Displays parameter information for the selected maintenance task.	
	Right-click the text box to display a toolbar for formatting and spell- checking the text.	

# **Maintenance Task Fields**

The following fields are available in the Maintenance Tasks tab:

Field (A - Z)	Description
Description	A description of the maintenance task.
ID	The maintenance task ID.
Last Execution Time	The last time the maintenance task was executed.
Name	The maintenance task name. For a list of the maintenance task types, see "Maintenance Tasks Overview" on page 50.
Recurrence (minutes)	The frequency of the maintenance task.

## Maintenance Task Menus and Buttons

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Copy URL	Maintenance Tasks and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Copies a selected maintenance task and pastes its URL as a link. The task itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking the link opens up ALM and takes you to the task file or folder. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
Export	Maintenance Tasks and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the tasks in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML file.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options:</li> <li>All. Exports all tasks in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports the selected tasks in the grid.</li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for tasks in the module. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Go to Maintenance Task	Maintenance Tasks	Opens the Go To Maintenance Task dialog box, enabling you to find a specific task by its ID number. You can only go to tasks that are available in the current filter.
Grid Filters	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Enables you filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application</i> <i>Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Information Panel	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Shows/hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.
Maintenance Tasks Details	Maintenance Tasks and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Opens the Maintenance Task Details dialog box, enabling you to view and edit details of the task.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	In the grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application</i> <i>Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> . For details about the System Health fields, see "Maintenance Task Fields" on the previous page.
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the tasks in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Update Selected	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# Maintenance Task Details Dialog Box

This dialog box displays details about a selected maintenance task.

Maintenance Task Details	The Ball day a second reference and	
	8 🗄	
Details	Details Description Parameters	
👸 Parameters	*Name: Resource Recovery Task ID: 1000	
	Last Executio 07/01/2013 11:13:04 Recurrence ( 15	_
	OK Cancel Help	

To access	1. On the sidebar, under Lab Settings, select Maintenance Tasks.
	2. Select a maintenance task from the grid and click <b>Maintenance Task Details</b>
See also	"Maintenance Tasks Module Window" on page 52
	"Maintenance Task Fields" on page 53
	"Maintenance Tasks Overview" on page 50

UI Elements	Description
K 4 4 4	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of hosts.
≜ <b>B</b>	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AB:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Details tab	Lists the details of the currently selected maintenance task. For more information, see "Maintenance Task Fields" on page 53.
Description tab	Displays the description of the selected maintenance task.
Parameters tab	Displays parameters in a grid along with their values and descriptions. For more information, see "Maintenance Tasks Overview" on page 50.

# **Chapter 5: Cloud Settings**

This chapter includes:

Cloud Hosts Overview	56
How to Set Up Cloud Hosts	58
Initial Cloud Settings	58
Cloud Accounts	68
Host Templates	81
Provisioning Hosts	92
Cloud Resources Monitoring	100

# **Cloud Hosts Overview**

Testing your software application can be a very resource intensive process. Performance testing in particular can require an extensive lab environment, using multiple load generating hosts and a controller, and requiring collating capabilities for processing test results. There may be times where you need more hosts than are available in your testing lab, or you may have decided that you do not want to maintain your own lab environment at all. In either of these cases, you may have turned to a cloud provider such as Amazon EC2 who can provide you with on-demand testing hosts to meet your testing needs. ALM integrates with your cloud accounts in order to help you get the most out of your cloud resources.

#### Note:

- HP ALM supports provisioning of Performance Center load generators only.
- HP ALM integrates with Amazon EC2 cloud accounts only.
- Cloud-based load generators are best suited for testing externally available AUT.

# **Benefits of Using Cloud Hosts**

By using cloud hosts in ALM, you can:

- Provision testing hosts only when you need them.
- Manage cloud provisioning on a per-project basis, with each project having access only to the cloud resources it needs.
- Allow QA testers to provision pre-approved testing hosts without the need for direct access to your cloud accounts.

- Regulate cloud host usage by assigning credits to projects.
- View cloud host usage reports to manage cloud resource consumption.

# Using Cloud Hosts in ALM

Using cloud hosts in ALM involves:

Defining Initial Cloud Settings	Adding Cloud Accounts	Defining Host Templates	Provisioning Cloud Hosts	•	Monitoring Resource Consumption

Phase	Description	For more information:
Defining Initial Cloud Settings	Set up an account with a cloud provider and obtain the cloud provider credentials. Afterwards, you set up communication from ALM to your cloud provider, and define network settings for communicating with your cloud-based load generators.	"Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59
Adding Cloud Accounts	After establishing an account with a cloud provider, you must also establish a cloud account in ALM. When defining a cloud account in ALM, you enter your cloud provider credentials, associate projects to the account, and define the total number of cloud credits allowed for consumption by your provisioned hosts.	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69
Defining Host Templates	Host templates are used for defining provisioning related details, such as instance types, regions, hardware specifications, and software images. You can use default host templates or create your own templates. ALM uses the details of the selected template to provision your host.	"Host Templates Overview" on page 82
Provisioning Cloud Hosts	Provisioning is the process of requesting the cloud provider to create a machine on the cloud. It uses the selected cloud account and host template to define the machine. You can choose the number of machines and their locations. You can also check credits balance for the selected account.	"Provisioning Hosts Overview" on page 93
Monitoring Resource Consumption	After provisioning your cloud hosts, you can analyze and monitor your cloud resource consumption by generating usage reports, and by sending alerts and notifications.	"Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview" on page 101

For details about how to set cloud hosts in ALM, see "How to Set Up Cloud Hosts" on the next page.

# How to Set Up Cloud Hosts

This task describes how to set up cloud hosts in ALM.

- 1. Perform initial steps for communicating with the cloud. For task details, see "How to Initially Set Up Communication with the Cloud" on page 63.
- 2. Add cloud accounts to ALM. For task details, see "How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69.
- 3. Use default or create additional host templates. For task details, see "How to Manage Host Templates" on page 82.
- Provision cloud hosts. For task details, see "How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" on page 93.
- Monitor cloud resources consumption by setting up cloud alerts and by generating usage reports. For task details, see "How to Configure Cloud Alerts" on page 101 and "How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172

# **Initial Cloud Settings**

This section includes:

Initial Cloud Settings Overview	.59
How to Initially Set Up Communication with the Cloud	.63
How to Set Up Cloud Network Settings	. 63
How to Create Digital Certificates	64
Initial Cloud Settings User Interface	. 66

# **Initial Cloud Settings Overview**

To initially set up communication with a cloud provider, you must establish an account with the cloud provider and obtain the cloud provider credentials. You must then set up communication from ALM to your cloud provider, and define network settings for communicating with your cloud-based load generators.

Creation of Cloud Provider Account

You must first create a cloud provider account for using the cloud provider services. You need to provide credentials such as Access Key, Secret Key, Account Number for storing and accessing resources on the cloud.

Note: HP ALM integrates with Amazon EC2 cloud accounts only.

For more information about creating cloud provider accounts, see the documentation provided by your cloud provider.

Communication to Cloud Provider

When communicating with your cloud provider, you can choose to communicate directly or via a proxy.

The following diagram illustrates direct communication to a cloud provider:



The communication is initiated from the ALM server over the organization's firewall to the cloud provider. The ports are opened for outgoing requests only.





The communication is initiated from the ALM server to the defined proxy server using HTTP tunneling. The proxy server then runs over the organization's firewall and transfers outgoing requests to the cloud provider.

Communication to Cloud-based Load Generator

When communicating with your cloud-based hosts, you can choose to communicate directly or via a proxy.

Note:

- When the communication is through a proxy, SSL (Secure Socket Layer) is required
- HP ALM supports provisioning of Performance Center load generators only.



The following diagram illustrates direct communication to a cloud-based load generator:

The communication is initiated from the Performance Center server and the Controller over a firewall to the cloud-based load generator. Data is transmitted through TCP (Transmission Control Protocol) using ports. The ports are opened for outgoing requests. The ports can be reconfigured.

The following diagram illustrates communication to a cloud-based load generator through a proxy server:



The communication is initiated from the Performance Center server and the Controller to the defined proxy server. An HTTP Tunnel is used as a means for communicating from the Performance Center server and the Controller to the proxy server. The proxy server then runs over the firewall and transfers the data to the cloud-based load generator, going through the TCP ports.

Note: SSL is supported between the controller and the cloud-based load generator.

### **Configuration of Security Settings**

Additional security features related to your cloud provider.

Feature	Description
Security Groups	While access to hosts on your local network is typically controlled by a firewall, access to your cloud hosts is controlled using security groups. A security group specifies which protocols are allowed and which ports are open for incoming and outgoing traffic to a cloud host. For incoming traffic, you can restrict access to one or more IP addresses.
	<b>Example:</b> You need to connect to your cloud hosts via Remote Desktop. Therefore, you configure your security group to allow incoming traffic over TCP port 3389 (RDP). However, you only allow access for your company's IP addresses to prevent unauthorized access from the outside.
	Security groups are configured on the website of your cloud provider, and must be created separately for each region. You can create as many security groups as you need, up to the limit imposed by your cloud provider. You select a security group at the time you provision cloud hosts, and that security group applies until the hosts are terminated.

Feature	Description
Key Pairs	Key pairs are necessary if you intend to connect remotely to a cloud host created from a public image.
	A key pair consists of a public key and a private key. The public key is saved to the cloud host and the private key is saved locally on your computer or network.
	<b>Caution:</b> When creating a new key pair, you are prompted to save the private key. Make sure to save it in a secure location. Without the private key, you cannot log into your hosts!
	The private key is used differently for Windows and Linux hosts:
	<b>Window hosts.</b> When connecting remotely to a Windows host, you need the administrator password. The administrator password is generated on the website of your cloud provider by uploading the private key.
	Linux hosts. The private key itself is used when connecting to a Linux host.
	Key pairs are created on the website of your cloud provider, and must be created separately for each region. You can create as many key pairs as you need for your different testing teams, up to the limit imposed by your cloud provider. You select a key pair at the time you provision cloud hosts, and that key pair applies until the hosts are terminated.
	<b>Note:</b> If you provision hosts from a custom image, the administrator password (Windows machines) or public key (Linux machines) is taken from the computer where the image was created. If you need the administrator password or private key, contact the person who manages your custom images.
Elastic IP Addresses	This cloud provider feature enables you to define static IP addresses for your provisioned hosts. You can use elastic IP addresses for opening firewall settings to provision host machines without having the need to use different IP addresses each time. To do so, you can build and use a static pool of IP addresses for granting firewall access that are reserved only for your account. This pool of IP addresses remains associated with your cloud account until you choose to explicitly release it.

For more information on security groups, key pairs, and elastic IP addresses, see the documentation provided by your cloud provider.

For task details on how to initially set up communication, see "How to Initially Set Up Communication with the Cloud" on the next page.

# How to Initially Set Up Communication with the Cloud

This task describes the initial steps required for setting up communication with the cloud.

For an overview, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Set Up Cloud Hosts" on page 58.

- 1. Create an account with a cloud provider
  - a. Sign up and create an account for using cloud provider services .
  - b. Obtain the following cloud credentials: Access Key, Secret Key, Account Number.

**Note:** HP ALM integrates with Amazon EC2 cloud accounts only.

2. Define cloud communication from the ALM server to your cloud provider

If your organization uses a proxy server for communicating with an outside network, define the proxy settings in the Cloud Network Settings dialog box. For task details, see "How to Set Up Cloud Network Settings" below.

3. Define communication for a cloud-based load generator

For task details, see "How to Set Up Cloud Network Settings" below.

- 4. Define security settings on the cloud provider side
  - a. From your cloud provider console, create a security group. The ports defined for communicating with the cloud-based load generator must be opened. For more information on the security group rules, see the *HP ALM Lab Management Troubleshooting Guide*.
  - b. Create a key pair.
  - c. If you plan on working with elastic IP addresses, allocate elastic IP addresses and make sure they are opened on your organization's firewall for outgoing communication.

### How to Set Up Cloud Network Settings

This section describes how to set cloud network settings for communicating from ALM to you cloud provider and for communicating with your cloud-based load generators.

For an overview, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Initially Set Up Communication with the Cloud" above.

1. Prerequisites for using SSL (Secure Socket Layer)

To enable SSL for your cloud-based load generator, you must create a Certification Authority (CA) and a Digital Certificate and store the files on ALM, the Performance Center server, and the Controller. For more details on creating the certificates, see "How to Create Digital Certificates" below.

2. Open the Cloud Network Settings dialog box

In Lab Management, on the masthead, click was and select **Cloud Network Settings**. For user interface details, see "Cloud Network Settings Dialog Box" on page 66.

**Note:** The Cloud Network Settings option is not available if a Performance Center server has not been created. For more details on creating Performance Center servers, see "How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270.

- 3. Enable communication from ALM to your cloud provider
  - a. Under Proxy Settings, enter the Proxy Server URL (format: http[s]://server [:8080]).
  - b. Enter the User Name and Password of a user with connection rights to the proxy server.
- 4. To enable communication for a cloud-based load generator
  - a. Under Performance Center Communication Settings, define the communication mode. By default, Use Proxy Server for Load Generator Communication and Use SSL for Load Generator Communication are selected. Note that if the communication is through a proxy, SSL is required.
  - b. Enter the **Performance Center Agent Service Port** number. This port is used for running Vusers on the load generator. Make sure this port is opened for outgoing requests.
  - c. Enter the **Remote Management Agent Service Port** number. This port is used for Lab Management operations. Make sure this port is opened for outgoing requests.

# How to Create Digital Certificates

This task describes how to create a Certification Authority and a Digital Certificate for working with SSL (Secure Socket Layer) to secure communication to your cloud-based load generators.

For an overview, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Set Up Cloud Network Settings" on the previous page.

#### 1. Create a Certification Authority (CA)

**Note:** This step describes how to create a CA using the **gen\_ca\_cert.exe** utility. If you are working on a Linux platform, use the **gen\_ca\_cert** utility instead.

To create the CA, perform the following steps:

- a. Run the **gen\_ca\_cert** utility from the **<LoadRunner root folder>\bin** folder.
- b. Run the gen\_ca\_cert command with at least one of the following options:
  - -country\_name
  - -organization name
  - -common\_name

This process creates two files in the folder from which the utility was run: the CA Certificate (cacert.cer), and the CA Private Key (capvk.cer).

**Note:** By default, the CA is valid for three years from when it is generated. To change the validation dates, use the **-nb\_time** (beginning of validity) and/or **-na\_time** (end of validity) options.

The following example creates two files: **ca\_igloo\_cert.cer** and **ca\_igloo\_pk.cer** in the current folder:

```
gen_ca_cert - country_name "North Pole" -organization_name "Igloo Makers"
-common_name "ICL" -CA_cert_file_name "ca_igloo_cert.cer" - CA_pk_file_
name "ca_igloo_pk.cer" -nb_time 10/10/2013 -na_time 11/11/2013
```

- c. Install the CA using one of the following options:
  - -install <name of certificate file>. Replaces any previous CA list and creates a new one that includes this CA only.
  - -install\_add <name of certificate file>. Adds the new CA to the existing CA list.

**Note:** The -install and -install\_add options install the certificate file only. Keep the private key file in a safe place and use it only for issuing certificates.

#### 2. Create a Digital Certificate

**Note:** This step describes how to create a digital certificate using the **gen\_cert.exe** utility. If you are working on a Linux platform, use the **gen\_cert** utility instead.

To create a digital certificate, perform the following steps:

- a. Run the gen\_cert utility from the <LoadRunner root folder>\bin folder.
- b. Run the gen\_cert command with at least one of the following options:
  - -country\_name
  - -organization\_name
  - -organization\_unit\_name
  - -eMail
  - -common\_name

It is important to note the following:

- The CA Certificate and the CA Private Key files are necessary for the creation of the certificate. By default, it is assumed that they are in the current folder, and are named cacert.cer and capvk.cer respectively. In any other case, use the -CA\_cert\_file\_name and -CA\_pk\_file\_name options to give the correct locations.
- The certificate file is created in the folder from which the utility was run. By default, the file name is **cert.cer**.

#### 3. Copy the certificates to ALM, Performance Center, and the Controller

- a. ALM: Copy cert.cer and cacert.cer to <ALM deployment directory>\repository\sa\DomsInfo\Certificate.
- b. Performance Center server: Copy cert.cer to <Performance Center Server directory>\dat\cert, and cacert.cer to <Performance Center Server directory>\dat\cert\Verify.
- c. **Controller:** Copy **cert.cer** to <Performance Center Host directory>\dat\cert, and **cacert.cer** to <Performance Center Host directory>\dat\cert\Verify.

### **Initial Cloud Settings User Interface**

This section includes:

### **Cloud Network Settings Dialog Box**

This dialog box enables you to define settings for enabling communication with ALM and your cloud-based load generators in order to run performance tests.

To Access	Lab Management only:			
	In Lab Management, on the masthead, click 🔅 and select <b>Cloud Network Settings</b> .			
Relevant tasks	• "How to Initially Set Up Communication with the Cloud" on page 63			
	"How to Set Up Cloud Network Settings" on page 63			
	"How to Create Digital Certificates" on page 64			
	"How to Set Up Cloud Hosts" on page 58			
See also	"Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59			
	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69			

### **Proxy Settings**

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Proxy Server	The URL of your proxy server (format: http[s]://server[:8080]).
User Name	The user name of a user with connection rights to the proxy server (format: <b>Domain\username</b> ).
Password	The password of the user with connection rights to the proxy server.

Performance Center Communication Settings

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
User Proxy Server for Load Generator Communication	Enables you to communicate with your load generator using the proxy details defined in the Proxy Settings section above.
	<b>Note:</b> Enabling this option also enables the <b>Use SSL for Load</b> <b>Generator Communication</b> option.

UI Elements	Description
Use SSL for Load Generator Communication	Enables you to communicate with your load generator using SSL.
	Note:
	This is the default selection.
	• To use SSL, you must create digital certificates. The certificates must be stored on ALM, the Performance Center server, and the Controller. For more details on creating digital certificates, see "How to Create Digital Certificates" on page 64.
Performance Center Agent Service Port	The Performance Center Agent Service port number. This port is used for running Vusers on the load generator.
	Note: Port must be opened for outgoing requests.
	Default value: 54345
Remote Management Agent Service Port	The Remote Management Agent port number. This port is used for Lab Management operations.
	Note: Port must be opened for outgoing requests.
	Default value: 54245

# **Cloud Accounts**

This section includes:

Cloud Accounts Overview	69
How to Manage Cloud Accounts	69
Cloud Accounts User Interface	72

# **Cloud Accounts Overview**

After establishing a cloud provider account, you must also establish a cloud account in ALM. When defining a cloud account in ALM, you enter your cloud provider credentials, associate projects to the account, and define the total number of cloud credits allowed for consumption by your provisioned hosts.

Cloud accounts can be added from Lab Management or from ALM projects. Accounts added from Lab Management are public and can be accessed by any project they are linked to. Accounts added from ALM projects are private and can be accessed only from the projects where they were created.

Note: You must have an existing Amazon EC2 account in order to add an account in ALM.

### **Cloud Credits**

When setting up cloud accounts in ALM, to ensure efficiency and reduce cost, you can regulate cloud provisioning usage by assigning virtual cloud credits to your projects. For each project, you can define the total number of cloud credits allowed for consumption by your provisioned hosts. Note that credits used and consumed are not representative of the actual cost to your cloud provider.

You can set up to receive email alerts notifying you when your credits drop below a defined amount. For more details, see "How to Configure Cloud Alerts" on page 101. You can also monitor your cloud credits consumption by generating usage reports, For more details, see "How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172.

#### Note:

- After a host is provisioned, it consumes credits from the project that provisioned it.
- Credits are consumed for each host on an hourly basis, and the number of credits consumed per hour is specified in the host template.
- Hosts can only be provisioned if sufficient credits are available. When the total amount of credits drops to zero, you will not be able to provision new hosts. Already provisioned host will continue to consume credits.

For details on creating and managing cloud accounts in ALM, see "How to Manage Cloud Accounts" below.

### How to Manage Cloud Accounts

This section describes how to manage your cloud accounts in ALM.

For an overview, see "Cloud Accounts Overview" above.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Set Up Cloud Hosts" on page 58.

### Adding a Cloud Account

This task describes how to add a cloud account to ALM and how to link projects to that account.

1. Prerequisites

To add a cloud account to ALM, you must have an existing cloud account with a supported cloud provider.

After you have your cloud account ready, you need to record the following information from your cloud provider's website:

- Account Access Key
- Account Secret Key
- Account Number
- 2. Add a cloud account to ALM

To add a cloud account to ALM:

- a. In ALM or Lab Management, go to Cloud Settings > Cloud Accounts.
- b. Click the New Cloud Account button . This opens the "New Cloud Account Dialog Box" on page 77.
- c. Enter your cloud account information. Click **OK** to add the cloud account to ALM.

Note: The account creation process may take several minutes to complete.

**Note:** Cloud accounts added from user projects are private and can be used only by the projects that created them. However, if a project shares a pool with other projects, the provisioned machines will be seen from all projects that are sharing the same pool.

You can now create templates and provision hosts from this cloud account.

3. Link projects to your cloud account

Every project that needs to provision hosts from a cloud account created in Lab Management must be linked to that account.

To link projects to a cloud account created in Lab Management:

- a. In Lab Management, go to Cloud Settings > Cloud Accounts.
- b. In the Accounts grid, select the cloud account you would like to link.
- c. In the Linked Projects tab, click Assign Projects to Cloud Account 🖾. This opens the "Assign Projects to Cloud Account Dialog Box" on page 79.
- d. Select projects from the grid and click **Assign**. This links the selected projects to the cloud account.

All linked projects may now provision cloud hosts from the selected cloud account.

**Note:** Only accounts added in Lab Management can be linked to projects. An account added from a user projects is automatically linked to the project that added it, and it may not be linked to any other project.

4. Define the total number of credits for your cloud account

When defining credits in Lab Management, you allocate credits for each project listed in your cloud account. In ALM, you define credits for a single project.

- Lab Management: In the Linked Projects tab, under Credit Balance, define the number of credits for each project listed in the account.
- ALM: Go to Cloud Settings > Cloud Accounts. In the Accounts grid, select the cloud account. In the Credits tab, define the number of credits for the account.

#### Note:

- After a host is provisioned, it consumes credits from the project and the account that provisioned it.
- Credits are consumed for each host on an hourly basis, and the number of credits consumed per hour is specified in the host template.
- Hosts can only be provisioned if sufficient credits are available. When the total amount
  of credits drops to zero, you will not be able to provision new hosts. Already provisioned
  host will continue to consume credits.
- You can set up to receive email alerts notifying you when your credits drop below a defined amount. For more details, see "How to Configure Cloud Alerts" on page 101. You can also monitor your cloud credit consumption by generating usage reports, For more details, see "How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172.

### Modifying Cloud Account Details

To modify details for a cloud account:

- 1. Log into the project that created the cloud account.
- In Cloud Settings > Cloud Accounts, select a cloud account in the grid and click the Cloud Account Details button
   This opens the "Cloud Account Details Dialog Box" on page 78.
- 3. Make any necessary changes and click **OK**.

### **Deleting a Cloud Account**

To delete a cloud account:

- 1. Terminate all cloud hosts provisioned from the cloud account you wish to delete. See "How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" on page 93 for more information.
- 2. Log into the project that created the cloud account you wish to delete.
- 3. In Cloud Settings > Cloud Accounts, select a cloud account in the grid and click the Delete

button . The cloud account and all host templates using the cloud account are deleted.

**Caution:** When deleting a cloud account, all host templates using that cloud account are deleted as well.

**Note:** You cannot delete a cloud account if there are cloud hosts that are currently provisioned by that account.

### **Cloud Accounts User Interface**

This section includes:

Cloud Accounts Module Window	72
Cloud Accounts Module Menus and Buttons	73
Cloud Accounts Module Fields	. 76
New Cloud Account Dialog Box	77
Cloud Account Details Dialog Box	. 78
Assign Projects to Cloud Account Dialog Box	. 79
Cloud Account Linked Projects Page	. 80

### **Cloud Accounts Module Window**

The Cloud Accounts module allows you to add your external cloud accounts to ALM.
To Access	Lab Management and ALM: On the sidebar, under Cloud Settings, click Cloud Accounts.			
Important informationLab Management: Accounts created within user projects are read-only these accounts, access the owner project.				
	ALM: Only accounts created within the current project are visible.			
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69			
See also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69, "Cloud Hosts Overview" on page 56			

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description				
<cloud Accounts module common UI elements&gt;</cloud 	<b>Cloud Accounts module fields:</b> For field definitions, see "Cloud Accounts Module Fields" on page 76.				
	<b>Cloud Accounts menus and buttons:</b> For command and button descriptions, see "Cloud Accounts Module Menus and Buttons" below.				
<accounts grid&gt;</accounts 	Displays a list of cloud accounts you've added to ALM.				
Description tab	Allows you to enter a description for the selected cloud account.				
Linked Projects tab	Displays a list of projects linked to the selected cloud account and allows you to link or unlink additional projects. In order for a user project to provision hosts from a cloud account created in Lab Management, you must link the account to the project. In addition, this tab displays total credits available for the selected account.For more information, see "Cloud Account Linked Projects Page" on page 80. <b>Available from:</b> Lab Management				
Credits	Displays total credits available for the selected account.				
	Available from: ALM				
Event Log	The Event Log displays the events that occur in a creating the cloud account, reporting the source and severity of each event. For more information, see "Event Log" on page 140.				
History tab	Lists changes made to the selected cloud account. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .				

#### **Cloud Accounts Module Menus and Buttons**

This section describes the menus and buttons available in the Cloud Accounts module.

Important information	Lab Management: Accounts created within user projects are read-only. To edit these accounts, access the owner project.				
	ALM: Only accounts created within the current project are visible.				
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69				
See also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69, "Cloud Hosts Overview" on page 56				

User interface elements are described below:

UI Element (A - Z)	Menu	Description					
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .					
Cloud Account Details	Cloud Accounts and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Cloud Account Details dialog box so that you can view details of a cloud account. See "Cloud Account Details Dialog Box" on page 78 for more information.					
Copy URL	Cloud Accounts and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Copies a link to the selected cloud account. The cloud account itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking on the link opens ALM and takes you directly to the cloud account. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.					
Delete X	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Deletes the selected cloud account. A cloud account can only be deleted if there are no cloud hosts that are currently provisioned from that account.					
Export	Cloud Accounts and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export t accounts in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Select one of the following options:</li> <li>All. Exports all resources in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected resources in the grid.</li> </ul>					

UI Element (A - Z)	Menu	Description				
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for an account. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .				
Go to Cloud Account	Cloud Accounts	Opens the Go To Cloud Account dialog box, enabling you to find a specific cloud account by its ID number.				
Grid Filters	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Displays the filter boxes for each column in the grid. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .				
Information Panel	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.				
New Cloud Account	Cloud Accounts	Opens the New Cloud Account dialog box so that you can add a new cloud account. See "New Cloud Account Dialog Box" on page 77 for more information.				
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Organizes your favorite views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .				
Private	Favorites	Lists favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.				
Public	Favorites	Lists favorite views that are accessible to all users.				
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the view to display the most up-to-date information.				
Replace	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .				

UI Element (A - Z)	Menu	Description			
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .			
Set Filter/Sort	View	<ul> <li>Enables you to set filter and sort options for the Cloud Accounts grid.</li> <li>Includes the following options:</li> <li>Set Filter/Sort. Opens the Filter dialog box, enabling you to filter and sort cloud accounts.</li> <li>Clear Filter/Sort. Clears any filters or sorting that you have applied. For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.</li> </ul>			
Update Selected	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for multiple cloud accounts in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .			

#### **Cloud Accounts Module Fields**

This section describes cloud account fields. In Lab Management, all fields in private accounts are read-only.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Access Key	Allows ALM to connect to your cloud account. Given to you by your cloud account provider.
Account ID	The ID of the account. Generated automatically by ALM at the time the account is added.
Account Number	The Amazon EC2 account number. This number is used to access custom images from the cloud account.
	<b>Note:</b> Adding an incorrect account number will result in the inability to access custom images related to this account.
Active Hosts	The number of currently provisioned hosts from this account. Hosts can be viewed in Lab Management from Lab Resources > Hosts and in ALM from Lab Resources > Testing Hosts.

Field (A - Z)	Description				
Created By	The user who created the account.				
Created in Project	The project the cloud account was created in.				
Description	A description of the cloud account.				
Name	The name you choose for the cloud account.				
Provider	The cloud provider for a specific account.				
	Note: HP ALM integrates with Amazon EC2 cloud accounts.				
Secret Key	Serves as the password for the <b>access key</b> used to connect to your cloud account. Given to you by your cloud provider.				

### New Cloud Account Dialog Box

This dialog box allows you to add new cloud accounts to ALM.

To Access	Lab Management and ALM:					
	1. On the sidebar, under Cloud Settings, click Cloud Accounts.					
	2. Click the <b>New Cloud Account</b> button or choose <b>New Cloud Account</b> from the Cloud Accounts menu.					
Important information	You must have an existing Amazon EC2 account in order to add an account in ALM.					
	• Cloud account added from Lab Management are public accounts and can be used by any project. Cloud accounts added in user projects are private and can be used only in the project they are added from.					
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69					
See also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69					

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Element	Description
×	Reset All Fields. Erases all data entered into fields in the dialog box.

<b>UI Element</b>	Description
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
Re	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Name	The name you choose for the cloud account.
Details	Required fields are displayed in red. For more information about the available cloud account fields, see "Cloud Accounts Module Fields" on page 76.
Description	Allows you to enter a description of the cloud account.

### **Cloud Account Details Dialog Box**

This dialog box	displays de	etails about f	the selected	cloud account.
The alalog box	alopia, o a	orano aboar		oroad account.

To Access	Lab Management and ALM:
	1. On the sidebar, under Cloud Settings, click Cloud Accounts.
	2. Right-click on a cloud account in the grid and select <b>Cloud</b> <b>Account Details</b> .
Important	• This dialog box is available both in Lab Management and in ALM.
mormation	Lab Management: Cloud accounts added in user projects are read- only.
	ALM: Accounts created in Lab Management are read-only.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69
See also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69

User interface elements are described below:

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
K 4 6 4	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of cloud accounts.
AB STATE	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Account ID	The ID of the account. Generated automatically by ALM at the time the account is added.
Name	The name you chose for the cloud account.
Details	Lists the details of the currently selected cloud account. For more information about the available cloud account fields, see "Cloud Accounts Module Fields" on page 76.
Credit	Define total credits for the selected account.
	Available from: ALM
Linked Projects	Allows you to link user projects to the account. In order for a cloud account created in Lab Management to be accessible from a user project, you must link the account to the project. For more information, see "Cloud Account Linked Projects Page" on the next page. Available from: Lab Management
Event Log	The Event Log displays the events that occur in a creating the cloud account, reporting the source and severity of each event. For more information, see "Event Log" on page 140.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected cloud account. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### Assign Projects to Cloud Account Dialog Box

This dialog box allows you to link projects to a cloud account.

To Access	Lab Management only:
	<ul> <li>From the Cloud Accounts module: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Cloud Settings, select Cloud Accounts. In the information panel, select Linked Projects and click the Assign Projects to Cloud Account button.</li> </ul>
	• From the Cloud Account Details dialog box: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Cloud Settings, select Cloud Accounts. Right-click a cloud account and select Cloud Account Details. In the Cloud Account Details dialog box, select Linked Projects and click the Assign Projects to Cloud Account
Important information	The Assign Projects to Cloud Account dialog box only appears in Lab Management.

Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69
See also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
Ø	<b>Refresh All.</b> Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
Assign	Assign the selected project to the cloud account.
<projects grid&gt;</projects 	Lists the projects that can be assigned to the cloud account.
Selected	Displays the projects to be assigned to the cloud account.

### **Cloud Account Linked Projects Page**

The Linked Projects page allows you to link a cloud account to one or more projects. Once an account is linked to a project, the account can be used to provision hosts from within the project. In addition, this page displays total credits available for the selected account.

To Access	<ul> <li>Lab Management only:</li> <li>From the Cloud Accounts module: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Cloud Settings, select Cloud Accounts. In the information panel, select Linked Projects.</li> </ul>
	• From the Cloud Account Details dialog box: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Cloud Settings, select <b>Cloud Accounts</b> . Right-click a cloud account and select <b>Cloud Account Details</b> . In the Cloud Account Details dialog box, select <b>Linked Projects</b> .
Important information	To provision hosts from a Lab Management cloud account when you are within a user project, you must link the cloud account to the project from this page. The Cloud Account Linked Projects page only appears in Lab Management.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69
See also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
<b>87</b> 4	<b>Assign Projects to Cloud Account.</b> Opens the Assign Projects to Cloud Account dialog box, enabling you to select projects that can provision from this cloud account. For details, see "Assign Projects to Cloud Account Dialog Box" on page 79.
<b>1</b>	<b>Unassign Project From Cloud Account.</b> Prevents the selected projects from provisioning from this cloud account.
<b>*</b>	Go to Project. Displays the selected project in the Project Settings module.
Ø	Refresh All. Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
Project	Displays projects linked to the cloud account.
Credit Balance	Displays the remaining credit balance.

# **Host Templates**

This section includes:

Host Templates Overview	. 82
How to Manage Host Templates	. 82
Host Templates User Interface	85

## **Host Templates Overview**

A host template defines technical details related to the host that is going to be provisioned using that template. The following details are specified in a host template:

- The cloud account that is used to provision the host.
- The cost per hour. It indicates the number of credits the host consumes per hour.

**Note:** Credits used and consumed are not representative of the actual cost to your cloud provider.

• The host type and purpose.

**Note:** HP ALM supports only performance testing load generators.

• The cloud location where hosts are provisioned.

Note: In Amazon EC2, location corresponds to region.

- The hardware specs of the host (Instance Type).
- The software image used for the host (Machine Image).

**Note:** HP provides a number of predefined images for you to use when creating host templates. It is recommended that you use the predefined images. Instance types and machine images are managed on the website of your cloud provider, and are accessed automatically when creating host templates.

All cloud hosts are provisioned from host templates. When you provision a host, ALM copies the details of the template into the provisioned host. By default, ALM created host templates for each cloud account. You can use the default host templates or create your own host templates. When using the template hosts, the administrator can control and manage which machines specifications are allowed and recommended for use.

Host templates can be managed from Lab Management or from ALM projects. Host templates added from Lab Management are public and can be used by any project that is linked to the template's cloud account. Host templates added from user projects are private and can be used only by the projects that created them.

For instructions for creating a host template, see "How to Manage Host Templates" below.

## How to Manage Host Templates

This section describes how to create and manage host templates in ALM.

For an overview, see "Host Templates Overview" on the previous page.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Set Up Cloud Hosts" on page 58.

#### Creating a Host Template

This task describes how to create a host template in ALM.

1. Considerations when creating host templates

When creating host templates, make sure to:

- Create a template for each host configuration that your testers will need. Testers can only
  provision cloud hosts from existing templates.
- Clearly describe the type of host that is provisioned by each template so that testers can
  provision exactly the hosts they need.
- Ensure that the number of credits consumed by a host accurately reflects the cost of provisioning that host.
- 2. Prerequisites

To add a host template to ALM, you must have added at least one cloud account. See "How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69 for more information.

When creating host templates, you need to supply the following:

- Location. Specifies the cloud region from which the template provisions hosts. The instance types and machine images available for the template depend upon the chosen location.
- Instance Type. Specifies the hardware configuration of hosts created from the template. Instance types are provided by your cloud provider. Familiarize yourself with each of the instance types available from your cloud provider before you start creating host templates.
- Machine Image. Specifies the software image to use for hosts created from the template. Machine images are managed on the website of your cloud provider. Make sure to upload all required images to your cloud provider before you start creating host templates. HP also provides a set of predefined images for you to use.
- 3. Create a host template

To create a host template:

- a. Log into the project that created the cloud account for which you are creating host templates.
- b. Go to Cloud Settings > Host Templates.

- c. Click the **New Host Template** button . This opens the New Host Template Dialog Box. For more information, see "New Host Template Dialog Box" on page 90.
- d. Enter the details of the new host template and click **OK**. The host template is created. For information about what to enter in each field, see "Host Templates Module Fields" on page 88.

Your new host template can now be used to provision cloud hosts.

#### Note:

- Host templates added from user projects are private and can be used only by the projects that created them. Host templates added from Lab Management are public and can be used by any project that is linked to the template's cloud account.
- When creating a host template, you can only select cloud accounts that were added in the same project.

#### Modifying Host Template Details

To modify details for a host template:

- 1. Log into the project that created the host template.
- 2. In Cloud Settings > Host Template, select a host template in the grid and click the Host

**Template Details** button **W**. This opens the "Host Template Details Dialog Box" on page 91.

3. Make any necessary changes and click **OK**.

#### Deleting a Host Template

To delete a host template:

- 1. Log into the project that created the host template you wish to delete.
- 2. In Cloud Settings > Host Templates, select a host template in the grid and click the Delete

button . The host template is deleted.

**Note:** Deleting a host template does not terminate cloud hosts provisioned from that template. See "How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" on page 93 for more information about terminating cloud hosts.

# Host Templates User Interface

This section includes:

Host Templates Module Window	85
Host Templates Module Menus and Buttons	.86
Host Templates Module Fields	. 88
New Host Template Dialog Box	.90
Host Template Details Dialog Box	. 91

#### Host Templates Module Window

The Host Templates module allows you to create host templates for use in provisioning cloud hosts.

To Access	Lab Management and ALM: On the sidebar, under Cloud Settings, click Host Templates.
Important information	<ul><li>Lab Management: Host templates created within user projects are read-only. To edit these accounts, access the owner project.</li><li>ALM: Only host templates created within the current project are visible.</li></ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Templates" on page 82
See also	"Host Templates Overview" on page 82, "Cloud Hosts Overview" on page 56

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
<host templates<br="">module common</host>	Host Templates module fields: For field definitions, see "Host Templates Module Fields" on page 88.
UI elements>	Host Templates menus and buttons: For command and button descriptions, see "Host Templates Module Menus and Buttons" on the next page.
<templates grid=""></templates>	Displays a list of host templates you've added to ALM.
Description tab	Allows you to enter a description for the selected host template.
History tab	Lists changes made to the selected host template. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

## Host Templates Module Menus and Buttons

This section describes the menus and buttons available in the Host Templates module.

Important information	<ul><li>Lab Management: Host templates created within user projects are read-only. To edit these accounts, access the owner project.</li><li>ALM: Only host templates created within the current project are visible.</li></ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Templates" on page 82
See also	"Host Templates Overview" on page 82, "Cloud Hosts Overview" on page 56

User interface elements are described below:

UI Element (A - Z)	Menu	Description
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Host Template Details	Host Templates and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Host Template Details dialog box so that you can view details of a host template. See "Host Template Details Dialog Box" on page 91 for more information.
Copy URL	Host Templates and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Copies a link to the selected host template. The host template itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking on the link opens ALM and takes you directly to the host template. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
Delete X	Edit and <right-< th=""><th>Deletes the selected host template.</th></right-<>	Deletes the selected host template.
	click menu>	<b>Note:</b> Deleting a host template does not terminate cloud hosts provisioned from that template.

UI Element (A - Z)	Menu	Description
Export	Host Templates and <right-< th=""><th>Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the templates in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</th></right-<>	Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the templates in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.
	click menu>	Select one of the following options:
		• All. Exports all resources in the grid.
		• Selected. Exports selected resources in the grid.
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a template. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Go to Host Template	Host Templates	Opens the Go To Host Template dialog box, enabling you to find a specific host template by its ID number.
Grid Filters	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Displays the filter boxes for each column in the grid. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Information Panel	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.
New Host Template	Host Templates	Opens the New Host Template dialog box so that you can add a new host template. See "New Host Template Dialog Box" on page 90 for more information.
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Organizes your favorite views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Private	Favorites	Lists favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.
Public	Favorites	Lists favorite views that are accessible to all users.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the view to display the most up-to-date information.

UI Element (A - Z)	Menu	Description
Replace	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Set Filter/Sort	View	<ul> <li>Enables you to set filter and sort options for the Host Templates grid.</li> <li>Includes the following options:</li> <li>Set Filter/Sort. Opens the Filter dialog box, enabling you to filter and sort host templates.</li> <li>Clear Filter/Sort. Clears any filters or sorting that you have applied. For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.</li> </ul>
Update Selected	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for multiple host templates in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### Host Templates Module Fields

This section describes host template fields. Host template fields can only be edited in the project from which the template was created.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Cloud Account	The cloud account for which the template provisions a host.
Description	A description of the host template.
	<b>Tip:</b> Clearly describe the type of host that is provisioned by each template so that testers can choose the appropriate templates when provisioning hosts.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Host Attributes	Allows you to specify the system attributes of the host.
	<b>Example:</b> Host memory: High; Host strength: Medium; Installed components: Citrix Client.
	<b>Tip:</b> You can customize the host attributes in Lab Management. For details, refer to the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide</i> .
Host Credit	Number of credits per hour consumed by each host provisioned from this template.
Host	The installation type of the host.
Installation	The following types are available:
	Unix Load Generator. Indicates that this Unix host is used as a Load Generator for performance tests.
	• Windows Standalone LG. Indicates that this Windows host is used as a standalone Load Generator for performance tests.
	Note:
	• Make sure you select the correct installation type for the image. Incorrect settings will cause the performance tests to run incorrectly.
	Unified Functional Testing and Windows Host options appear in the Host Installation list but are not available for selection
Host Purpose	The testing tools available on the host. For example: Controller, Load generator, Data processor, QuickTest Professional, Sprinter, and so on.
	Note: HP ALM supports only Load Generator.
Instance Type	The hardware specs of cloud hosts provisioned from the template. Instance types can be viewed on the website of your cloud provider, and are accessed automatically when creating host templates.
Location	In Amazon EC2, the region where the hosts are provisioned.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Machine Image	The software image used for cloud hosts provisioned from the template. Machine images are managed on the website of your cloud provider, and are accessed automatically when creating host templates.
	<b>Note:</b> If the Machine Image value cannot be displayed, verify that you used the correct cloud account number.
Template ID	The ID of the host template. Generated automatically by ALM at the time the template is created.
Template Name	The name you give to the template.

### New Host Template Dialog Box

This dialog box allows you to add new host templates to ALM.

To Access	Lab Management and ALM:
	1. On the sidebar, under Cloud Settings, click <b>Host Templates</b> .
	<ol> <li>Click the New Host Template button or choose New Host Template from the Host Templates menu.</li> </ol>
Important information	You must have an existing Amazon EC2 account in order to add a host template in ALM.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Templates" on page 82
See also	"Host Templates Overview" on page 82

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Element	Description
×	Reset All Fields. Erases all data entered into fields in the dialog box.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
Re	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.

UI Element	Description
Name	The name you choose for the host template. Choose a name that clearly describe the type of host that is provisioned by the template so that testers can provision exactly the hosts they need
Details	Required fields are displayed in red. For more information about the available host template fields, see "Host Templates Module Fields" on page 88.
Description	Allows you to enter a description of the host template.

## Host Template Details Dialog Box

This dialog box displays details about the selected host template.

To Access	Lab Management and ALM:
	1. On the sidebar, under Cloud Settings, click Host Templates.
	2. Right-click on a host template in the grid and select <b>Host Template Details</b> .
Important	• This dialog box is available both in Lab Management and in ALM.
mormation	<ul> <li>Host template fields can only be edited in the project from which the template was created.</li> </ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Templates" on page 82
See also	"Host Templates Overview" on page 82

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
K 4 4 A	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of host templates.
AB S	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AB:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Template ID	The ID of the host template. Generated automatically by ALM at the time the host template is added.
Template Name	The name you chose for the host template.

UI Elements	Description
Details	Lists the details of the currently selected host template. For more information about the available host template fields, see "Host Templates Module Fields" on page 88.
Description	Allows you to enter a description of the host template.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected host template. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# **Provisioning Hosts**

This section includes:

Provisioning Hosts Overview	93
How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts	93
Provisioning Hosts User Interface	95

## **Provisioning Hosts Overview**

As with all testing hosts, cloud hosts must be added to your lab resources before you can use them for running tests. The process of adding cloud hosts is called provisioning. When you provision a host, you are reserving a machine on the cloud with a specific configuration. The configuration includes the hardware details of the machine and the software image applied to the machine. In ALM, all hosts are provisioned from templates. For more information about host templates, see "Host Templates Overview" on page 82.

For instructions on how to provision hosts, see "How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" below.

#### Notes:

- Hosts can be provisioned in Lab Management from Lab Resources > Hosts. Hosts can be provisioned in user projects from Lab Resources > Testing Hosts.
- After a host is provisioned, it consumes credits from the project that provisioned it. Credits are consumed for each host on an hourly basis, and the number of credits consumed per hour is specified in the host template. You must have at least one credit to provision your requested hosts.

## How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts

This section describes how to provision and terminate cloud hosts from ALM.

For an overview, see "Provisioning Hosts Overview" above.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Set Up Cloud Hosts" on page 58.

#### **Provisioning Cloud Hosts**

This task describes how to provision cloud hosts in ALM.

1. Prerequisites

To provision hosts from ALM:

- You must have at least one cloud account and at least one host template linked to your project. See "How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69 and "How to Manage Host Templates" on page 82 for more information.
- Your project must have enough cloud credits available to provision your desired hosts. See "How to Manage Cloud Accounts" on page 69 for more information. If you do not have permission to add credits to a project, contact your lab administrator.

When provisioning hosts, you need to supply the following:

- Security Group. Specifies the incoming and outgoing network traffic allowed to your cloud hosts. For example, if you need to connect to your cloud hosts via Remote Desktop, your security group must allow incoming traffic over TCP port 3389 (RDP). Security groups are configured on the website of your cloud provider and are selected in ALM during provisioning. For more information about security groups, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.
- Key Pair. Allows you to connect remotely to your cloud hosts. For Windows hosts, the key pair is used to generate the main administrator password. For Linux hosts, the key pair is used to log in to the machine. Key pairs are created on the website of your cloud provider and are selected in ALM during provisioning. For more information about key pairs, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.

**Note:** Security groups and key pairs are created separately for each cloud location. Make sure that you have configured the necessary security groups and key pairs for the locations you will provision from.

2. Considerations when provisioning hosts

When provisioning hosts, keep in mind:

- The location where you provision hosts can impact the effectiveness of your testing. Make sure to select a cloud location that matches your testing needs.
- Host templates are created separately for each location, so a template that exists in one location may not exist in a different location. Make sure that you know which locations contain the templates you need or that you add your desired templates to the locations you intend to provision from.
- If you need to connect remotely to the provisioned hosts, make sure to select a key pair for which you have the private key and to select a security group that allows remote connections.
- Hosts are provisioned in batches. All hosts provisioned in a single batch use the same account, location, and template, and have identical configurations. To provision different types of hosts, you must create different batches. A single provision request can include multiple batches of hosts.
- 3. Provision cloud hosts

To provision cloud hosts:

a. In Lab Management, go to Lab Resources > Hosts. In ALM, go to Lab Resources > Testing Hosts.

- b. Click the **Provision...** button <sup>(C)</sup>. This opens the Provision Hosts Dialog Box. For more information, see "Provision Cloud Hosts Dialog Box" on the next page.
- c. Enter the details for each batch of hosts to be provisioned and click **Add Batch**.

Note: You must have at least one credit to provision your requested hosts.

- d. After adding all necessary batches, click **Provision**. The hosts are queued for provisioning and the Cloud Provisioning Report opens.
- 4. Post provisioning

The Host Provisioning Report shows you provisioning progress, and automatically refreshes to show updates. If there are any errors during provisioning, you will see them here. For more information, see "Host Provisioning Report" on page 98.

Once your cloud hosts are provisioned, you can begin to use them for running tests.

**Note:** There may be a delay of a few minutes between the time that a cloud host's status changes to Operational and the time that the host is ready for use.

After provisioning is complete, the hosts begin to consume credits from your project.

#### Terminating Cloud Hosts

To terminate a cloud host:

- In Lab Management, go to Lab Resources > Hosts. In ALM, go to Lab Resources > Testing Hosts.
- 2. Select a cloud host in the grid and click the **Delete** button K. The cloud host is queued for termination.

It may take a few moments to terminate the host. After the host is terminated, it is removed from the Hosts grid.

#### **Provisioning Hosts User Interface**

This section includes:

Provision Cloud Hosts Dialog Box	96
Host Provisioning Report	

### **Provision Cloud Hosts Dialog Box**

The Provision Cloud Hosts dialog box enables you to provision hosts. You can choose how many hosts to provision and where the hosts are provisioned, and you can select all necessary host configurations.

					Added Batches (0)
Create B	latch			×	
Hosts Amount:	1	0	Account:	Amazon_Project 🗸 🤘	
Location:	Amazon EC2 US E	ast (Northern 🗸 🕕	Template:	Amazon_Project US East Windc 🗸 🕜	
Current Account	t Balance: ts	Template Price: 2 Credits/Hour		Daily Total: Template Price X Hosts Amount X 24 hours 48 credits / Day (2 / Hour)	
2 Configur	e Hosts			~	
Security Group:	Database	• 0	Pools:	PrimaryCloudPool	
Security Group: Key Pair:	Database key1	• 0	<ul> <li>Pools:</li> <li>Attributes:</li> </ul>	PrimaryCloudPool	
Security Group: Key Pair: Notif. Date:	Database key1 12/25/13	<ul> <li>0</li> <li>0</li> <li>0</li> <li>0</li> </ul>	Pools:     Attributes:     Elastic IPs:	PrimaryCloudPool     C       Host memory:Medium     C       Ivse Eastic P Addresses     C	
Security Group: Key Pair: Notif. Date:	Database key1 12/25/13	• 0 • 0 • 0	Pools:     Attributes:     Elastic IPs:	PrimaryCloudPool     C       Host memory:Medium     C       Ibse Eastic P Addresses     C	
Security Group: Key Pair: Notif. Date:	Database Key1 12/25/13	• 0 • 0 • 0	Pools:     Attributes:     Elastic IPs:	PrimaryCloudPool     C       Host memory:Medlum     C       Image: Static P Addresses     C	

To Access	Lab Management:
	1. On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, click <b>Hosts</b> .
	2. Click the <b>Provision</b> <sup>the button or select <b>Testing Hosts &gt; Provision</b>.</sup>
	ALM:
	1. On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, click <b>Testing Hosts</b> .
	2. Click the <b>Provision</b> <sup>the button or select <b>Testing Hosts &gt; Provision</b>.</sup>
	Performance Center:
	1. Select Perspective > Testing Hosts.
	2. Click the <b>Provision Hosts</b> button.
Important information	You must have at least one cloud account and at least one host template linked to your project in order to provision hosts.
Relevant tasks	"How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" on page 93
See also	"Provisioning Hosts Overview" on page 93

User interface elements are described below:

<b>UI Element</b>	Description
Batch #	Shows the number of the batch for which you are entering details.
Hosts Amount	Enter the number of hosts to provision in the batch. Remember that all hosts in the batch use the same account, location, and template, and have identical configurations.
Account	Select the cloud account to provision from.
Location	Select a suitable geographic location in which to provision the hosts. Make sure to select a location for which you have configured an appropriate host template.
Template	Host template specifies the hosts' purpose, hardware, machine image, and credits consumed per hour. Select a host template that will match your testing needs. The list of available templates is based on your selected location.
Current Account Balance	Shows the number of credits available in your account. Available from: ALM and Performance Center
Template Price	Shows the cost in credits per hour of the selected template. Available from: ALM and Performance Center
Daily Total	Shows the total number of credits per day the batch will consume.
	Available from: ALM and Performance Center
Security Group	Select a security group that allows the necessary access to your testing hosts. Security group specifies which inbound and outbound connections are permitted from the hosts, such as port 80 (HTTP) or port 3389 (RDP). Security groups are configured on your cloud provider's website, and must be created separately for each location. Only security groups configured for your selected location are displayed. For more details, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.
Pools	Select the appropriate host pools to which the newly provisioned hosts will be added.
Key Pair	Select a key pair for which you have the private key. Key pair is used to generate the administrator password for Windows machines and to log in to Linux machines. Key pair is only relevant if you plan to remotely connect to your cloud hosts. Key pairs are managed on your cloud provider's website, and must be created separately for each location. Only key pairs configured for your selected location are displayed.
	Note: You must have at least one keypair in order to provision a host.
	For more details on key pairs, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.

<b>UI Element</b>	Description
Attributes	Select host attributes that match the capabilities of the hosts. Host attributes are used to identify suitable hosts when running tests.
	<b>Note:</b> The attribute list can be modified from ALM Project Customization. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide</i> .
Notification Date	Enter the date to be notified if the hosts are still provisioned in the cloud provider. Hosts provisioned past this date will be listed in the cloud hosts daily digest report.
	<b>Note:</b> This is an optional field, however, it is recommend that you enter a value for better tracking of hosts that are past there due date. This value can modified from the the Host module.
Elastic IPs	If you defined a pool of predefined IP addresses with your cloud provider, select this option to use those predefined static IP addresses to provisioninig your host. For more details on elastic IP addresses, see "Initial Cloud Settings Overview" on page 59.
Add Batch	Adds the selected batch to the cart. When you click <b>Provision</b> , all hosts in the cart are queued for provisioning.
Added Batches	Shows all batches that are to be provisioned . You can click the <b>Delete Batch</b> $\widehat{I\!I\!I}$ button to remove a batch from the cart.
Delete Batch	Deletes the selected batch and removes it from the cart.
Provision	Queues all batches in the cart for provisioning and opens the Host Provisioning report. For more details on this report, see "Host Provisioning Report" below.

### Host Provisioning Report

The Host Provisioning report enables you to view provisioning progress of your hosts by location. The report guides you through the provisioning steps. Details of this process are displayed in a log file. Once your cloud hosts are provisioned, you can begin to use them for running tests.

Application Lifecycle Management						£ .	sen sa l He
Cloud Provisioning Report							
Started:	Number of hosts p	provisioned and checked:					
12:49 Jan 06, 2014 ♠ ୭ জ	Processing O	0/8 Provisioned and Checked 0/8 Failed				Refresh	-
Provisioning by location							
Asian Constant	C.s		» Ama:	on EC2 Asia Pacit	ic (Singapore) Details	Show all Is	scations
	- And		Ø)Name	Instance Ty	ie Image	Status	Le
	3. 19.		= Amazon EC2	Asia Pacific (Singapore	; 8 Hosta		
	12		pending prov	sion reg Micro	Win_LoadRunner32	Pending	
1			pending prov	sion reqMicro	Win_LoadRunner32	Pending	
			pending prov	sion req Micro	Win_LoadRunner32	Pending	
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			pending prov	sonreq Moro	wn_Loadkunner32	Pending	
and a second second		Provisioning Checking Done	pending prov	sonret. Noro	Wn_Loadkuner32	Perding	
1 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A		Chippeneti -	persong prov	sinner Micro	Win_Loadhunner31	Penjag	
			penang prov	sina ret. Micra	Win LeadBurner12	Pending	

To Access	Lab Management:
	1. On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, click Hosts.
	2. Click the <b>Host Operations</b> drop-down arrow and select <b>Host Provision</b> <b>Report</b> .
	Alternatively, click the <b>Provision</b> button. In the Provision Cloud Hosts dialog box, click the <b>Provision</b> button.
	ALM:
	1. On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, click <b>Testing Hosts</b> .
	2. Click the <b>Host Operations</b> drop-down arrow and select <b>Host Provision</b> <b>Report</b> .
	Alternatively, click the <b>Provision</b> button. In the Provision Cloud Hosts dialog box, click the <b>Provision</b> button.
	Performance Center:
	1. Select Perspective > Testing Hosts.
	<ol> <li>Click the Provision Report button. Alternatively, click the Provision Hosts button. In the Provision Cloud Hosts dialog box, click the Provision button.</li> </ol>
Important information	• You must have at least one cloud account and at least one host template linked to your project in order to provision hosts.
	• There may be a delay of a few minutes between the time that a cloud host's status changes to Operational and the time that the host is ready for use.
	<ul> <li>After provisioning is complete, the hosts begin to consume credits from your project.</li> </ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" on page 93
See also	"Provisioning Hosts Overview" on page 93

#### User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Started	This section contains the following details:
	• The date and time that the provisioning starts.
	• The name of the user running the report.
	• The processing status of the report.
Number of hosts provisioned and checked:	Indicates the number of hosts queued for provisioning and their status.
Refresh	The report automatically refreshes to show updates. Click the arrow to change the automatic refresh rate in seconds. Possible values: <b>1</b> , <b>10</b> , or <b>30</b> .
01	Indicates the number of hosts queued for provisioning and their status in the specified location.Click the indicator to open the report details pane. The possible states are:
	Provisioning. The host is in the process of being provisioned.
	Checking. The host is in the process of being verified.
	Done. The host was provisioned and verified.
	<b>Done - Failed.</b> The host failed to reach a provisioned state.
"	Opens the report details. The report displays the following elements:
	• Show All Locations. If you have more than one location running at the same time, you can view details for all locations.
	• IP/Name. The name or IP address of the host.
	• Instance Type. The hardware specs of the host.
	• Image. The software image used for the host.
	• Status. Indicates the provisioning status of the host.
	Log . Displays a log of events related to the host.

# **Cloud Resources Monitoring**

This section includes:

How to Configure Cloud Alerts	
Cloud Resources Monitoring User Interface	102

## **Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview**

You can analyze and monitor your cloud resource consumption of your provisioned hosts by generating usage reports, and by sending alerts and notifications.

#### **Cloud Usage Reports**

The following cloud usage reports are available:

Report	Description
Cloud High Level	Shows a summary of credits consumed and hosts provisioned for each project.
Cloud Credits by Type	Shows cloud credits consumed per location, per template, per instance, and per image.
Cloud Utilization	Shows a per-project summary of total cloud host uptime or running time vs. idle time, as well as the credit value of total idle time.
Cloud Operations and Host	Shows individual provisioning and terminating operations as well as detailed provisioning data for each host.

For more information, see "Usage Reports Overview" on page 171.

#### **Cloud Alerts and Notifications**

The following alerts and notifications are available for provisioned hosts:

- Idle hosts (inactivity time)
- Account usage (credit balance)
- Host status details (operational, non-operational, unavailable hosts)

For more details on configuring alerts, see "How to Configure Cloud Alerts" below.

## How to Configure Cloud Alerts

This section describes how to configure cloud alerts and notifications. To learn more about cloud alerts, see "Provisioning Hosts Overview" on page 93.

- 1. Prerequisites
  - To enable you to sent alerts and notifications to users, make sure to set the ALM Mail Protocol. For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.
  - You must have the appropriate user permissions to set cloud alerts and notifications. For more details on permissions, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.
  - To receive emails, an administrator must configure the mail to be used for sending emails. The administrator must belong to a TDAdmin group and have a valid email address.
- 2. In ALM or Lab Management, on the masthead, click and select **Cloud Alerts and Notifications**. For more information, see "Cloud Alerts and Notifications Dialog Box" below.
- 3. Define alerts and rules for notifying users.

## **Cloud Resources Monitoring User Interface**

This section includes:

#### **Cloud Alerts and Notifications Dialog Box**

This dialog box enables you to set alerts and notifications to routinely inform users about important cloud activities.

To Access	In ALM or Lab Management, on the masthead, click 🔅 and select <b>Cloud</b> Alerts and Notifications.
Important information	<ul> <li>To enable you to sent alerts and notifications to users, make sure to set the ALM Mail Protocol. For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.</li> <li>You must have the appropriate user permissions to set cloud alerts and notifications. For more details on permissions, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.</li> </ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Configure Cloud Alerts" on the previous page
See also	"Provisioning Hosts Overview" on page 93

#### Send Alerts To

This pane enables you to set the users who should receive the alerts and notifications.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
The user who provisioned the hosts (if applicable)	Notifies the user who provisioned the cloud hosts.
Project administrator	Notifies the project administrator user.
The following users:	Notifies the specified users.

#### **Rules for Alerts and Notifications**

This pane enables you to set rules for notifying users.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Send alerts for hosts that have been idle for the last X hours	Sends alerts for cloud hosts that have been in idle state for the last X hours.
	<b>ALM only:</b> The alerts will be sent to hosts provisioned from the currently logged in project.
	Lab Management only: The alerts will be sent to hosts provisioned from Lab Management.
Include hosts provisioned from public accounts in other projects	Lab Management only: Includes provisioned hosts for cloud accounts added from Lab Management.
Send daily digest of cloud hosts at	Sends a cloud host summary at the specified time. The report includes information on today's operations, account usage, and host details.
Send alerts when the project has less than X credits remaining in the specific cloud account	Notified when the project has less than the specified number of credits in the cloud account.

# **Chapter 6: Lab Resources**

This chapter includes:

Lab Resources Overview	104
Managing Lab Resources	106
Lab Resources Modules User Interface	120

# Lab Resources Overview

The Lab Resources modules enable you to define, manage, and maintain the testing resources used for ALM server-side testing.

When using ALM without Lab Management, users must control tests from their local computer. This method of testing is called client-side execution. Lab Management enables users to run tests using server-side execution. Once testing hosts are set up, users can use ALM to schedule and execute tests on remote hosts without requiring user intervention. The Lab Management features enable you to set up and maintain the hosts and host pools used for test execution.

#### **Testing Hosts/Hosts**

Testing hosts are used to run tests and to process the data collected from those tests. You can define hosts as Functional hosts, Performance hosts.

Functional and Performance hosts can have the following purposes:

Functional hosts (ALM Edition only)	• Business Process Testing. A testing host on which business process tests are run.
	QuickTest Professional. A testing host on which QuickTest Professional is run.
	• Service Test A testing host on which Service Test is run.
	• System Test. A testing host on which System Test is run.
	Unified Functional Testing. A testing host on which Unified Functional Testing is run.
	• VAPI-XP. A testing host on which VAPI-XP is run.
	<b>Note:</b> You must register a testing host with ALM to make it available for functional testing. See "Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298.

Performance hosts	<ul> <li>Controller. A testing host used to manage a performance test. During a test run, the Controller issues instructions to the load generators, including which scripts to run, how many Vusers to run per script, and when to start and stop running them. There is only one Controller per test.</li> <li>Load generator. A testing host on which Vusers run during a test. There can be many load generators for a given test.</li> <li>Data processor. A testing host used for processing and publishing data gathered during a test run.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Note:</li> <li>To provide greater flexibility (especially where resources are scarce), you can allocate a Performance host with dual purposes as a Controller and load generator. In general, this is not a recommended practice and is only appropriate for tests that have a very small number of Vusers. When allocating hosts, the system tries to use single function hosts before dual-purpose Controller and load generator hosts.</li> <li>Although it is possible to set a host as both a Controller and a data processor, it is recommended to set up a separate host for data processing.</li> <li>A host that is located over a firewall or is a UNIX host can be used as a load generator only.</li> </ul>

The Testing Hosts/Hosts module is available in both the Lab Management and ALM projects.

For task details about managing testing hosts, see "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on the next page.

#### Host pools

A host pool is a group of testing hosts. Each project has one host pool. When managing a host pool, it is important to understand the total available resources.

If you are using the pool for a project which involves performance testing, the pool must contain at least one Controller, one load generator, and one data processor. Because hosts can have dual functionality, it is recommended that a pool contains, among the other hosts, at least one host that can be dedicated fully for Controller functionality.

Available from: Lab Management only.

For task details about managing host pools, see "How to Manage Host Pools" on page 114.

#### **Cloud Accounts**

A cloud account is a Lab Management version of an actual account with a cloud provider.

For more information, see "Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69.

#### Cloud Templates

A cloud template is a set of details which represents a certain type of cloud host.

For more information, see "Host Templates Overview" on page 82.

#### Timeslots

When running tests, or performing maintenance on host machines, the resources needed for these tasks must be available, and must fall within the project and license limits. The Timeslots module enables you to reserve resources in advance to ensure that the required resources are available when you are ready to perform these tasks.

There are two kinds of timeslots: testing timeslots and maintenance timeslots.

- Reserving a testing timeslot ensures that the resources required for a functional or performance test are available when you need to run the test. You reserve testing timeslots only in your ALM project.
- Reserving a maintenance timeslot ensures that the resources required for a maintenance task are available when the maintenance task is performed. You reserve maintenance timeslots in the Lab Management project.

For more information about reserving timeslots, see "How to Reserve Timeslots" on page 117.

# Managing Lab Resources

The workflow for managing Lab Resources is represented below.



## How to Manage Testing Hosts



This section describes how to create, modify, and monitor testing hosts needed for running serverside functional and performance tests in ALM.

Note:

• The **Hosts** module appears in Lab Management and in ALM, except that in ALM it is labeled as **Testing Hosts**. The below instructions refer to Lab Management's **Hosts** module but

most functionality applies to ALM's Testing Hosts module as well.

- If you are using the Testing Hosts module in ALM, only testing hosts attached to the host pool of the project are visible.
- **Product Feature Movie.** To view a movie that demonstrates how to set up the lab resources required for running a performance test, select **Help > Movies** in the ALM main window.
- ALM Editions: Functional testing host management is available only for ALM Edition. For more information about ALM editions and their functionality, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide*. To find out what edition of ALM you are using, ask your ALM site administrator.

This task describes how to:

- "Add a testing host" below
- "Import testing host data from Excel " on page 109
- "Modify/View lab resource details" on page 112
- "Check host connections to testing hosts" on page 112
- "Reboot hosts" on page 113
- "Install patches on hosts" on page 113
- "Reconfigure hosts" on page 113
- "End processes on a Performance host" on page 114
- "Link testing hosts to host pools" on page 114

#### Add a testing host



To run server-side functional and performance tests, you must add testing hosts to ALM. For an overview of testing hosts, see "Lab Resources Overview" on page 104.

To add a host from your test lab to ALM:

#### 1. Prerequisites.

Ensure the following:

- The required testing tools are installed on your testing hosts. Refer to the documentation for your specific testing tools for installation instructions.
- If a performance testing host you are adding is in a remote location, the location must be added in the Lab Resources > Locations module. For task details, see "How to Manage Host Locations" on page 115.
- If a testing host you are adding is over a firewall, the host must communicate with a Performance host through an MI Listener. Make sure that the MI Listener was added in the Lab Resources > MI Listeners module. For task details, see "How to Manage MI Listeners" on page 217.
- For hosts with functional testing purposes, HP ALM Lab Service must be installed on testing hosts you are adding. To download and install HP ALM Lab Service on your testing host, select Help > ALM Tools to open the Tools add-in page. Click the HP ALM Lab Service link, and download the appropriate package for your operating system. For details about installing HP Lab Service, see "Installing HP ALM Lab Service" on page 290.

#### 2. Create a new testing host.

**Tip:** You can use the Import Hosts feature to import a list of hosts from an Excel file into ALM. For details, see "Import testing host data from Excel " on the next page.

In **Lab Resources > Hosts**, click the **New Testing Host** button \_\_\_\_\_. For user interface details, see "New Testing Host Dialog Box" on page 136.

**Note:** Hosts created from within an ALM project are private hosts and can only exist in one host pool at a time.

#### 3. Register the testing host.

For security reasons, a functional testing host must be registered using HP ALM Lab Service before it can be used. After the testing host has been registered, the testing host registration must be approved from within Lab Management.

If you set the testing host Registration Auto Approve field to  $\mathbf{Y}$  then it will be automatically approved when you register it. If you set Registration Auto Approve to  $\mathbf{N}$ , then you complete the registration by changing the Status field to Registered.

For more details about registering a testing host using Lab Service, see "Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298.
**Note:** Lab Service and the ALM server to which you are connecting must be of the same version in order to be compatible. If your version of Lab Service is not the same as the ALM server, the Hosts/Testing Host grid displays your testing host as **Unavailable**.

To provision hosts from the cloud for use in performance testing, see "How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" on page 93.

## Import testing host data from Excel

You can import a list of testing hosts from an Excel file (.xls or .csv) using ALM or Lab Management.

- 1. Ensure that the Excel file is set up so that the columns can be recognized and mapped by the Import feature.
  - The first row of the Excel file must contain the field names, or corresponding logical names, that appear in the table below. (Logical names are not case sensitive.)

Some fields are mandatory, others are required or optional.

- Mandatory indicates a field that must appear in the Excel file. If you omit this field, the import fails. If you omit a value in one of the rows of this field's column, the import of that specific row fails.
- Required indicates a field that should appear in the Excel file. If you omit this field, the code adds the field with the default value for all rows. If you include the field, but omit a value in one of the rows of this column, the code adds the default value for that row.
- **Optional** indicates a field does not have to appear in the Excel file. Omitting this field has no effect on the import procedure.
- Fields representing virtual, reference, and invalid fields are ignored.
- Empty columns are allowed.

Set up the columns and values in the file as follows:

Field name	Logical Name	Value	Field for
HOST_NAME Mandatory	Name	Any string	The valid name of the testing host machine.

Field name	Logical Name	Value	Field for
HOST_ PURPOSE	Purpose	Controller, Load Generator,	The purpose of the testing host.
Mandatory		QTP, Sprinter, and so on.	<b>Note:</b> This can be any combination of the options. Options should be separated with a semicolon and be without spaces.
			<b>Example:</b> Controller; Data Processor; QTP
HOST_STATE	Status	• Operational	The testing host state.
Required		<ul><li>Non- Operational</li><li>Unavailable</li></ul>	
		<b>Default:</b> Operational	
HOST_ INSTALLATION	Installation	<ul> <li>Unified Functional</li> </ul>	The type of testing host installation.
Required		Testing	Note: There is a double space in:
		<ul> <li>Unix Load Generator</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>"Windows&lt;<i>space</i>&gt;</li> <li><i><space< i="">&gt;Host"</space<></i></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Windows Host</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>"Unix<space><space>Load Generator"</space></space></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Windows</li> <li>Standalone</li> <li>LG</li> </ul>	
		<b>Default:</b> Windows Host	

Field name	Logical Name	Value	Field for
HOST_ PRIORITY	Priority	<ul> <li>1-Lowest Priority</li> </ul>	The priority of the testing host.
Required		· 2, 38	
		<ul> <li>9-Highest Priority</li> </ul>	
		Default: 5	
HOST_SSL_	Enable	• Y	SSL-enabled
	33L	• <b>N</b>	
Required		Default: N	
HOST_ USERNAME	Username	Any string	The user name for logging in to the testing host.
Optional			
HOST_ PASSWORD	Password	Any string	The user password for logging in to the testing host.
Optional			
HOST_ DOMAIN	Domain	Any string	The testing host domain.
Optional			
HOST_ DESCRIPTION	Description	Any string	The testing host description.
Optional			

The fields specified in the table below must not be included in the Excel file. During the import of each host, these fields are assigned default values.

Field name	Default value assigned
Belongs to pools	General (If adding from within an ALM project, the default is the project's pool.)
Location	Default
MI Listener	None

**Note:** If data for these fields is included in the Excel file, the data is ignored. Default values that are not relevant for a particular host must be modified manually in the Hosts module.

### Example:

The following image illustrates an Excel file set up with the following AUT hosts: **testabc**, **testhost**, and a third host whose name was not provided.

(		• (* • 🖨 )	₹ PCHc	stsImport_eg.	ds [Compatib	ility Mode	] - Microso	oft Excel			x
	Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data Re	view	View Ad	d-Ins		🥘 – 🖻	х
	ormal Page Layout Workbook Vie	I Show/Hid	e Zoom 1	00% Zoom to Selection	Rew Wind Arrange A Freeze Par	dow 📄 III 🗖 nes * 🗖 V	고 교 로 포 Work Vindow	ve Swit	ch ws • Macros		
	D36	- (*	fx								×
	A	в	С	D	E	F	G	н		J	
1	HOST_NAME	HOST_PURPOSE	HOST_STATE	HOST_INSTALLA TION	HOST_PRIORITY	HOST_SSL_ ENABLED	HOST_USER NAME	HOST_PASS VORD	HOST_DOMAIN	HOST_DESCRIP TION	Â
2	testabo	Load Generator	Operational	Windows Host	3	N				Host number 1	
3	testhost	Controller;Load Generator			8	Y	user	pass	domain		
4		Data Processor		Windows Host							
5											

#### 2. Import the testing hosts.

- a. In Lab Resources > Hosts, select Testing Hosts > Import.
- b. Browse to the Excel file containing the hosts, and click **Open**.

At the end of the import process, a report displays the import results, and the imported hosts are listed in the Hosts module. Hosts that are not imported successfully must be added manually.

## Modify/View lab resource details

In Lab Resources > Hosts, select a testing host in the grid and click the Testing Host Details

button 🖳

For user interface details, see "Testing Host Details Dialog Box" on page 137.

## Check host connections to testing hosts

In Lab Resources > Hosts, right-click a testing host in the grid, and select Check Host.

The Task Manager opens, and the overall result of each check performed on the host, **Passed** or **Failed**, is displayed.

You can view the progress of the host check in the Hosts module's Check Host Status tab.

Note: The only test which can be run on a Functional host is **Ping to Host**.

Based on the purpose and location of the testing host, the following checks are performed:

Check	L	oad Ger	nerator Host		Controller	Data Processor	Functional
Performed	Regular	UNIX	Standalone	OFW	Host	Host	Host
Ping to Host	Yes	Yes	Yes	N/A	Yes	Yes	Yes
Installed Patches	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	Yes	N/A
Services	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	Yes	N/A
Performance	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	Yes	N/A
Over Firewall Status	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A

Alternatively, you can perform the above checks, together with an additional connectivity check from the host to a particular URL. Right-click a host in the grid, select **Check Connectivity to URL**, and enter the URL.

#### Examples:

- Regular URL: http://www.website.com
- Machine name: machine22 or http://machine22

## Reboot hosts

In **Lab Resources > Hosts**, right-click the host in the grid that you want to reboot, and select **Reboot Host**.

## Install patches on hosts

#### Notes:

- To install patches on a host, you first need to have uploaded the patches to ALM. For details, see "How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243.
- Patches can be installed on a host only when the host state is idle.
- You can only install patches on Performance hosts.

In Lab Resources > Hosts, right-click the host in the grid on which to install the patch and select Install Patch.

For user interface details, see "Select Patch to Install Dialog Box" on page 149.

### **Reconfigure hosts**

Note: You can only reconfigure Performance hosts.

Reconfiguring a host resets the host license, the Performance Center system user (IUSR\_METRO), and the Communication Security passphrase on the host machine.

To reconfigure a host, go to **Lab Resources > Hosts**. Right-click the host in the grid that you want to reconfigure, and select **Reconfigure Host**.

## End processes on a Performance host

To end a process on a Performance host, go to Lab Resources > Hosts. Select a host, and in the

Processes tab, select the process and click

## Link testing hosts to host pools

Note: Host pool management is only available in Lab Management.

You can populate host pools in Lab Management in one of the following ways:

- From the Hosts module. You can link a testing host to one or more host pools.
- From the Pools module. You can link one or more testing hosts to a particular host pool. For details, see "How to Manage Host Pools" below.

To link a testing host to one or more host pools from the **Hosts** module:

- 1. Go to Lab Resources > Hosts.
- 2. Right-click a host in the grid, and select Testing Host Details.
- 3. Click the down arrow adjacent to **Belongs to Pools**, and select pools in which to include the host. Click **OK**.

# How to Manage Host Pools



This section describes how to manage pools of testing hosts used for running server-side functional and performance tests in ALM.

**Note: Product Feature Movie.** To view a movie that demonstrates how to set up the lab resources required for running a performance test, select **Help > Movies** in the ALM main window.

This task describes how to:

- "Add a host pool" below
- "Modify/View host pool details" below
- "Link hosts to host pools" below

## Add a host pool

Before you design and run server-side tests in ALM, you must add your testing hosts to a host pool and assign the host pool to your project. For an overview of host pools, see "Lab Resources Overview" on page 104. For more information about creating testing hosts, see "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106.

To add a host pool:

- 1. Go to Lab Resources > Pools.
- 2. Click the **New Host Pool** button . For user interface information, see "New Host Pool Dialog Box" on page 151.

## Modify/View host pool details

In Lab Resources > Pools, select a host pool in the grid and click the Host Pool details button

For user interface details, see "Host Pool Details Dialog Box" on page 152.

## Link hosts to host pools

To link one or more hosts to a host pool from the **Pools** module:

- 1. Go to Lab Resources > Pools.
- 2. Select a host pool in the grid.
- 3. In the Linked Hosts tab, click Add Hosts to Pool . Select hosts from the grid and click Add.

For user interface information, see "Linked Hosts Page" on page 155.

# How to Manage Host Locations



This section describes how to manage the locations of testing hosts used for running server-side functional and performance tests in ALM.

#### Note:

- Cloud locations are created automatically when a new cloud account is added to ALM. Cloud locations are read-only.
- **Product Feature Movie.** To view a movie that demonstrates how to set up the lab resources required for running a performance test, select **Help > Movies** in the ALM main window.

This task describes how to:

- "Add a host location" below
- "Modify/View host location details" below
- "Assign a host location to a host" below

### Add a host location

You can organize your testing hosts according to location by creating a host location entity in the Locations module. For an overview of host locations, see "Lab Resources Overview" on page 104. For more information about creating testing hosts, see "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106.

To add a host location:

- 1. Go to Lab Resources > Locations.
- 2. Click the **New Host Location** button E. For user interface information, see "New Host Location Dialog Box" on page 157.

### Modify/View host location details

In Lab Resources > Locations, select a host location in the grid and click the Host Pool details

button 🖳

For user interface details, see "Host Location Details Dialog Box" on page 158.

### Assign a host location to a host

To assign a location to a host:

- 1. Go to Lab Resources > Hosts.
- Select a testing host in the grid, and click the Testing Host Details button

3. In the Testing Host Dialog Box, select your location in the Location field.

For user interface information, see "Testing Host Details Dialog Box" on page 137.

# How to Reserve Timeslots



This task describes how to reserve hosts for performing maintenance tasks.

Note:

- This task is part of a higher-level task. For more details, see the "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.
- For details about reserving testing timeslots, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide*.

## 1. Create a maintenance timeslot

- a. On the Lab Management sidebar, under **Hosts**, select **Timeslots**.
- b. In the Timeslots toolbar, click the New Maintenance Timeslot 🔛 button.
- c. Enter the details of the timeslot and select hosts. For user interface details, see "Timeslot Reservation: Maintenance Dialog Box" on page 160.

## 2. Verify the availability of the requested hosts

Do one of the following:

 (Recommended) Click Calculate Availability. The system checks the availability of the requested hosts for the selected timeslot. The results of this calculation are displayed in the Timeslot Status tab and graphically on the resource availability timeline.

If the timeslot cannot be reserved, consider the reasons displayed in the Timeslot Status tab when reselecting your hosts. If the timeslot can be reserved, you can click **Submit** to save the timeslot.

 Click Submit. The system calculates the availability of the requested hosts during the selected timeslot. If all of the hosts are available, the Timeslot Reservation dialog box closes and the timeslot is reserved and displayed in the Timeslots module. If the timeslot cannot be reserved, the reasons are displayed in the Timeslot Status tab. **Note:** If a host that you are trying to reserve for maintenance is reserved for another timeslot that has not yet started, and you cannot delay the maintenance task, first consult with the user who reserved the other timeslot. If he/she agrees, move the start time of the other timeslot, or delete it accordingly.

# Schedule a Maintenance Timeslot - Administrator Use Case

Paul is the system administrator at the datacenter of Mercury Tours. He has been working there for three years, and one of his tasks is to administer the server lab. Mercury Tours uses ALM to manage their projects and decided last year to start using Lab Management to manage the testing hosts in their server lab.

Paul has been given the task of making sure that the testing hosts remain healthy. He uses Lab Management to maintain his servers. One of his typical tasks is to schedule a maintenance timeslot for one of the testing hosts so he can work on them. Paul uses the following checklist to arrange for the timeslot.

- Prerequisites for scheduling a maintenance timeslot
- Create my new maintenance timeslot
- Do my maintenance work during the timeslot

Paul decides to schedule a maintenance timeslot for today so he can safely shut down and install new hardware on some of his hosts. He consults his checklist and gets to work:

## Prerequisites for scheduling a maintenance timeslot

Paul makes sure that Lab Management is up and running properly and that his testing hosts are all registered and available.

### Create my new maintenance timeslot

Paul navigates to **Testing > Timeslots** in Lab Management. The Timeslot Reservation dialog box opens.

	on																						Σ
un: Maintenance	▼ Start:	Manual	ly		•	Name	e: [																
Reserve hosts for a r	manual maintenance op	eration.														Durati	00.			hrs	30	• min	. (Fe
																Start 1	ime:	20/12/	2012		1	7:00	-
																End T	me:	20/12/	2012		1	7:30	×
员 Add Specific Ho	st 🖳 Edit 💥 🛛			Calcula	ate A	ailab	oility			_										_			_
Requested Hosts		201	ר 12:	דצמב	שי 20	ם חמי	æ														201	צמבר 2	י 21 ד
Host Type	Properties	17:	:00		1	3:00		19	00		20:	00		21:0	0	22:0	0	23:	00		00:	00	
		0																					
											Ξ A\	ailat	oility	y not	calc	ulated	I						
											<u></u> Α	ailat	oility	y not	calo	ulated	I						
											- A	ailat	oility	y not	calc	culated	l						
		~	Star	rt Time	es	×	Insuffi	icient F	esou	II	= A\	ailat	oility nse/F	y not	t calc	culated	know	n <b>–</b>	Unav	ailab	le Res	ource	
meslot Status De	escription	•	Star	rt Time	es	×	Insuffi	icient F	esou	III Ices	A.	ailat Lice	oility	y not Project	t calc	ulated	know	) <b>–</b>	Unav	ailab	le Res	Durce	
imeslot Status De	escription	•	Sta	rt Time	es	×	Insuffi	icient F	lesou	lices	A .	ailat Licer	nse/F	y not	t calc	culated	know	n 📕	Unav	ailab	le Res	ource	
imeslot Status De Unknown.	escription	•	Star	rt Time	es	×	Insuffi	icient F	esou	ll	A	Lice	oility nse/F	y not	Limit	Culated	know	1	Unav	ailab	le Res	ource	
<ul> <li>imeslot Status</li> <li>Definition</li> <li>Unknown.</li> <li>To verify the av</li> </ul>	ailability of the request	✓ ed resource	Star	rt Time s in th	es ne sel	×	Insuffi I time	icient F	lesou	III rces	E A	Licer Availa	bility	y not Project	Limit	Culated	know	1	Unav	ailab	le Res	ource	
<ul> <li>imestot Status</li> <li>Unknown.</li> <li>To verify the av</li> </ul>	iscription	✓ ed resou	Star	nt Time s in th	es ne sel	×	Insuffi d time i	icient F	esou	III rces "Ca	A v	Licer Availa	nse/F	y not Project	Limit	Culated	know	a <b>1</b>	Unav	ailab	le Res	ource	
<ul> <li>imestot Status</li> <li>Unknown.</li> <li>To verify the av</li> </ul>	scription ailability of the request	<ul> <li>ed resou</li> </ul>	Star	nt Time s in th	es ne sel	×	Insuffi d time	icient F	esou	III rces "Ca	A A	Licer Availa	nse/F	y not	Limit	culated	know		Unav	ailab	le Res	ource	
<ul> <li>imestot Status</li> <li>Definition</li> <li>Unknown.</li> <li>To verify the av</li> </ul>	scription ailability of the request	✓	Star	nt Time	es ne sel	×	Insuffi	range,	click	III rces "Ca	Av	Licer Availa	nse/F	Project	Limit	C Ur	know	a <b>1</b>	Unav	ailab	le Res	Durce	

Reference: "Timeslot Reservation: Maintenance Dialog Box" on page 160

Paul enters the following details into the Timeslot Reservation fields:

- Name: Mercury Tours host reboot
- **Duration**: 1 hour, 30 minutes
- Start time: 10/12/2012, 14:00
- End time: 10/12/2012, 15:30

Paul then clicks the Add Specific Host(s) button and selects the hosts he wants to reboot.

Paul checks his timeslot details once more and then clicks Submit. Suddenly, an error pops up!

Error		$\mathbf{x}$
$\bigotimes$	You cannot save a timeslot that contains errors.	
	ок	

Confused, Paul checks the **Timeslot Status** tab on the bottom of the Timeslot Reservation dialog box:

Timeslot Status Description
limeslot cannot be reserved.
The following host(s) are already in use: mercurytours_lab2

The message indicates that the host **mercurytours\_lab2**, one of the testing hosts he was reserving for reboot, was already reserved during the scheduled timeslot. He cannot reserve the host for maintenance until he resolves this conflict.

Paul now has to decide what to do. He can either do his maintenance work at a different time, or he can contact the owner of the testing timeslot and find out if it's okay to move the testing timeslot.

Paul looks up the name of the tester and finds that the reserved testing timeslot belongs to John, a close friend of his. He calls John on the phone and asks if the testing timeslot can be postponed to 16:00. John is happy to accommodate Paul, and agrees.

Paul selects and opens the testing timeslot and changes the Start time of the testing timeslot. He then is able to successfully reserve his maintenance timeslot for 14:00.

) Timeslot Reservatio	'n																						_					_			l				x
Run: Maintenance	✓ Star	t: Ma	anual	lly			N	lame	e: [	Me	rcur	у То	urs	host	reb	ot																			_
Reserve hosts for a m	anual maintenance	: opera	ition.																			1	Dura Star End	ation t Tin Tin	n: me: ne:		26/1:	1 2/20 2/20	12 12	rs v	30	¥ 14:0	min 0 0	5	
Add Specific Hos	it 🔒 Edit 🗙	4	1		Calc	ulati	e Ava	ailab	oility	(																									
Requested Hosts			20	12 n	צמב	T 26		יום ה																											
Host Type	Properties		12	:00		13	:00			1	4:00			15	:00			16:	00			17:	00			1	8:00			1	9:00			20:	
			õ	õ	õ	ø	Ø	Ø	b	C	)	0	b	Ò	l	l	õ	6	ò	ò	ò	ò	ò	b	D	0	P 🜔	0	P 🜔	• 🖟	P 🜔	P 🜔		ð	-
Host	mercurytours_lat	b1																																	
Host	mercurytours_lat	b2																																	
Host	mercurytours_lat	b3																																	
Host	mercurytours_lat	b4																																	
4																																		Þ	
Timeslot Status Der	scription		~	St	art T	ime	\$	×	Ins	uffi	cien	t Re:	sourc	ces		2	.icer	nse/i	Proje	ct Li	mit		0	Uni	(no)	9n		U	Inavi	silab	le Ri	esou	rce		
		_	_				_		Sub	mit		(	Canc	el		H	elp		_	_							_		_		_	_	_	_	

## Do my maintenance work during the timeslot

At 14:00, Paul shuts down the testing hosts in his server lab and installs the new hardware. Once done, he restarts the servers and tests them. It takes him only 1 hour to finish, so he is well within the limits of his timeslot.

# Lab Resources Modules User Interface

This section includes:

Lab Resources Module Menus and Buttons	
Hosts Module	

Pools Module	149
Locations Module	
Timeslots Module	159

# Lab Resources Module Menus and Buttons

The Lab Resources modules enable you to manage the lab resources used for test execution.

Important information	• Some resources are available only in Lab Management. Only a user with administrator privileges can manage those resources.
	<ul> <li>Non-administrator users in Lab Management can view host details and host pool details belonging to their projects, and can reconfigure, reboot, and check host connectivity on hosts.</li> </ul>
	This topic relates to all of the Lab Resources modules:
	<ul> <li>Hosts</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Pools</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Locations</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>MI Listeners (available in the Performance Center group)</li> </ul>
	All lab resources are generically referred to as <resource>.</resource>
Relevant tasks	"Managing Lab Resources" on page 106

Common menus and toolbars of the Lab Resources modules are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Approve Registration	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Enables you to approve the registration of a testing host, making it available for test execution.
		Note:
		• If the Registration Auto Approve field for the selected host is set to <b>Y</b> , this button is disabled.
		• This button is enabled only in Lab Management, regardless of which project added the host.
Auto Refresh	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Refreshes the grid automatically every 30 seconds.
Check Connectivity to URL	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Performs the same checks as the <b>Check</b> <b>Host</b> button, as well as connectivity to any given URL.
V Check Host	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	For Functional hosts, checks that the purposes associated with the selected testing host are valid. Results are displayed in the Task Manager dialog box, along with a list of validation results.
		For Performance hosts, checks connectivity between the selected host and other machines in the system.
Data Processor Queue	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Opens the Data Processor Queue window, enabling you to view the pending data processing requests.
		<b>Note:</b> Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
Delete	Edit and	Deletes the resource selected in the grid.
*	menu>	<b>Note:</b> You cannot delete an MI Listener that is being used by a host.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
<resource> Details</resource>	Toolbar and right-click menu	Opens the <resource> Details dialog box, enabling you to view and edit details of the selected resource.</resource>
Export	Toolbar and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the resources in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Select one of the following options:</li> <li>All. Exports all resources in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected resources in the grid.</li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a resource in the module. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management</i> <i>User Guide</i> .
Go to <resource></resource>	Toolbar	Opens the Go To <resource> dialog box, enabling you to find a specific resource by its ID number. You can only go to resources that are in the current filter.</resource>
Grid Filters	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Enables you to filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP</i> <i>Application Lifecycle Management User</i> <i>Guide</i> .
Host Provisioning Report	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Opens the provisioning report for the selected cloud host. For more information, see "Host Provisioning Report" on page 98. This option is disabled if more than one host is selected or if the selected host is not a cloud host.
Import	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Enables you to import a list of lab hosts from an Excel file (.xls or .csv) into ALM (.xls or .csv format).

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Information Panel	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.
Install Patch	Hosts module	Opens the Install Patch dialog box, enabling you to select patches to install on the selected hosts. For details, see "Select Patch to Install Dialog Box" on page 149.
		<ul> <li>You cannot use the Install Patch feature on Controller and Load generator hosts if they are in the <b>Running</b> state. You can only install patches when these hosts are idle.</li> <li>You should use this feature to install ALM certified patches</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.</li> </ul>
		Available from: Lab Management only.
Last Provision Report	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Opens the provisioning report for the most recently provisioned cloud hosts. For more information, see "Host Provisioning Report" on page 98.
New <resource></resource>	Toolbar	Enables you to add a resource.
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Organizes your favorite views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Private	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Provision 📥	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Allows you to provision cloud hosts. For more information, see "How to Provision and Terminate Cloud Hosts" on page 93.
Public	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.
Quick Views:	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	<ul> <li>Quick views are predefined filters for the Hosts grid. The following quick views are available:</li> <li>All Hosts. Shows all hosts. Includes cloud, local, performance, and functional hosts.</li> <li>Functional Testing Hosts. Shows all hosts with UFT, Service Test Professional, Business Process Testing, System Test, or VAPI-XP purposes.</li> <li>All Performance Testing Hosts. Shows all hosts with Controller, Data Processor, or Load Generator purposes. Includes both cloud and local hosts.</li> <li>Local Performance Testing Hosts. Shows all local performance testing hosts.</li> </ul>
		Cloud Load Generators. Shows all cloud load generators.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Reboot Host	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Enables you to remotely reboot host machines.
		Note:
		• You cannot reboot Controller and Load generator hosts while they are in the <b>Running</b> state. You can only reboot these hosts when they are idle.
		You cannot reboot a UNIX load generator host.
		Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
Reconfigure Host	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Resets the following on the selected host machine:
		Host license
		System user (IUSR_METRO)
		Communication Security passphrase
		Note:
		You can reconfigure only one host at a time.
		Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	In the <resource> grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i>.</resource>

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the resources in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .
Show Cloud Summary Panel	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Displays the Cloud Summary Panel, located above the Hosts grid.
Unregister	Hosts/Testing Hosts module	Enables you to unregister a testing host, making it unavailable for test execution.
Update Selected	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .

# **Hosts Module**

Hosts/Testing Hosts Module Window	128
Hosts Fields	. 130
New Testing Host Dialog Box	136
Testing Host Details Dialog Box	. 137
Event Log	. 140
Processes Page	142
Services Page	. 143
Check Host Status Page	. 144
Over Firewall Page	146
Select Patch to Install Dialog Box	. 149

# Hosts/Testing Hosts Module Window

This module enables you to view and manage the hosts used for test execution.

* 📥 💷 🗙	CCV.	🔣 🔛 Quick Filters:	~	🔍 🕥 Host O	perations 🔻			
lo Filter Defin	ed							
loud Hosts S	ummary:	0 Total 0 Being	Provisioned 0	Unavailable or	Non-Operational	Ready for Use		×
Source	Name/IP	Created in Project	Status	Host State	Purpose	Location	Host	Belongs T
Local	myd-vm0	S Lab Management	Operational	Idle	Controller;Data Pr	Default		General;Vita
Local	myd-vm0	S Lab Management	🔮 Operational	ldle	Controller;Data Pr	Default		General;Vita
Local	myd-ym0	S Lab Management	Operational	Idle	Controller;Load Ge	Default		General;Vita
Local	myd-vm0	S Lab Management	😳 Non-Operati	Idle	Controller;Data Pr	Default		General;Vita
Local	<u>myd-vm0</u>	S Lab Management	😮 Non-Operati	ldle	Controller;Data Pr	Default		General;Vita
Description	Event Log	Installed PC Compo	n Installed Progr	ams Process	es   Services   Chec	k Host Status	PC Runs 0	: Dver Firewa < ¥

To access	Lab Management: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts.
	ALM: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Testing Hosts.
Important information	Some elements are visible only for Performance hosts. Lab Management: The Hosts module displays a list of all of the hosts available. ALM: The Testing Hosts module displays a list of all of the hosts in the host pool of the project.
	ALM Editions: Some functionality related to Functional testing host management is available only for ALM Edition. For more information about ALM editions and their functionality, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> . To find out what edition of ALM you are using, ask your ALM site administrator.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
<hosts module</hosts 	• Host module fields. For field definitions, see "Hosts Fields" on page 130.
common UI elements>	• Host module menus and buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "Lab Resources Module Menus and Buttons" on page 121.

UI Elements	Description
<cloud Summary Panel&gt;</cloud 	Displays a summary of cloud hosts by status/host state. Click on the number next to a status/host state to filter the Hosts grid by that status/host state.
	To display the Cloud Summary Panel: From the Cloud menu, select Show Cloud Summary Panel.
	To close the Cloud Summary Panel: Click the X button at the right end of the panel.
<hosts grid&gt;</hosts 	Displays a list of the hosts in ALM.
Description tab	Describes the currently selected host.
lab	<b>Tip:</b> Right-click in this area to display a toolbar for formatting and spell-checking the text.
Event Log tab	Displays detailed information about the tasks performed on the selected host, the action status, and a description of any errors. For details, see the "Event Log" on page 140.
Installed PC Components tab	Displays a list of the PC components installed on the host machine, including versions and patches.
	Note: Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
	To refresh the grid, click 🥙 .
Installed Programs tab	Displays a list of all of the programs installed on the host machine. Details include the version, the publisher of the software, and the date it was installed in the host machine.
	Note: Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
	To refresh the grid, click 🥙 .
Processes tab	Displays detailed information about the processes and resource usage of the selected host.
	Note: Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
	For details, see "Processes Page" on page 142.

UI Elements	Description
Services tab	Displays the services running on the host machine.
	Note: Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
	For details, see " Services Page" on page 143.
Check Host Status tab	Displays the status of each step of the host checks. To see host check status details, right click a line in the Check Host Status tab, and select <b>Check Hosts Status Details</b> . For details, see "Check Host Status Fields" on page 145.
PC Runs tab	Displays detailed information about test runs performed on the selected host. For details, see "PC Test Runs Module Window" on page 164.
Over Firewall tab	For hosts over a firewall, enables you to configure advanced over-firewall settings. For details, see " Over Firewall Page" on page 146.
	Note: Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
History tab	Lists changes made to the currently selected host. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

## Hosts Fields

This section describes the host fields. In Lab Management, you can modify the fields of private and public hosts. In ALM, only the fields of private hosts can be modified.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Active Timeslot ID	The ID of the timeslot for which this host is reserved, and which is now open.
Belongs to Pools	The host pools to which the host is assigned. Host pools enable you to control which hosts are allocated to which projects. When allocating hosts for a test, the system allocates hosts from the host pool of the project. Hosts must be assigned to at least one pool. <b>Note:</b> Private hosts can be assigned to only one pool. <b>Available from:</b> Lab Management only.
Cloud Account	The name of the cloud account from which the host was provisioned.
Cloud Host Identifier	A unique ID for the host assigned by the cloud provider.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Cloud Image	The machine image applied to the cloud host.
Cloud Instance Type	The instance type of the cloud host.
Cloud Request ID	The cloud provider's ID for a single provision request. A provision request includes all requested batches of hosts. Each batch has its own Cloud Request Item ID.
	<b>Tip:</b> You can filter by Cloud Request ID to see all hosts that were provisioned in a single provision request.
Cloud Request Item ID	The cloud provider's ID for a batch of hosts within a provision request. All hosts in a batch have identical specs and configurations.
	<b>Tip:</b> You can filter by Cloud Request Item ID to see all hosts that were provisioned in a single host batch.
Cloud Template	The host template used to provision the host. Changing a host template does not affect existing hosts that were provisioned from the template.
Description	A description of the host.
Enable SSL	Indicates whether the Load Generator host will communicate with the Controller via SSL (Secure Socket Layer) or not.
	<b>Note:</b> The load generator uses SSL to communicate with the Controller during runtime only. For non runtime functionality, such as including collating results, the load generator does not use SSL as the communication protocol.
	Relevant only for load generator hosts located over a firewall.
Host Attributes	The system attributes of the host. <b>Example:</b> Memory, strength, installed components
	<b>Tip:</b> You can customize the host attributes in Lab Management. For details, refer to the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide</i> .
Host ID	The ID of the host.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Host State	The current activity on the host.
	• Idle. Indicates that the host is not being used.
	• Installing. Indicates that a patch is being installed on the host.
	• <b>Rebooting.</b> Indicates that the host is rebooting.
	• <b><run states="">.</run></b> Indicates the host state during a performance test run.
	<ul> <li><data processing="" states="">. Indicates the state of the host during a data processing task.</data></li> </ul>
	• <b><provisioning states="">.</provisioning></b> Indicates the provisioning status of a cloud host. Host State changes to idle once the host is provisioned.
Host Version	The version of the Lab Service agent installed on the testing host.
	<b>Caution:</b> If the Lab Service agent installed on the testing host is not the same version as the ALM server, the testing host status is set to <b>Unavailable</b> and you are unable to execute server-side tests. To reactivate the testing host, upgrade the Lab Service agent to the current version and reset the status in the Testing Host grid to <b>Operational</b> .

Field (A - Z)	Description
Installation	The installation type of the host.
	The following types are available:
	Windows UFT. Indicates that this host has Unified Functional Testing installed.
	HP Unified Functional Testing (UFT) comprises the product formerly known as HP QuickTest Professional and the product known as HP Service Test.
	<ul> <li>Functionality provided by QuickTest is now known as GUI testing in UFT.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Functionality provided by Service Test is also known as API testing in UFT.</li> </ul>
	<b>Note:</b> If you select Windows UFT, Service Test and QTP are selected as default purposes. Windows UFT installations must include at least one of these default purposes.
	• Unix Load Generator. Indicates that this Unix host is used as a Load Generator for performance tests.
	• Windows Host. Indicates that this Windows host can be used for performance purposes (Controller, Load Generator, or Data Processor), or for general functional testing (System Test, Vapi-XP, etc.).
	• Windows Standalone LG. Indicates that this Windows host is used as a standalone Load Generator for performance tests.
	<b>Note:</b> You cannot modify this field for an existing host.
Last Configuration Check	The last configuration check performed.
Last Connectivity Check	The last connectivity check performed.
Last Installation Check	The last installation check performed.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Last Performance Check	The last performance check performed.
Last Poll Time	The last poll performed.
Last Recover Time	The last time the host was restored to Operational status. If a host becomes non-operational, ALM changes the host status to Non-Operational. If the host later becomes operational again, ALM changes the status back to Operational and adds a timestamp to the Last Recover Time field.
Last Run Timeslot ID	The ID of the timeslot during which a performance test ran or data processing occurred on the host.
Location	The location of the host. For example, locations can be defined according to physical areas. The location also determines whether the host is located over a firewall. If so, you need to select an MI Listener that will enable data collection.
Logical Name	The hostname or IP address of the host.
Name/IP	The name or IP address of the host.
	Note: The name should be entered without the hostname suffix.
Password	The password of the Performance Center system user on the host machine. Default: P3rfoRm@1nce Note:  The Performance Center system user name and password are displayed only for UNIX hosts and for any hosts that were migrated
	<ul> <li>from earlier versions of Performance Center.</li> <li>The system user name and password of newly added Windows hosts (details are not displayed here) are the same as the system user name and password of the rest of the Performance Center system.</li> </ul>
PC MI Listener	The IP address or name of the MI Listener that enables data collection. Relevant only for hosts located over a firewall.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Priority	A rank assigned to the host. The higher the priority you give the host, the more likely the host will be allocated to a test. There are a number of criteria to consider when assigning priority. The main considerations are whether the host is a dedicated machine or a shared resource, and the type of hardware installed on the machine.
Created in Project	The project the host was created in. You can modify all hosts in Lab Management, including private hosts. In ALM, you can only create and modify private hosts within the project's pool.
	Note: Available only in Lab Management.
Provider Location ID	The region from which a cloud host was provisioned.
Purpose	The testing tools available on the host. For example: Controller, Load generator, Data processor, QuickTest Professional, Sprinter, and so on.
	Note:
	• If the host machine is located over a firewall, or is a UNIX machine, it cannot function as a Controller or Data processor.
	• If you selected <b>Windows Standalone LG</b> or <b>Unix Load Generator</b> as the installation option, <b>Load Generator</b> is automatically selected as the purpose for the host and the other options are disabled.
Registration Auto	Indicates whether the testing host will be automatically approved after it is registered by HP ALM Lab Service.
Approve	For more details, see "Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298.
Registration Request Date	The time and date that ALM received a host registration request from a newly added testing host.
Registration Request Details	Details about the host that submitted a registration request.
Registration Status	The status of the host's registration. To be able to use the host for testing, you must first register the host using HP ALM Lab Service and the host must be approved by a Lab Administrator in Lab Management.
	For more details, see "Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298.
	<b>Note:</b> You cannot change the <b>Status</b> of the host to "Operational" if the <b>Registration Status</b> is "Not registered".

Field (A - Z)	Description
Source	The testing host's source:
	Local. The host exists in your testing lab.
	Cloud. The host was provisioned from a cloud provider.
Status	The status of the host. An indicator is displayed next to the host name, indicating its current status.
	The possible statuses are:
	• <b>Operational.</b> The host machine is up and running.
	• Non-operational. The host machine is down.
	• Unavailable. There is no information available about the status of the host.
Username	The name of the system user on the host machine.
	Default: IUSR_METRO
	Note:
	• The system user name and password are displayed only for UNIX hosts and for any hosts that were migrated from earlier versions of Lab Management.
	• The system user name and password for newly added Windows hosts (details are not displayed here) are the same as the system user name and password of the rest of the Lab Management system.

# New Testing Host Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to create a testing host.

To access	Lab Management: Under Lab Resources, select Hosts. Then click the New
	Testing Host * button.
	ALM: Under Lab Resources, select Testing Hosts. Then click the New
	Testing Host * button

Important information	<ul> <li>You can create new public hosts in Lab Management only. Hosts created in ALM are considered private hosts and are added directly to the host pool of the project. You can modify private hosts in ALM.</li> <li>You can only create a host over a firewall if it is given the Load generator purpose.</li> </ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears the data.
<b>A</b> ₿	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Name	The name of the new host.
	<b>Tip:</b> Give the host a meaningful name. This can be derived from the location, purpose, type, identity, or operating system of the host. The more information provided with the name, the easier it is to use and maintain the system. Make sure that the name is easy to remember and not too long.
	<b>Caution:</b> For remote hosts being used for functional tests, this must be the name of the computer without the domain name. If the name entered does not match the name of the host you are trying to register, registration will fail.
Details	Required fields are marked with an asterisk (*) and are displayed in red. For details on the available host fields, see "Hosts Fields" on page 130.

# Testing Host Details Dialog Box

This dialog box displays details about a selected host.

To access	• Lab Management: Under Lab Resources, select Hosts. Right-click on a host in the grid and select Testing Host Details.
	• ALM: Under Lab Resources, select <b>Testing Hosts</b> . Right-click on a host in the grid and select <b>Testing Host Details</b> .
Important	This dialog box is available both in Lab Management and in ALM.
Information	• Some UI elements are available only for <b>Performance hosts</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

User interface elements are described below:

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
10 0 0 Q	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of hosts.
AB STATE	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR: E	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Host ID	The ID of the host.
Name	The name of the host.
Details	Lists the details of the currently selected host. For more information about the available host fields, see "Hosts Fields" on page 130.
Installed PC Components	Displays a list of the Performance Center components installed on the host, including version and patches.
	<ul> <li>Note:</li> <li>Use the navigation bar at the bottom of the page to view all the entries.</li> <li>Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.</li> </ul>
Event Log	Displays detailed information about the tasks performed on the selected host, the event status, and a description of any errors. For details, see "Event Log" on page 140.

UI Elements	Description
Installed Programs	Displays a list of all of the programs installed on the host machine. Details include the version, the publisher of the software, and the date it was installed in the host machine.
	Note:
	• Use the navigation bar at the bottom of the page to view all the entries.
	Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
Processes	Displays detailed information about the processes and resource usage of the selected host. For details, see "Processes Page" on page 142.
	Note:
	• Use the navigation bar at the bottom of the page to view all the entries.
	Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
Services	Displays the services running on the host machine. For details, see " Services Page" on page 143.
	Note:
	• Use the navigation bar at the bottom of the page to view all the entries.
	Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
Check Hosts Status	Displays the status of each step of the host checks. To see host check status details, right click a line in the Check Host Status tab, and select <b>Check Host Status Details</b> . For details, see "Check Host Status Fields" on page 145.
PC Runs	Displays detailed information about test runs performed on the selected host. For details, see "PC Test Runs Module Window" on page 164.
	<b>Note:</b> Use the navigation bar at the bottom of the page to view all the entries.

UI Elements	Description
Over Firewall	For hosts over a firewall, enables you configure advanced over-firewall settings. For details, see " Over Firewall Page" on page 146.
	Note: Available only for hosts with Performance purposes.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected host. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# Event Log

The Event Log displays the events that occur in a project, reporting the source and severity of each event.

To access	Use one of the following:
	Click 💭 and select Event Log.
	• Select the Event Log tab.
	Available from the following modules:
	<ul> <li>In Lab Management. Hosts, PC Test Runs, Timeslots, PC Servers.</li> </ul>
	In the ALM project. Timeslots (Grid view only), Hosts, Test Runs.
Important information	• The Event Log is only available in the Grid view.
	• The Event Log displays information for the relevant selection. That is, it displays events for an entire project, timeslot, host, server, and so on.
	• The time interval in days that deletable events remain in the EVENT_LOG database table is determined by the EVENT_LOG_PURGE_PERIOD_DAYS parameter. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide</i> .

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
7	<b>Set Filter.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the resources in the event log. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the event log, and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Refresh. Refreshes the event log so it displays the most up-to-date information.
	<b>Export All.</b> Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the resources in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.
Action	The category of action where the event occurred.
	Example. Create Server
Context	The specific entity where the event occurred.
	Example. PC Server: VM05
Creation Date	The date and time the event was logged.
Description	A description of the event.
Event Log ID	The event ID.
Event Name	The name of the event.
Event Type	An indication of the event's severity. From most to least severe: error, warning, or info.
Flow Context ID	A GUID that indicates a unique action which relates to several events. For example, running a test.
Module	The ALM module where the event originated.
	Example. Testing
Project Name	The project in which the event occurred.
Responsible	The user, or automated system process responsible for the event.
Source	The system element where the event originated.
Sub Module	The ALM sub module where the event occurred.
	Example. Test Lab

# **Processes Page**

This page displays detailed information about the processes and resource usage of the selected host.

To access	<ul> <li>From the Hosts module: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. In the information panel, select Processes.</li> <li>From the Host Details dialog box: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. Right-click a host and select Host Details. In the Host Details dialog box, select Processes.</li> </ul>
Important information	<ul> <li>ALM is unable to display processes and resource usage information for UNIX machines or Windows Standalone Load Generators.</li> <li>The Processes page is available only for Performance hosts.</li> </ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
Ø	<b>Refresh.</b> Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
*	<ul> <li>Kill Process. Ends the process selected in the grid.</li> <li>Hosts module. Kill Process permissions are required to end the selected process.</li> <li>Lab Management Servers module. A user with Viewer permissions has the ability to end the selected process.</li> </ul>
Auto Refresh	Refreshes the grid automatically after the selected time interval has passed.

UI Elements	Description
<processes< th=""><th>Displays the following details about the processes:</th></processes<>	Displays the following details about the processes:
griu>	Name. The name of the process.
	• PID. The process ID.
	• Processor Time (%). The percentage of processor time used by the process.
	• Memory Usage (KBytes). The amount of memory (in kilobytes) used by the process.
	• Elapsed Time (d.hh:mm:ss). The amount of elapsed time since the start of the process, where d is the number of days and hh:mm:ss is the number of hours, minutes, and seconds that have elapsed.
<navigation area&gt;</navigation 	Enables you to navigate through the pages of entries in the grid. The total number of entries is displayed on the right of the navigation area.
	Located at the bottom of the page.

# Services Page

This page displays the services on the selected host.

To access	<ul> <li>Hosts module: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. In the Information Panel, select Services.</li> <li>Host Details dialog box: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. Right-click a host and select Host Details. In the Host Details dialog box, select Services.</li> </ul>
Important information	The Services page is available only for Performance hosts.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
Ø	Refresh. Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
Name	The name of the service.

UI Elements	Description
Display Name	The full name of the service.
Status	The status of the service: Running or Stopped.
Startup Type	<ul> <li>The way the service is set to start up:</li> <li>Auto. Service starts up automatically.</li> <li>Disabled. Service is disabled.</li> <li>Manual. Service must be started manually.</li> </ul>
<navigation area&gt;</navigation 	Located at the bottom of the page, enables you to navigate through the pages of entries in the grid. The total number of entries is displayed on the right of the navigation area.

# Check Host Status Page

This page displays the status of checks on the selected host.

To access	<ul> <li>From the Hosts module: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. Select a host, and in the information panel, select Check Host Status.</li> <li>From the Host Details dialog box: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. Right-click a host and select Host Details. In the Host Details dialog box, select Check Host Status.</li> </ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
	<b>Check Host Status Details.</b> Opens the Check Host Status Details dialog box, enabling you to view each check's details. For field details, see "Check Host Status Fields" on the next page.
Ø	<b>Refresh.</b> Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
UI Elements	Description
---	--
¥.	<b>Set Filter/Sort.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Q	<b>Find.</b> Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a check. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<check Host Status grid&gt;</check 	Displays the status of the host checks. Click to select columns to display in the grid. For details about the fields, see "Check Host Status Fields" below.

### **Check Host Status Fields**

Field (A - Z)	Description
Actual Value	Actual value resulting from the host connectivity check.
Category	The areas in which the Check Host feature checks the host: <ul> <li>Configuration</li> <li>Connectivity</li> <li>Installation</li> <li>Performance</li> </ul>
Check	The sub-areas in which the Check Host feature checks the hosts. For example, sub- areas in the Performance check are <b>Processor</b> , <b>Memory</b> , <b>System</b> .
Check Date	The date the host was checked.
Check Result ID	The ID of each step of the host check.

The following fields are displayed in the Check Host Status page:

Field (A - Z)	Description
Error	If an error occurred during the check, displays the error.
Expected Value	Value expected to result from the host check.
Status	Indicates whether the host check passed or failed.

## **Over Firewall Page**

This page displays communication settings between the Performance Center load generator host and the MI Listener, and enables you to configure advanced over-firewall settings for the selected load generator host.

To access	<ul> <li>From the Hosts module: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. In the information panel, select Over Firewall.</li> <li>From the Host Details dialog box: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts. Right-click a host and select Host Details. In the Host Details</li> </ul>
	dialog box, select <b>Over Firewall</b> .
Important information	• This page displays information if the location of the host is defined to be over a firewall.
	• A host over a firewall can be used only as a load generator host.
	The Over Firewall page is available only for Performance hosts.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
	"How to Manage MI Listeners" on page 217
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104
	"MI Listeners Overview" on page 217

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Connection Timeout (seconds)	The length of time that the agent waits before retrying to connect to the MI Listener machine. If zero, the connection is kept open from the time the agent is run. <b>Default</b> : 20 seconds. <b>Note:</b> This is a required field.
Connection Type - TCP/HTTP	Select either <b>TCP</b> or <b>HTTP</b> , depending on the configuration you are using. <b>Default:</b> TCP
HTTP	<ul> <li>HTTP settings for the HTTP connection type:</li> <li>Proxy Name. The name of the proxy server. This field is mandatory if the Connection Type option is set to HTTP.</li> <li>Proxy Port. The proxy server connection port. This field is mandatory if the Connection Type option is set to HTTP.</li> <li>Proxy Username. The user name of a user with connection rights to the proxy server.</li> <li>Proxy password. The password of the user with connection rights to the proxy server.</li> <li>Proxy domain. The user's domain, if defined in the proxy server configuration. This option is required only if NTLM is used.</li> </ul>
MI Listener Password	The password required to connect to the MI Listener machine.
MI Listener User Name	The user name required to connect to the MI Listener machine.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Polling Timeout (seconds)	To verify the state of the load generator located over a firewall, ALM checks when last the load generator connected to the MI Listener.
	If the load generator has not connected to the MI Listener machine for a period of time longer than the amount of time set in the <b>Polling Timeout</b> , Lab Management changes the state of the load generator to <b>Resource Failure</b> .
	Default: 60 seconds
	Note:
	• This is a required field.
	<ul> <li>Polling Timeout is an ALM setting. It is not set in the Performance Center agent.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Polling Timeout needs to be longer than the Connection Timeout, described below.</li> </ul>
Use secure	Enables connection using the Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) protocol.
connection	Default: Disabled
	• Check server certificates. Authenticates the SSL certificates that are sent by the server. Select <b>Medium</b> to verify that the server certificate is signed by a trusted Certification Authority. Select <b>High</b> to verify that the sender IP matches the certificate information. This setting is available only if <b>Use Secure Connection</b> is set to <b>True</b> .
	• <b>Private Key password.</b> The password that may be required during the SSL certificate authentication process. This option is relevant only if the <b>Client Certificate Owner</b> option is enabled.
	• Use client certificate. Enable to load the SSL certificate (if required by the server to allow the connection to be made). This option is relevant only if the Use Secure Connection option is enabled.
	Default: Disabled

## Select Patch to Install Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to install patches on Performance hosts.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Hosts.</li> <li>Click the Host Operations drop-down arrow and select Install Patch.</li> </ol>
	<b>Tip:</b> You can install a patch on multiple hosts simultaneously. To select multiple hosts, hold down the CTRL key on your keyboard while selecting the hosts.
Important information	You can install patches in Lab Management only.
	• To install patches on a host, the patches first need to have been uploaded to
	ALM. For details, see "How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243.
Relevant tasks	ALM. For details, see "How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243. "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106

User interface elements are described below:

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
<patches grid=""></patches>	Displays the patches available in ALM to install on the selected host.

## **Pools Module**

Pools Module Window	149
Pools Fields	.151
New Host Pool Dialog Box	151
Host Pool Details Dialog Box	152
Add Hosts to Pool Dialog Box	.154
Linked Hosts Page	155

### Pools Module Window

This module enables you to view and manage host pools.

**To access** On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select **Pools**.

Important information	A host pool is a groups of hosts. Each project has one host pool.	
	<b>HP ALM Performance Center Edition:</b> When managing a host pool with performance hosts, it is important to understand the total available resources. The host pool must contain at least one Controller, one load generator, and one data processor. Because hosts can have dual functionality, it is recommended that a pool contains, among the other hosts, at least one host that can be dedicated fully for Controller functionality.	
	A private host can only exist in one pool at a time.	
	You can add hosts to a host pool in a few different ways. See "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106.	
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Pools" on page 114	
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104	

UI Elements	Description
<host module<br="" pools="">common UI elements&gt;</host>	• <b>Pools module fields.</b> For field definitions, see "Pools Fields" on the next page.
	• Pools module menus and buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "Lab Resources Module Menus and Buttons" on page 121.
<host grid="" pools=""></host>	Displays a list of the host pools defined in ALM.
Description tab	Describes the currently selected host pool.
	<b>Tip:</b> Right-clicking in this area displays a toolbar for formatting and spell checking the text.
Linked Hosts tab	Enables you to add hosts to the selected pool and remove hosts from the pool. For details, see "Linked Hosts Page" on page 155.
History tab	Lists changes made to the currently selected host pool. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

## **Pools Fields**

This section describes the host pool fields:

Field (A - Z)	Description
C+LG Hosts	The number of hosts with both Controller and Load generator purposes in the host pool.
Controller Hosts	The number of Controller hosts in the host pool.
Description	A description of the host pool.
DP Hosts	The number of Data processor hosts in the host pool.
LG Hosts	The number of Load generator hosts in the host pool.
Pool ID	The ID of the host pool.
Pool Name	The name of the host pool.          Note: The name may contain up to 255 characters, excluding spaces, periods, and any of the following characters:         :; * \ / " ~ & ? {} \$ %   <> + = ^ []()
Total Hosts	The total number of hosts in the host pool.

### New Host Pool Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to add a host pool to ALM.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select <b>Pools.</b></li> <li>In the Reels module, click the <b>New Hest Reel</b> + butter</li> </ol>
Important information	Each project has one host pool, which must contain at least one Controller, one load generator, and one data processor host.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Pools" on page 114
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears the data.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AB:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Pool Name	The name for the new host pool.
Details	Required fields are marked with an asterisk (*) and are displayed in red. For details on the available host pool fields, see "Pools Fields" on the previous page.

### Host Pool Details Dialog Box

This dialog box displays details about a selected host pool.

📮 Host Pool Details		K
K O O O 🍫 🛚	2 4 E	
* Pool Name: 998_small_mer	rged_pool	
Details	Details	_
Linked Hosts     History	LG Hosts: 1 Controller 0 C+LG Hosts: 1 Total Hosts: 2 DP Hosts: 1 Pool ID: 1024 Description 998 small contains 001_aliza_002_sub	_
	OK Cancel Help	

To access	1. On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Pools.
	2. Right-click a host pool in the grid and select Host Pool Details.

Important information	<ul> <li>A host pool is a groups of hosts. Each project has one host pool.</li> <li>When managing a host pool, it is important to understand the total available resources. The pool must contain at least one Controller, one load generator, and one data processor. Because hosts can have dual functionality, it is recommended that a pool contain, among the other hosts, at least one host that can be dedicated fully for Controller functionality.</li> </ul>
	• A private host can only exist in one pool at a time.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Pools" on page 114
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
10 0 0 Q	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of host pools.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Pool Name	The name of the host pool.
Details	Lists the details of the selected host pool. For details on the available fields, see "Pools Fields" on page 151.
Linked Hosts	Enables you to add hosts to the selected pool and remove hosts from the pool. For details, see "Linked Hosts Page" on page 155.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected host pool. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

## Add Hosts to Pool Dialog Box

This page enables you to select hosts to add to a host pool.

To access	From the Pools module:
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Pools. In the
	information panel, select Linked Hosts and click the Add Hosts to Pool
	From the Host Pool Details dialog box:
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Lab Resources</b> , select <b>Pools</b> . Right- click a host pool and select <b>Host Pool Details</b> . In the Host Pool Details dialog
	box, select Linked Hosts and click the Add Hosts to Pool 🚈 button.
Important information	Alternatively, you can link a single host to multiple host pools from the <b>Belongs</b> <b>To Pools</b> field in the host's details. For details, see "Hosts Fields" on page 130.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Pools" on page 114
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
Ø	<b>Refresh All.</b> Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
¥ •	<b>Set Filter/Sort.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Add	Adds the selected hosts to the host pool.
<hosts grid&gt;</hosts 	Lists the hosts available to add to the host pool.
Selected	Displays the hosts selected to add to the pool.

## Linked Hosts Page

This page enables you to add hosts to a host pool, and remove hosts from a pool.

To access	<ul> <li>From the Pools module: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Pools. In the information panel, select Linked Hosts.</li> <li>From the Host Pool Details dialog box: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Pools. Right-click a host pool and select Host Pool Details. In the Host Pool Details dialog box, select Linked Hosts.</li> </ul>
Important information	The Linked Hosts page enables you to link multiple hosts to a host pool. Alternatively, you can link a single host to multiple host pools from the <b>Belongs</b> <b>To Pools</b> field in the host's details. For details, see "Hosts Fields" on page 130.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Pools" on page 114
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
	<b>Testing Host Details.</b> Opens the Host Details dialog box, enabling you to view details about the selected linked host. For details, see "Testing Host Details Dialog Box" on page 137.
834	Add Hosts to Pool. Opens the Add Hosts to Pool dialog box, enabling you to select hosts to add to the host pool. For details, see "Add Hosts to Pool Dialog Box" on the previous page.
8	Remove Host. Removes the selected hosts from the host pool.
۵	Go to Host. Displays the selected linked host in the Hosts module.
Ø	Refresh All. Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
¥.	<b>Set Filter/Sort.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements	Description
Q.	<b>Find.</b> Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a host. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<linked Hosts grid&gt;</linked 	Lists the hosts that belong to the host pool.

# **Locations Module**

Locations Module Window	156
Locations Fields	. 157
New Host Location Dialog Box	. 157
Host Location Details Dialog Box	158

## Locations Module Window

This module enables you to view and manage host locations.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Locations.
	Note: The Locations module is only available from Lab Management.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Locations" on page 115
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

UI Elements	Description
<locations module<br="">common UI elements&gt;</locations>	<ul> <li>Locations module fields. For field definitions, see "Locations Fields" on the next page.</li> <li>Locations module menus and buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "Lab Resources Module Menus and Buttons" on page 121.</li> </ul>
<host locations<br="">grid&gt;</host>	Displays a list of the host locations defined in ALM.

UI Elements	Description
Description tab	Describes the currently selected host location.
	<b>Tip:</b> Right-clicking in this area displays a toolbar for formatting and spell checking the text.
History tab	Lists changes made to the currently selected host location. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### **Locations Fields**

This section describes the host location fields:

Field (A - Z)	Description
Cloud Provider	Displays the cloud provider from which the location was created.
	For cloud locations only.
Description	A description of the host location.
Location ID	The ID of the host location.
Location Name	The name of the host location. The name should have a logical connection to the host location.
Over Firewall	Indicates whether the host location is over a firewall.
Provider Location ID	Displays the Location ID used by the cloud provider to identify the location. For cloud locations only.

## New Host Location Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to add a host location to ALM.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Locations.</li> <li>In the Locations module, click the New Host Location button.</li> </ol>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Locations" on page 115
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears the data.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
Re	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Location Name	The name for the new host location.
Details	Required fields are marked with an asterisk (*) and are displayed in red. For details on the available host location fields, see "Locations Fields" on the previous page.

## Host Location Details Dialog Box

This dialog box displays details about a selected host location.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Locations.</li> <li>Right-click a location in the grid and select Host Location Details.</li> </ol>
Important information	Host locations must be defined before you can select them in a host's details.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Host Locations" on page 115
See also	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
K 4 6 A	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of host locations.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.

UI Elements	Description
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Location ID	The ID of the host location.
Location Name	The name of the host location.
Details	Lists the details of the currently selected host location. For details on the available fields, see "Locations Fields" on page 157.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected host location. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

## **Timeslots Module**

This section contains user interface information for Timeslot module screens which are exclusive to the Lab Management project. For detailed user interface information about the Timeslots module, refer to the *HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide*.

## *Timeslot Reservation: Maintenance Dialog Box*

This dialog box enables you to reserve a maintenance timeslot and view details of a reserved maintenance timeslot.

To access	New maintenance timeslot reservation (Lab Management only):
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Lab Resources</b> , select <b>Timeslots</b> . Then use one of the following:
	On the Timeslots toolbar, click the New Timeslot button.
	<ul> <li>Calendar view only: Double-click anywhere on the calendar, or right-click the target time and select New Timeslot.</li> </ul>
	Existing maintenance timeslot reservation:
	From Lab Management: On the sidebar, under Lab Resources, select Timeslots.
	From ALM: On the sidebar, under Testing, select Timeslots.
	Then use one of the following:
	<ul> <li>Grid View: Right-click a timeslot of type Maintenance and select Timeslot Details.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Calendar view only: Right-click a maintenance (yellow) timeslot and select Timeslot Details.</li> </ul>
Important	• Use this dialog box to reserve or view a <b>maintenance</b> timeslot.
information	• For testing timeslots and data processing timeslots, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.
Relevant tasks	"How to Reserve Timeslots" on page 117
See also	HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide

UI Elements	Description
Run	Indicates that the timeslot is a maintenance type.
Start	Indicates that the maintenance task is performed manually.
	<b>Note:</b> This field is disabled and the selection cannot be changed.

UI Elements	Description
Name	A descriptive name for the timeslot.
Duration	The duration of the maintenance timeslot, in hours and minutes.
	<b>Note:</b> A maintenance timeslot can be reserved for a minimum of between 15 minutes and maximum of 480 hours (20 days).
Start Time	The date and time (in hours and minutes) that the timeslot starts.
	<b>Note:</b> If you need to reserve a host for a maintenance task, and the host is already reserved for running a test in the same timeslot, then you can modify the start of the testing timeslot, or delete the testing timeslot. Consult with the user who reserved the testing timeslot before making any changes.
End Time	The date and time (in hours and minutes) that the timeslot ends.
Add Specific Host	Opens the Add Specific Host dialog box, enabling you to select hosts for the maintenance timeslot. For more details, see <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
	Note: You must select at least one host for the timeslot.
	Available: For new, open, or future maintenance timeslots.
*	<b>Remove.</b> Removes the selected host from the lists of requested hosts.
	<b>Set Start Time as Now.</b> Selects the current time in the resource availability chart.
	<b>Note:</b> A timeslot whose start time is set to the current time opens the immediately upon submitting the reservation.
Calculate Availability	Calculates the availability of the requested resources for the selected timeslot. The results are displayed graphically on the resource availability timeline, and a message is displayed in the <b>Timeslot Status</b> tab.
<message bar=""></message>	Located at the top of the dialog box. Displays messages and warnings about the timeslot.
	Available for: Existing timeslots only.

UI Elements	Description			
<resource< th=""><th>Displays the availability of requested resources on a timeline:</th></resource<>	Displays the availability of requested resources on a timeline:			
	• Availability not calculated. Displayed on the timeline before you calculate the availability of the requested resources for a new timeslot, or when modifying a timeslot.			
	• <b>Start Times.</b> Indicates suggested start times for the timeslots, when the requested resources are available.			
	• X Insufficient Resources. Indicates that not all the requested resources are available at the start times indicated on the timeline.			
	• Jean License/Project Limit. Indicates license or project limit issues at the start times indicated on the timeline. For example, more hosts requested than available in the license limit.			
	• <b>Our New Provide an Unknown.</b> Displayed before calculating the availability of the requested resources for the timeslot.			
	• Unavailable Resource. Indicates that a requested resource is not available at the start times indicated on the timeline.			
Requested Hosts grid	Displays the hosts requested for the timeslot.			
	Note: You must select at least one host for the timeslot.			
Timeslot Status tab	Displays the status of the timeslot reservation.			
	For details about timeslot failure, see <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .			
Description tab	Describes the currently selected timeslot.			
	<b>Tip:</b> Right-clicking in this area displays a toolbar for formatting and spell checking the text.			
Additional Details tab	Displays additional details related to the timeslot.			
	Available for: Existing timeslots only.			
Event Log tab	Displays a log of events related to the timeslot. For details, refer to the "Event Log" on page 140.			
	Available: Existing timeslot details.			

# **Chapter 7: PC Test Runs**

This chapter includes:

PC Test Runs Module Overview	
PC Test Runs User Interface	163

# PC Test Runs Module Overview

The PC Test Runs module displays information for all test runs across all projects in the system. It enables you to view detailed information relating to the run state of the test, the Vusers involved, as well as host and timeslot information. You can use the Event Log to drill down and view details of specific events for each test.

# PC Test Runs User Interface

This section includes:

PC Test Runs Module Window	164
PC Test Runs Module Fields	.165
PC Test Runs Module Menus and Buttons	.167
Run Details Dialog Box	. 169

## PC Test Runs Module Window

This module displays information for individual test runs across all projects in the system.

То	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select PC Test
access	Runs.

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description		
<pc runs<br="" test="">module common UI elements&gt;</pc>	<ul> <li>PC Test Runs module fields. For field definitions, see "PC Test Runs Module Fields" on the next page.</li> <li>PC Test Runs module menus and buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "PC Test Runs Module Menus and Buttons" on page 167.</li> </ul>		
	• ALM main menu and sidebar. For details on the <b>Tools</b> menu, <b>Help</b> menu and sidebar, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .		
<pc grid="" runs="" test=""></pc>	Displays a list of test runs across all projects, displaying detailed information for each test run.		

#### Event Log Tab

UI Elements	Description
<b>∀</b> •	<b>Set Filter.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the resources in the event log. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the event log, and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Ø	Refresh. Refreshes the event log so it displays the most up-to-date information.
	<b>Export All.</b> Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the resources in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.
	<b>Event Details.</b> Opens the Event Details dialog box, enabling you to view details of the selected event log.

UI Elements	Description	
Action	The category of action where the event occurred.	
	Example. Create Server	
Creation Date	The date and time the event was logged.	
Context	The specific entity where the event occurred.	
	Example. PC Server: VM05	
Description	A description of the event.	
Event Log ID	The event ID.	
Event Name	The name of the event.	
Event Type	An indication of the event's severity. From most to least severe: error, warning, or info.	
Flow Context ID	A GUID that indicates a unique action which relates to several events. For example, running a test.	
Module	The ALM module where the event originated.	
	Example. Testing	
Project Name	The project in which the event occurred.	
Responsible	The user, or automated system process responsible for the event.	
Sub Module	The ALM sub module where the event occurred.	
	Example. Test Lab	

# PC Test Runs Module Fields

The following fields are available in the PC Test Runs module:

Field	Description		
Average Vusers	The average number of concurrently running Vusers during the run.		
Controller	The Controller involved in the test run.		
Domain/Project	The test's domain and project.		

Field	Description		
Duration	The time, in minutes, that the test took to run.		
	Note: You should not manually edit this field.		
End Date	The end date of the run.		
	Note: You should not manually edit this field.		
Involved Vusers	The number of Vusers that were initialized at least once during the run.		
Load Generators	The load generators involved in the test run.		
Max Vusers	The maximum number of concurrently running Vusers during the run.		
Project ID	The test's project ID.		
Run ID	The identification number of the test run. This number is automatically generated by the system when the load test starts running.		
Run Name	The test run name.		
State	The state of the test run. If a test is stuck in a particular state, you can change it.		
Start date	The start date of the run.		
	Note: You should not manually edit this field.		
Start time	The start time of the run.		
	Note: You should not manually edit this field.		
Temp Results Directory Path	The path of the directory where the test results are temporarily stored.		
Test Name	The name given to the test when it was created.		
Tester	The name of the user running the test.		
Consume VUDs	The number of VUDs used in the test run.		
Timeslot ID	The ID of the test run timeslot.		

# PC Test Runs Module Menus and Buttons

This section describes the menus and buttons available in the PC Test Runs module.

То	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select PC Test
access	Runs.

Common menus and toolbars of the PC Test Runs module are described below:

UI Elements	Where	Description
	<right-< th=""><th>Stops a currently running test.</th></right-<>	Stops a currently running test.
Stop Run 💌	menu>	<b>Note:</b> Only enabled when the selected test run is in the <b>Initializing</b> , <b>Running</b> or <b>Stopping</b> states.
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Copy URL	Runs and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Copies a selected test run and pastes its URL as a link. The test run itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking the link opens up ALM and takes you to the test run file or folder. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Deletes the selected test run.
Delete 🎽		<b>Note:</b> Only enabled when the selected test run is not in one of the active states.
Data Processor Queue	<right- click menu&gt;</right- 	If you analyze a test run after it has run, or recalculate the SLA, or add the test run to a trend report, then the action is added to a data processing queue, enabling you to see when the action is performed.
Export	Runs and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the test runs in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.
		All. Exports all test runs in the grid
		Selected. Exports selected test runs in the grid.

UI Elements	Where	Description
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for test runs in the module. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User</i> <i>Guide</i> .
Go to Run ಖ	Runs	Opens the Go To Run dialog box, enabling you to find a specific test run by its ID number. You can only go to test runs that are in the current filter.
Go to Timeslot 🄊	<right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Timeslots module, displaying the timeslot for the selected test run.
Grid Filters	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Enables you to filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Information Panel	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Organize Favorites dialog box, enabling you to organize the list of favorite views by changing properties or deleting views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Private	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.
Public	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Run Details 💷	Runs and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Run Details dialog box, enabling you to view and edit details of the selected test run.
Run Screen	<right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Performance Test Run screen, enabling you to view and manage the test run. For more information, refer to the <i>HP ALM Performance Center Guide</i> .
		<b>Note:</b> Only enabled when test run is in the <b>Running</b> state.

UI Elements	Where	Description	
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .	
		For details about the test run fields, see "PC Test Runs Module Fields" on page 165.	
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the test runs in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .	

# Run Details Dialog Box

This dialog box displays test run details.

To access	1.	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>PC Test Runs</b> .
	2.	Right-click a test run in the grid, and select Run Details.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
10 0 0 0	<b>First/Previous/Next/Last Entity.</b> Enables you to browse through the list of projects.
4E	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	<b>Spelling Options.</b> Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Details	Displays the details of the selected test run. For more details, see "PC Test Runs Module Fields" on page 165.
Event Log	Lists the events that occurred during the selected test run. For more details, see "Event Log" on page 140.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
History	Lists changes made to the selected test run. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# **Chapter 8: Usage Reports**

This chapter includes:

Usage Reports Overview	171
How to Generate Usage Reports	172
How to Export Reports to PDF or Excel Formats	173
Usage Report Time Frames	173
Usage Reports User Interface	174

# **Usage Reports Overview**

The ALM Performance Center Usage Reports module provides you with an overall analysis of Performance Center. The analysis includes site users, resource usage, concurrent resource usage vs. license limitations, timeslot usage, and resource usage by duration and runs. When working with cloud -based hosts, you can also analyze and monitor cloud resource consumption.

Report	Description
Resource Summary	Shows aggregate data regarding the way projects used the various resources of the system.
Concurrency vs. License	Shows details of concurrent resource usage per project, as well as information regarding how system resources were used within license limitations.
Timeslot Usage	Shows information about the reservation and usage of resources associated with timeslots.
Resource by Duration	Shows general information about the usage of your system resources over the selected time frame. You can view statistics for total usage by project, or per user within a project.
Resource by Runs	Shows general information about the test runs. You can view statistics for total usage by project, or per user within a project.
VUDs License Usage per Project	Shows information about VUD usage per day for each selected project.
Daily VUDs License Usage	Shows information about VUD usage per day, aggregated across all projects.

The following table provides a description of each report:

Report	Description
Cloud High Level Report	Shows a breakdown of credits consumed and hosts provisioned per project.
Cloud Credits by Type	Shows consumed credits per location, per template, per instance, and per image.
Cloud Utilization	Shows a per-project summary of total cloud host uptime or running time vs. idle time, as well as the credit value of total idle time.
Cloud Operations	Shows individual provisioning and terminating operations as well as detailed provisioning data for each host.

For information about how to view the reports, see "How to Generate Usage Reports" below.

# How to Generate Usage Reports

This task describes how to view the Usage Reports and how to set their filter criteria. The filter criteria defines which projects are to be included in the reports and over which time frame to display results.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

To learn more about ALM Performance Center reports, see "Usage Reports Overview" on the previous page.

#### 1. Select the desired report to view

In Lab Management, under **Performance Center** select **Usage Reports** to view the ALM Performance Center reports tree. From the tree, select the desired report to view.

For a description of each report's user interface elements, see "Usage Reports User Interface" on page 174.

#### 2. Select the desired projects to include in the report

Select the desired projects from the Projects drop-down list.

Note: You must select at least one project to generate a report.

#### 3. Select the desired time range for the report

Select the desired time frame for the report from the **Time Frame** drop-down list. In addition to the given options, you can set a custom time frame.

For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on the next page.

4. Select the desired cloud accounts for the report

Select the desired cloud accounts for the report from the Accounts drop-down list.

Available in: Cloud usage reports

### 5. Update the report to reflect the new filter settings

Click Generate. The report displays the information for the selected projects and time frame.

# How to Export Reports to PDF or Excel Formats

The following task describes how to export a Performance Center report to either PDF or Excel format.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

### Export a report to PDF

To export a report to a PDF file, click **Export to PDF** in the upper right corner of the report.

Not Available in: Cloud usage reports

### Export a report to an editable Excel file

To export a report to an editable Excel file, click **Export to Excel** in the upper right corner of the report.

# **Usage Report Time Frames**

The following table provides an explanation of the time frames available for report selection.

Time Frame	Explanation
Today	From 00.00 to 23.59 of the current day
Yesterday	From 00.00 to 23.59 of the previous day
This week	From Monday to Sunday of the current week
Previous week	From Monday to Sunday of the previous week
This month	From beginning to end of the current calendar month
Previous month	From beginning to end of the previous calendar month

Time Frame	Explanation
This quarter	The current quarter
Previous quarter	The previous quarter
This year	From January to December of the current year
Previous year	From January to December of the previous year

# **Usage Reports User Interface**

When viewing the Usage reports in a resolution of 1024x768, to see all user interface controls, collapse the ALM modules and/or the reports selection tree.

This section includes:

Resource Summary Report	. 175
Concurrency vs. License Report	177
Timeslot Usage Report	. 183
Resource by Duration Report	. 185
Resource Usage by Runs Report	188
VUDs License Usage per Project Report	. 191
Daily VUDs License Usage Report	193
Cloud High Level Report	194
Cloud Credits by Type Report	197
Cloud Utilization Report	. 200
Cloud Operations Report	. 202

# **Resource Summary Report**

The Resource Summary Report provides aggregate data regarding the way projects used the various resources of the system.

The report provides aggregate details regarding resource usage on a per-project basis					D2 😡 🕜
Projects: All Items Check	ed 🗸 Time Frame:	Today	Generate		
Resource Usage by Project 🔤	p Projects by Machines   Top Project	s by Runs   Top Projects by Vus	ers		
		Resourc	e Usage by Project		
	(x = Deleted project)	Dune	Vueare	Machinee	Duration (hep-mino)
Project	(x - Deleted project)	Rulis	* users	muchines	Duration [his.initis]
DEFAULT\test	(x - Deleted project)	17	160	32	0:57
Project DEFAULT\test DEFAULT\AFC01	(v – neieren hinleri)	17 7	160	32	0:57
Project DEFAULT\seat DEFAULT\AFC01	(ν - σεισικά μισίος)	17 7	160	32	0.57 0.57
Project DEFAULTItest DEFAULTIAFC01	(v – neisten hiolori)	runs 17 7	160	32	0.57 0.57

To access	ALM / Lab Management:
	1. Select Performance Center> Usage Reports.
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Resource Summary</b> .
	My Performance Center:
	1. Select <b>Perspective &gt; Usage Reports</b> .
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Resource Summary</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report.
Filter by: Projects	Select which project to include in the report. Available from: Lab Management only
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Resource Usage by Project tab	Contains a table that provides resource usage information for each selected project.
	For more information, see "Resource Usage by Project Table" below.
Top Projects	Contains a graph which displays the number of machines used per project, aggregated over all the runs.
by Machines	X-axis. The number of machines used per project.
tab	<b>Y-axis.</b> Projects displayed in descending order according to the number of machines used.
	<b>Note:</b> In most circumstances, the graph displays information for up to ten selected projects. If there is more than one selected project with the same number of maximum concurrent runs, all these projects are displayed. In that case, more than ten projects might be displayed.
Тор	Contains a graph that displays the number of test runs per project.
Projects by Runs	X-axis. The number of test runs per project.
tab	Y-axis. Projects displayed in descending order according to the number of test runs.
	<b>Note:</b> In most circumstances, the graph displays information for up to ten selected projects. If there is more than one selected project with the same number of maximum concurrent runs, all these projects are displayed. In that case, more than ten projects might be displayed.
Top Projects	Contains a graph that displays the number of Vusers per project, aggregated over all the runs.
by Vusers	X-axis. The number of Vusers per project.
tab	Y-axis. Projects displayed in descending order according to the number of Vusers.

### Resource Usage by Project Table

Important	You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the
information	heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order.
	Click the column heading to reverse the order.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Duration	The total time tests were run in the project.
Machines	The total number of machines that were used in the project, aggregated over all the runs.
Project	The project name. Deleted projects are also included in the report and are indicated by a red x.
Runs	The total number of test runs in the project, aggregated over all the tests.
Vusers	The total number of Vusers in the project, aggregated over all the runs.

# Concurrency vs. License Report

The Concurrency vs. License Report provides details of concurrent resource usage per project, as well as information regarding how system resources were used within license limitations.

		D 🕞 😧	
Concurrency by Project			
current Mach	nines	Overall Duration	
Avg	Limit	[hrs:mins]	
0.0	1000	0.00	
0.0	1000	0.00	
	urrent Macl	Avrg Limit 0.0 1000 0.0 1000	

To access	ALM / Lab Management:
	1. Select Performance Center> Usage Reports.
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select Concurrency vs. License.
	My Performance Center:
	1. Select Perspective > Usage Reports.
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Concurrency vs. License</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report.
Filter by:	Select which project to include in the report.
Projects	Available from: Lab Management only
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
Concurrency by Project	Contains a table that displays concurrent resource usage information for each selected project.
tad	For more information, see "Concurrency by Project Table" on the next page.
Overall Concurrency tab	Contains a table that displays concurrent resource usage information aggregated over all selected projects, as well as aggregated over all projects in the system.
	For more information, see "Overall Concurrency Table" on page 180.
Overall License Usage tab	Contains a graph that displays maximum and average Runs and Vuser usage as a percentage of the Performance Center license limitations, allowing the administrator to determine the percentage of the Performance Center license that is actually used.
	The usage is aggregated over all selected projects, as well as aggregated over all projects in the system.
	For more information, see "Overall License Usage Graph" on page 180.
Top Projects by Runs tab	Contains a graph that displays the maximum and average number of concurrent runs per project as a percentage of the project limit, which is defined in the project settings (Lab Settings > Project Settings). This helps the administrator identify those projects that run most efficiently within their given limitations.
	For more information, see "Top Projects by Runs Graph" on page 181.
Top Projects by Vusers tab	Contains a graph that displays the maximum and average number of concurrent running Vusers per project as a percentage of the project limit, which is defined in the project settings ( <b>Lab Settings</b> > <b>Project Settings</b> ). This helps the administrator identify those projects that run most efficiently within their given limitations.
	For more information, see "Top Projects by Vusers Graph" on page 182.

### **Concurrency by Project Table**

Important	You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the
Information	heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order.
	Click the column heading to reverse the order.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Concurrent Machines Avg	The average number of concurrent running machines (controllers and load generators) in all of the project's concurrent test runs.
Concurrent Machines Limit	The maximum number of concurrent running machines allowed for this project as defined in the project settings (Lab Settings > Project Settings).
Concurrent Machines Max	The maximum number of concurrent running machines (controllers and load generators) in all of the project's concurrent test runs.
Concurrent Runs Avg	The average number of concurrent test runs for the project. For the purposes of this report, a single test run is considered a concurrent run.
Concurrent Runs Limit	The maximum number of concurrent runs allowed for this project as defined in the project settings ( <b>Lab Settings &gt; Project Settings</b> ). For the purposes of this report, a single test run is considered a concurrent run.
Concurrent Runs Max	The maximum number of concurrent test runs for the project. For the purposes of this report, a single test run is considered a concurrent run.
Concurrent Vusers Avg	The average number of concurrent running Vusers in all of the project's concurrent test runs.
Concurrent Vusers Limit	The maximum number of concurrent running Vusers allowed for this project as defined in the project settings (Lab Settings > Project Settings).
Concurrent Vusers Max	The maximum number of concurrent running Vusers in all of the project's concurrent test runs.
Overall Duration	The total time tests were run in the project. This value shows the actual amount of time the system was used to run load tests, and not concurrent duration.
Project	The project name. Deleted projects are also included in the report and are indicated with a red $x$ .

### **Overall Concurrency Table**

Important	You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the
Information	heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order.
	Click the column heading to reverse the order.

#### User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Concurrent Machines Avg	The average number of concurrent running machines.
Concurrent Machines Max	The maximum number of concurrent running machines.
Concurrent Runs Avg (License %)	The average number of concurrent runs. The value in brackets is the average number of concurrent runs as a percentage of the Performance Center license.
Concurrent Runs Max (License %)	The maximum number of concurrent runs. The value in brackets is the maximum number of concurrent runs as a percentage of the Performance Center license.
Concurrent Runs PC License	The maximum number of concurrent runs allowed by the Performance Center license.
Concurrent Vusers Avg (License %)	The average number of concurrent running Vusers. The value in brackets is the average number of concurrent running Vusers as a percentage of the project Performance Center license.
Concurrent Vusers Max (License %)	The maximum number of concurrent running Vusers. The value in brackets is the maximum number of concurrent running Vusers as a percentage of the Performance Center license.
Concurrent Vusers PC License	The maximum number of concurrent running Vusers allowed by the Performance Center license.
Overall Duration	The total time tests were run aggregated over all the projects.
Project	All Projects or Selected Projects.

### **Overall License Usage Graph**

X-axis	Maximum and average percentage of Performance Center license being used.
Y-axis	Vuser and runs usage aggregated over all projects as well as only selected projects.
#### Example

In the following example the maximum number of Vusers for all projects in the system used just 30.1% of the Performance Center license, while the average number of Vusers for all projects used just 3.6% of the license. This tells the administrator that a significant portion of the Performance Center license is not being used.



### Top Projects by Runs Graph

Top Projects by Runs Graph

Important Information	In most circumstances, the graph displays information for up to ten selected projects. If there is more than one selected project with the same number of maximum concurrent runs, all these projects are displayed. In that case, more than ten projects might be displayed.
X-axis	Maximum and average percentage of allowed concurrent runs being used.
Y-axis	Projects displayed in descending order according to the maximum number of concurrent runs.

#### Example

In the following example the Max - Runs value for the project **LR\_pro** is 30%. This means that the maximum number of concurrent runs for this project reached 30% of its limit. The Avg - Runs value for this project shows that the average number of concurrent runs reached 12.7% of its limit. These values tell the administrator that a significant portion of the project's defined limit of concurrent runs is not being utilized.



### Top Projects by Vusers Graph

Important Information	In most circumstances, the graph displays information for up to ten selected projects. If there is more than one selected project with the same number of maximum concurrent runs, all these projects are displayed. In that case, more
	than ten projects might be displayed.
X-axis	Maximum and average percentage of allowed concurrent running Vusers being used.
Y-axis	Projects displayed in descending order according to the maximum number of concurrent running Vusers.

#### Example

In the following example, the Max - Vusers value for the project **proj1** is 10%. This means that the maximum number of concurrent running Vusers for this project reached 10% of its limit. The Avg - Vusers value for this project shows that the average number of concurrent running Vusers reached 8.4% of its limit. These values tell the administrator that a significant portion of the project's defined limit of concurrent running Vusers is not being utilized.



## **Timeslot Usage Report**

The Timeslot Usage Report provides information about the reservation and usage of resources associated with timeslots.

Timeslot l	Jsage Report							
The report pro	vides details about the reserva	ation usage						🔉 🗟 🕲
Projects: All R	ems Checked 🗸 🗸 Ti	ime Frame:	Today	✓ Generate				
Timeslot Usage By Pr	Timesist Usage By Project Top Projects by Duration Usage Top Projects by Viscors Usage Top Projects by Machines Usage							
				Timesløt Usage By	Project			
Project	(x = Del	leted project)	Duration	[hrs:mins]	Mac	hines	Vu	sers
			Reserved	Used	Reserved	Used	Reserved	Used
DEFAULT\test			1:13	0.57	34	32	170	1
DEFAULT\AFC01			2.27	1:23	20	16	560	4
1								
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1								
Sector Carlos Sector								
Sector Sector								
11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.								

To access	ALM / Lab Management:
	1. Select Performance Center> Usage Reports.
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Timeslot Usage</b> .
	My Performance Center:
	1. Select <b>Perspective &gt; Usage Reports</b> .
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Timeslot Usage</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report.
Filter by: Projects	Select which project to include in the report. Available from: Lab Management only
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
Timeslot Usage by Project tab	Contains a table that displays reservation and usage information for duration, machines, and Vusers per project. For more information, see the "Timeslot Usage by Project Table" on the next page.
Top Projects by Duration Usage tab	Contains a graph that displays reservation and usage information for timeslot duration per project. It allows the administrator to see which projects most efficiently use their reserved duration. <b>X-axis.</b> The total amount of reserved and used duration for each project. <b>Y-axis.</b> Projects displayed in descending order according to their duration usage. <b>Note:</b> In most circumstances, the graph displays information for up to ten selected projects. If there is more than one selected project with the same number of maximum concurrent runs, all these projects are displayed. In that case, more than ten projects might be displayed.
Top Projects by Machines Usage tab	Contains a graph that displays reservation and usage information for timeslot machines per project. It allows the administrator to see which projects most efficiently use their reserved number of machines. X-axis. The total amount of reserved and used machines for each project. Y-axis. Projects displayed in descending order according to their Vusers usage. Note: In most circumstances, the graph displays information for up to ten selected projects. If there is more than one selected project with the same number of maximum concurrent runs, all these projects are displayed. In that case, more than ten projects might be displayed.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Top Projects by Vusers Usage tab	Contains a graph that displays reservation and usage information for timeslot Vusers per project. It allows the administrator to see which projects most efficiently use their reserved number of Vusers.
	X-axis. The total amount of reserved and used Vusers for each project.
	Y-axis. Projects displayed in descending order according to their machines usage.
	<b>Note:</b> In most circumstances, the graph displays information for up to ten selected projects. If there is more than one selected project with the same number of maximum concurrent runs, all these projects are displayed. In that case, more than ten projects might be displayed.

### Timeslot Usage by Project Table

Important	You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the
information	heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order.
	Click the column heading to reverse the order.

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Duration Reserved	The amount of time reserved for the project.
Duration Used	The amount of time used within the project.
Machines Reserved	The number of machines reserved for the project.
Machines Used	The number of machines used in the project.
Project	The project name. Deleted projects are also included in the report and are indicated by a red x.
Vusers Reserved	The number of Vusers reserved for the project.
Vusers Used	The number of Vusers used in the project.

### **Resource by Duration Report**

The Resource by Duration Report provides general information about the usage of your system resources over the selected time frame. You can view statistics for total usage by project, or per

Lab Management Guide Chapter 8: Usage Reports

#### user within a project.

Resource by Duration Report					
The report provides details of resource usage by time on a per-project or per-user basis.				D2 🕞 🕲	
Projerts: All Items Checked 🗸 Time Frame: Today 🗸 Generale					
Resource Usage by Project Resource Usage by User					
		Resource Usage by Project			
Project (x = Deleted project)	Total Active Duration [hrs:mins]	Total Reserved Duration [hrs:mins]	Avg Machines Per Active Hour	Avg Vusers Per Active Hour	
DEFAULTIzest	0.57	1:13	2.0		10.0
DEFAULT\AFC01	1:23	2:27	2.0		54.2
REAL BRIDEN SCA					
STAL Rogit Pages					
WHATBARR PRE 201					
RANATIonen nersened					
3 1 (2009) (26 26					
253 Marson					
2 1A 1938)					

To access	ALM / Lab Management:
	1. Select Performance Center> Usage Reports.
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Resource Usage by Duration</b> .
	My Performance Center:
	1. Select <b>Perspective &gt; Usage Reports</b> .
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Resource Usage by Duration</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report.
Filter by:	Select which project to include in the report.
Projects	Available from: Lab Management only
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
Resource Usage by Project tab	Contains a table that displays resource usage per project over the selected time frame.
	For more information, see "Resource Usage by Project Table" on the next page.
Resource Usage	Contains a table that displays resource usage per user.
by User tab	For more information, see "Resource Usage by User Table" below.

### **Resource Usage by Project Table**

Important	You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the
information	heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order.
	Click the column heading to reverse the order.

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description		
Avg Machines per Active Hour	The average number of machines used per active hour.		
	<b>Note:</b> An active hour refers to the actual running time of your tests within the selected time frame.		
Avg Vusers per Active Hour	The average number of running Vusers per active hour.		
Active noul	<b>Note:</b> An active hour refers to the actual running time of your tests within the selected time frame.		
Project	The project name. Deleted projects are also included in the report and are indicated by a red x.		
Total Active Duration	The total time tests were run during reserved timeslots.		
	<b>Note:</b> Active Duration refers to the actual running time of your tests within the selected time frame.		
Total Reserved Duration	The total time reserved in the Timeslots page, by the project.		

### **Resource Usage by User Table**

Important information	Only users with privileges in the selected projects are shown.
	• You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order. Click the column heading to reverse the order.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Avg Hosts per Active Hour	The average number of hosts used per active hour.
	<b>Note:</b> An active hour refers to the actual running time of your tests within the selected time frame.
Avg Vusers per Active Hour	The average number of running Vusers per active hour.
	<b>Note:</b> An active hour refers to the actual running time of your tests within the selected time frame.
Full Name	The name of the user. Deleted users are also included in the report.
Total Active	The total time tests were run during reserved timeslots.
Duration	<b>Note:</b> Active Duration refers to the actual running time of your tests within the selected time frame.
Total Reserved Duration	The total time reserved in the Timeslots page, by the user.

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

### **Resource Usage by Runs Report**

The Resource Usage by Runs Report provides general information about the test runs. You can view statistics for total usage by project, or per user within a project.

Resource by Runs Report						
The report provides details of resource usa	ge by runs on a	per-project or per-user basi	5			D R 🛛
Projects: All Items Checked 🗸	Time Frame:	Today	Generate			
Resource Usage by Project Resource Usage by User			Resource Usage by Preix	st		
Project (x = Deleted project)	Total Runs	Total Vusers Involved	Avg Vusers per Run	Total Duration [hrs:mins]	Avg Duration per Run [hrs:mins]	Avg Machines per Run
DEFAULTISEST	16	160	10.0	0.57	0.04	2
DEFAULTIAFC01	9	500	55.6	1.26	0:10	2
STAL Rage 19925						
GANANIWARA pay 425						
2 1 COMP 11 25						
25.3 Micros						
A LA CONTRACTOR OF A LA CONTRACTOR OFFA A LA CONTRA						

To access	ALM / Lab Management:
	1. Select Performance Center> Usage Reports.
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Resource Usage by Runs</b> .
	My Performance Center:
	1. Select <b>Perspective &gt; Usage Reports</b> .
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Resource Usage by Runs</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report.
Filter by: Projects	Select which project to include in the report.
	Available from: Lab Management only
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
Resource Usage by Project tab	Contains a table that displays test run statistics per project over the selected time frame.
	For more information, see "Resource Usage by Project Table" below.
Resource Usage by User tab	Contains a table that displays test run statistics per user.
	For more information, see "Resource Usage by User Table" on the next page.

### Resource Usage by Project Table

Important information	• Details of all runs with any amount of duration, even retries of a single run, are included in the table.
	• You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order. Click the column heading to reverse the order.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Avg Duration per Run	The average time used for the listed runs.
Avg Machines per Run	The average number of machines used per run.
Avg Vusers per Run	The average number of Vusers used per run.
Project	The project name. Deleted projects are also included in the report and are indicated by a red x.
Total Duration	The total time used by the listed runs.
Total Runs	The total number of runs in the project.
Total Vusers Involved	The total number of Vusers in the project.

### **Resource Usage by User Table**

Important information	• Runs of users that have been deleted from the system, or who no longer have any privileges, are also included in the table.
	• Details of all runs with any amount of duration, even retries of a single run, are included in the table.
	• You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order. Click the column heading to reverse the order.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Avg Duration per Run	The average time used for the listed runs.
Avg Machines per Run	The average number of machines used per run.
Avg Vusers per Run	The average number of Vusers used per run.
Full Name	The name of the user. Deleted users are also included in the report.
Total Duration	The total time used by the listed runs.
Total Runs	The total number of runs associated with the user.
Total Vusers Involved	The total number of Vusers associated with the user.

## VUDs License Usage per Project Report

The VUDs License Usage per Project Report provides information about VUD usage per day for each selected project.

To access	ALM / Lab Management:		
	1. Select Performance Center> Usage Reports.		
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>VUDs License Project</b> <b>Usage</b> .		
	My Performance Center:		
	1. Select Perspective > Usage Reports.		
	<ol> <li>In the list of Usage Reports, select VUDs License Project Usage.</li> </ol>		
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172		

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report.
Filter by: Projects	Select which project to include in the report.
	Available from: Lab Management only
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
VUDs per Project tab	Contains a table that provides information about daily VUD usage per selected project. For more information see "VUDs per Project Table" on the next page.
VUDs Transactions tab	Contains a table that provides information about VUDs per transactions. For more information, see "VUDs Transactions Table" on the next page.

### VUDs per Project Table

Important information	• Details of all runs with any amount of duration, even retries of a single run, are included in the table.
	• You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order. Click the column heading to reverse the order.

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Allocated	The amount of VUDs that were allocated to the project at the start of the day.
Consumed	The amount of VUDs that were consumed during the day.
Date	The date for which VUD usage information is shown.
New Value	The amount of VUDs that were remaining at the end of the day.
Project	The name of the project.

### **VUDs Transactions Table**

Important information	• Details of all runs with any amount of duration, even retries of a single run, are included in the table.
	• You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order. Click the column heading to reverse the order.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description			
Action	The current state of the VUDs.			
Date	The date for which VUD information is displayed.			
In Use	The number of VUDs that are currently running.			
New Limit	The number of VUDs that are currently available to the project.			
Pending	The number of VUDs that are available for running.			
Project	The project name. Deleted projects are also included in the report and are indicated by a red x.			

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Run ID	The run ID.
Test Name	The performance test name.
Unique ID	A unique ID that identifies VUDs from their issue to their expiration.
User	The user that performed the transaction.
Value	The amount of VUDs that are in the state indicated in the Action column.

## Daily VUDs License Usage Report

The Daily VUDs License Usage Report provides overall VUD usage information aggregated for all projects for a specific day.

To access	ALM / Lab Management:		
	1. Select Performance Center> Usage Reports.		
	<ol> <li>In the list of Usage Reports, select Daily VUDs License Site Usage.</li> </ol>		
	My Performance Center:		
	1. Select Perspective > Usage Reports.		
	<ol> <li>In the list of Usage Reports, select Daily VUDs License Site Usage.</li> </ol>		
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172		

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description	
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.	
Generate	Generates the report.	
Daily VUDs Usage tab	Ds Contains a table that displays daily VUD usage information. For more information, see "Daily VUDs Usage Table" on the next page.	
Filter by: Time FrameSelect the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.		

### Daily VUDs Usage Table

Important information	• Details of all runs with any amount of duration, even retries of a single run, are included in the table.
	• You can sort the table according to the values of any column. The arrow in the heading displays whether the column is sorted in ascending or descending order. Click the column heading to reverse the order.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Added	The amount of VUDs that were added on the day.
Consumed	The amount of VUDs that were used on the day.
Date	The date for which VUD usage information is shown.
New Value	The amount of VUDs that were remaining at the end of the day.

## **Cloud High Level Report**

The Cloud High Level Report shows provisioned hosts and consumed credits per project over time.

#### Grid view:

Cloud High Level R	eport				
The report shows a high leve	l view of the cloud usage				D2 🕞 🛛
Projects: All items checked	<ul> <li>Time Frame:</li> </ul>	This Year	✓ Accounts: All items checked	Generate	
Usage of ac	counts (provisioning)				
Weeks 🗸					
	2013-08-19 00:00:00		2013-08-12 00:00:00	1	View Mode
Project	Credits	Hosts	Credits	Hosts	
DEFAULT/David	32.0	4	٥	0	
DEFAULT/Lab Management	101.0		72.0	3	

Graph view:

Cloud H	ligh Level Report				
The report	shows a high level view of the cloud u	sage			
Projects:	All items checked 🗸 Tim	e Frame: This Year	<ul> <li>Accounts:</li> </ul>	All items checked 🐱	Generate
	Usage of accounts (provisioning	))			
Weeks	✓ Credits ✓				
Account	Usage By Week				View Mode
140					
120					
100			- DEEM	I TDadd	
80			DEFAL	JLT/Lab Management	
60					
40					
20					
0	2013-08-19 00:00:00	2013-08-12 00:00:0	0		

To access	ALM / Lab Management:		
	1. Select Performance Center > Usage Reports.		
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Cloud High Level Report</b> .		
	My Performance Center:		
	1. Select Perspective > Usage Reports.		
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Cloud High Level Report</b> .		
Important Information	• This report can be viewed as a grid or as a graph.		
	• Export options are available only when viewing the report as a grid.		
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172		
See Also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69		
	"Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview" on page 101		

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Available when viewing report output as a graph.
U≊ IX	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report. Make sure to generate the report after updating the report filters.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Filter by: Accounts	Allows you to choose which cloud accounts are included in the report output. Hosts are shown in the report output only if they were provisioned from one of the selected cloud accounts.
Filter by: Projects	Allows you to choose which projects are included in the report output. Hosts are shown in the report output only if they were provisioned from one of the selected projects.
	Available from: Lab Management only.
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
<group by<br="">Months/Weeks&gt;</group>	Determines how the report results are grouped.
	<ul> <li>If Months is selected, each column in the report output shows one month's data, and there is a column for each month.</li> </ul>
	• If Weeks is selected, each column in the report output shows one week's data, and there is a column for each week.
	<b>Example:</b> Select Months and each column of the report shows a summation of all consumed credits and provisioned hosts for an entire month. There is one column for each month in the selected time frame.
<report output&gt;</report 	Displays the report output. Report output can be displayed as a grid or a graph, depending upon the selected <b>View Mode</b> .
<show th="" usage<=""><th>Available when viewing report output as a graph.</th></show>	Available when viewing report output as a graph.
by>	• Credits. Choose to display account usage by credits consumed.
	• Hosts. Choose to display account usage by hosts provisioned.
View Mode	Choose how to display the report output:
	• Grid View . Display the report output in a grid.
	Graph View O. Display the report output in a graph.

The following columns appear in the report output when displayed in a grid (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

Field (A - Z)	Description
Credits	Displays the number of credits consumed by the project during the specified time frame.
<date></date>	Displays the start time of the time frame shown in the column.
Hosts	Displays the number of hosts provisioned by the project during the specified time frame.
Project	Displays the project, including domain, which provisioned the hosts and consumed the credits.

## **Cloud Credits by Type Report**

The Cloud Credits by Type Report shows the number of consumed cloud credits by location, template, instance, or machine image.

#### Grid view:

Cloud Credits I	Зу Туре						
The report shows a bi	eakdown of the co	nsumed cloud credits					D2 🕞 🕄
Projects: All items ch	ecked 🗸	Time Frame: This Ye	ar 🗸 🗸	Accounts: All items check	ked 🗸	Generate	
Cree	lits By Location	Credits By Template	Fredits By Instance Cr	edits By Image			
Desiling .	HP Mock US W	EST 2	EC2 Mock Asia I	Pacific (Sydney)	EC2 Mock US V	Vest (Oregon)	View Mode
Project	Credits	Hosts	Credits	Hosts	Credits	Hosts	
DEFAULT/David	32.0	4	0	0	0	0	
DEFAULT/Lab Management	0	٥	2.0	2	171.0	3	
Total	32.0	4	2.0	2	171.0	3	

#### Graph view:

Cloud Credits By Type		
The report shows a breakdown of the consumed cloud credits		)] (sv) <b>?</b>
Projects: All items checked 🗸 Time Frame: This Year 🗸	Accounts: All Items checked 🗸 Generate	
Credits By Location Credits By Template Credits By Instance C	iredits By Image	
Credits		
Total Credits By Location	vi	ew Mode
	_	
52 2	■ HP Mod US (KEST 2 E CC2 Mod: Asia Studie (Oldwey) ■ EC2 Mod: US West (Oregon)	

To access	ALM / Lab Management:	
	1. Select Performance Center > Usage Reports.	
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select Cloud Credits By Type.	
	My Performance Center:	
	1. Select Perspective > Usage Reports.	
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select Cloud Credits By Type.	
Important Information	• This report can be viewed as a grid or as a graph.	
	<ul> <li>Export options are available only when viewing the report as a grid.</li> </ul>	
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172	
See Also	"Cloud Accounts Overview" on page 69	
	"Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview" on page 101	

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format. Available from: Graph view only.
Generate	Generates the report. Make sure to generate the report after updating the report filters.
Credits By Image tab	Report output shows credit usage per machine image.
Credits By Instance tab	Report output shows credit usage per instance type.
Credits By Location tab	Report output shows credit usage per location.
Credits By Template tab	Report output shows credit usage per host template.
Filter by: Accounts	Allows you to choose which cloud accounts are included in the report output. Hosts are shown in the report output only if they were provisioned from one of the selected cloud accounts.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Filter by: Projects	Allows you to choose which projects are included in the report output. Hosts are shown in the report output only if they were provisioned from one of the selected projects. <b>Available from:</b> Lab Management only.
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
<report output&gt;</report 	Displays the report output. Report output can be displayed as a grid or a graph, depending upon the selected <b>View Mode</b> .
<show usage by&gt;</show 	<ul> <li>Credits. Choose to display account usage by credits consumed.</li> <li>Hosts. Choose to display account usage by hosts provisioned.</li> <li>Available from: Graph view only.</li> </ul>
View Mode	<ul> <li>Choose how to display the report output:</li> <li>Grid View . Display the report output in a grid.</li> <li>Graph View . Display the report output in a graph.</li> </ul>

The following columns appear in the report output when displayed in a grid (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

Field (A - Z)	Description
Credits	Displays the number of credits consumed by a project using the specified location, template, instance, or image.
<image/>	Displays the number of hosts provisioned using a machine image and the number of credits consumed by hosts with that machine image. <b>Available from:</b> Credits By Image tab only.
<instance></instance>	Displays the number of hosts provisioned using an instance type and the number of credits consumed by hosts with that instance type. <b>Available from:</b> Credits By Instance tab only.
Hosts	Displays the number of hosts provisioned by a project using the specified location, template, instance, or image.

Field (A - Z)	Description
<location></location>	Displays the number of hosts provisioned from a location and the number of credits consumed by that location. Available from: Credits By Location tab only.
Project	Displays the project, including domain, which provisioned the hosts and consumed the credits.
<template></template>	Displays the number of hosts provisioned from a template and how many credits were consumed by hosts provisioned from that template.
	Available from: Credits By Template tab only.

## **Cloud Utilization Report**

The Cloud Utilization Report shows in-use time versus idle time for cloud hosts. This allows you to see if you are effectively using your cloud resources.

#### Grid view:

Cloud Utilization				
The report shows the utilization of cloud r	resources			<u>)</u>
Projects: All items checked 🗸	Time Frame: This Year	Accounts: All items checked	Generate	
Host Utilization				
Project	Total in Use Time	Totalidie Time	Total Idle Time Worth in Credits (estimate)	View Mode
DEFAULT/David	7.33	7.23	29.31	
DEFAULT/Lab Management	54.93	54.90	164.40	
Total	62.26	62.26	193.79	

#### Graph view:



To access	ALM / Lab Management:	
	1. Select Performance Center > Usage Reports.	
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select Cloud Utilization.	
	My Performance Center:	
	1. Select Perspective > Usage Reports.	
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select Cloud Utilization.	
Important Information	• This report can be viewed as a grid or as a graph.	
	<ul> <li>Export options are available only when viewing the report as a grid.</li> </ul>	
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172	
See Also	"Cloud Hosts Overview" on page 56	
	"Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview" on page 101	

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
	Available when viewing report output as a graph.
	Export to PDF/Excel. Click to export the report to PDF or Excel format.
Generate	Generates the report. Make sure to generate the report after updating the report filters.
Filter by: Accounts	Allows you to choose which cloud accounts are included in the report output. Hosts are included only if they were provisioned from one of the selected cloud accounts.
Filter by: Projects	Allows you to choose which projects are included in the report output. Hosts are included only if they were provisioned from one of the selected projects. <b>Available from:</b> Lab Management only.
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
<report output&gt;</report 	Displays the report output. Report output can be displayed as a grid or a graph, depending upon the selected <b>View Mode</b> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description			
View Mode	Choose how to display the report output:			
	Grid View     Display the report output in a grid.			
	Graph View O. Display the report output in a graph.			

The following columns appear in the report output when displayed in a grid (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

Field (A - Z)	Description
Total In Use Time	Total time in hours that hosts provisioned by a project were running tests.
Total Idle Time	Total time in hours that hosts provisioned by a project were available for running tests but were not in use.
Total Idle Time Worth in Credits (estimate)	Total number of credits consumed by hosts that were available for running tests but were not in use.
Project	Displays the project, including domain, for which the utilization summary is given.

## **Cloud Operations Report**

The Cloud Operations Report shows individual provision and terminate operations for your cloud hosts. You can also see test usage for each host.

To access	ALM / Lab Management:					
	1. Select Performance Center > Usage Reports.					
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select Cloud Operations.					
	My Performance Center:					
	1. Select Perspective > Usage Reports.					
	2. In the list of Usage Reports, select <b>Cloud Operations</b> .					
Important Information	• This report contains three elements: Operations, Hosts, and Usage.					
	• Data for this report can only be exported to Excel.					
Relevant tasks	"How to Generate Usage Reports" on page 172					

See Also	"Cloud Hosts Overview" on page 56					
	"Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview" on page 101					
See Also	"Cloud Hosts Overview" on page 56					
	"Cloud Resources Monitoring Overview" on page 101					

#### User interface elements

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
D	Export to Excel. Click to export the report to Excel format.
L X I	The Excel export contains additional columns in the report output.
Generate	Generates the report. Make sure to generate the report after updating the report filters.
Back to Hosts	Available when viewing an individual cloud operation or a host's usage. Returns to the list of cloud hosts.
Back to Operations	Available when viewing an individual cloud host. Returns to the list of cloud operations.
<column search&gt;</column 	Allows you to search the selected column. Numerical fields search for an <b>exact match</b> of the entered number. Text fields search for any records that <b>contain</b> the entered text.
Filter by: Accounts	Allows you to choose which cloud accounts are included in the report output. Hosts and operations are included only if they were provisioned from one of the selected cloud accounts.
Filter by: Projects	Allows you to choose which projects are included in the report output. Hosts and operations are included only if they were provisioned from one of the selected projects.
	Available from:Lab Management only.
Filter by: Time Frame	Select the desired time frame for the report. For an explanation of the given time frames, see "Usage Report Time Frames" on page 173.
Operations/Hosts selector	Available when viewing all cloud hosts or all cloud operations. Changes the report output to display either cloud operations or cloud hosts.
<report output=""></report>	Displays the report output. Report output can be displayed as a grid or a graph, depending upon the selected <b>View Mode</b> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Show all Hosts	Available when viewing an individual cloud host. Returns to the list of all cloud hosts.
Show all Operations	Available when viewing an individual cloud operation. Returns to the list of all cloud operations.

#### Operations view

Cloud Operations								
The report sh	ows a log of operations on cloud l	hosts					I⊋i	8
Projects:	ts: All items checked 🗸 Time Frame: Today 🗸 Accounts: All items checked 🗸 Generate							
Operation	s C Hosts							
Operations ស	Request ID	Operation	Start Time	Duration	Hosts requested	Hosts	Project	
1001	9/4/05667-bb6f-4bbo-9332- 1eb6of65e278	Provision	9/0/2010 10:13:45 AM	2.00	1		I	^
1002	23bd4f3-501a-463a-9b25- 3728b8bd5d67	Provision	9/10/2013 10:26:29 AM	0.00	4	1		
1003	905e7a7o8599-4259-9ed 59c38ab4b47b	Provision	9/10/2013 10:32:51 AM	0.04	1	1		
1004	70210007-celid-4177-bita5- cf22ccf5582d	Terminate	9/10/2013 10:34:13 AM	1.37	1	1		1
1005	5fb30189-e43o-4e8a-8ca1- 4042cea28218	Terminate	9/10/2013 12:00:26 PM	1.35	1	1		
1005	a5654703-9377-4212-93e7- 37f2130551c9	Provision	9/10/2013 12:24:46 PM		1			1
1007	e11dd96-d358-450d-b3d1- d07a2db3119c	Provision	9/10/2013 12:26:52 PM	1.15	1	1		
1008	058+005f-add8-459f-6d27- 58aa3fe7edc2	Terminate	9/10/2013 12:28:39 PM	3.38	1	1		
1009	e713affd-de07-440e-03a8- ad1#7107105	Provision	9/10/2013 2:12:05 PM	6.67	1			-
10 0 1 2	0 01						15 items in 2 pag	es

The operations view shows you a list of each individual provision and terminate operation. You can see which hosts are included in an operation by clicking on the number in the **Hosts** column.

To access: Click the Operations radio button.

The following columns appear in the report output in the operations view:

Field (Left to Right)	Description
ID	The ID of the cloud operation.
Request ID	The cloud provider's ID for the cloud operation .
Operation	The type of cloud operation: Provision or Terminate.
Start Time	The date and time the cloud operation was initiated.
Duration	The time in minutes that it took to provision or terminate the hosts.
Hosts Requested	For provision operations: The number of hosts requested from the cloud provider.
	For terminate operations: The number of hosts terminated.

Field (Left to Right)	Description
Hosts	For provision operations: The number of hosts actually provisioned. Blank if no hosts were successfully provisioned.
	For terminate operations: The number of hosts terminated.
	Click on the number of hosts to view a list of all hosts included in an operation.
Project	The project that initiated the cloud operation.

#### Hosts view

The report sh	nows a log of operations on	cloud hosts						
Projects:	All items checked	✓ Time Frame:	Today	<ul> <li>Accounts:</li> </ul>	All items checked	Gener	ate	
Operation	is 🖲 Hosts							
osts ostName	Label	Provisioned	Terminated	Totaluptime	Totalide time	Usage	Provision Operation	Terminate Operation
07.21.76.103	107.21.76.103	9/8/2013 10:13:45 AM				Usage	1001	0
20 23 65	23.20.33.65	9/10/2013 10:20:29 AM	9/10/2013 10:34:13 AM	7	7	Usage	1002	1004
211.220.147	54,211,220,147	9/10/2013 10:32:51 AM	9/10/2013 12:08:26 PM	95	95	Usage	1003	1005
84.72.199.245	184.72.199.245	9/10/2013 12 26:52 PM	9/10/2013 12:28:39 PM	1	4	Usage	1007	1008
4 212 234 173	54,212,234,173	9/10/2013 2 12:05 PM	9/10/2013 3:17:29 PM	65	65	Usage	1009	1010

The hosts view shows you the provision and terminate operations associated with each individual host. You can see full details of a provision operation by clicking on the ID in the **Provision Operation** column. You can see full details of a terminate operation by clicking on the ID in the **Terminate Operation** column.

To access: Click the Hosts radio button.

The following columns appear in the report output in the hosts view:

Field (Left to Right)	Description
Host Name	The IP address of the cloud host.
Label	The logical name of the cloud host as specified during provisioning.
Provisioned	The date and time that the host was provisioned.
Terminated	The date and time that the host was terminated. Blank for hosts that have not yet been terminated.
Total Up Time	The amount of time that the host was provisioned. Blank for hosts that have not yet been terminated.
Total Idle Time	The amount of time that the host was provisioned but was not being used for testing. Blank for hosts that have not yet been terminated.

Field (Left to Right)	Description
Usage	Click to open the usage view for the selected host.
Provision Operation	Shows the ID of the operation in which the host was provisioned.
Terminate Operation	Shows the ID of the operation in which the host was terminated. Displays "0" for hosts that have not yet been terminated.

Usage view

The usage view shows you all tests run using the selected host.

To access: From the hosts view, in the Usage column, click the Usage button for the desired host.

The following columns appear in the report output in the usage view:

Field (Left to Right)	Description
Timeslot ID	ID of the timeslot in which the test was run.
Run ID	ID of the test run.
Start	The date and time that the test run began.
End	The date and time that the test run ended.
Duration	Duration of the test run in minutes.
Project	The project that initiated the test run.
User	The user who initiated the test run.

# **Chapter 9: System Health**

This chapter includes:

System Health Overview	207
System Health User Interface	207

## System Health Overview

To design and run performance tests in ALM, the Performance Center system must be running properly. The System Health module enables you to run tasks that validate that the components of the system are communicating with each other, allowing you to maintain the system in a healthy state.

## System Health User Interface

This section includes:

System Health Module Window	
Configure System Check Dialog Box	

## System Health Module Window

This module displays information about the ALM Performance Center system health maintenance tasks and overall system checks, and enables you to run a full validation on your ALM Performance Center system.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>System Health</b> .
See also	"System Health Overview" on the previous page

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
Check System	Opens the configure system check dialog box, enabling you to select servers and hosts in the ALM-Performance Center system to include in the system check. For details, see "Configure System Check Dialog Box" below.
	<b>Refresh All.</b> Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information. If <b>Auto Refresh</b> is enabled, this button is disabled.
	<b>Set Auto Refresh On/Off.</b> When enabled, automatically refreshes the grid every 5 seconds so that it displays the most up-to-date task information.
Show Only Failed Tasks	Displays the system check results that have a failed status only.
Export	<ul> <li>Opens the Export Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the results of the system check as a Microsoft Excel worksheet.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options:</li> <li>All. Exports all tasks in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected tasks in the grid.</li> </ul>
<results grid=""></results>	Displays the progress and results of the system check.

### Configure System Check Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to select which ALM-Performance Center system components (servers and hosts) to include when doing a system check.

To access	On the Lab Ma	nagement sidebar	under Performance Center, select System
	Health. Click	Check System	

Important information	• The system check is performed on Performance Center Servers and hosts that are in an operational state only.
	• The system check is performed on hosts with the Controller purpose only.
See also	"System Health Overview" on page 207

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
Check ALM Platform	Includes the ALM server in the system check.
Check Performance Center Servers	<ul> <li>Includes operational Performance Center Servers in the system check.</li> <li>All. Includes all of the operational Performance Center Servers in the system check.</li> <li>Specific. Enables you to select operational Performance Center Servers to include in the system check.</li> </ul>
Check Hosts	<ul> <li>Includes operational Performance Center hosts with the Controller purpose in the system check.</li> <li>All. Includes all of the operational Performance Center hosts with the Controller purpose in the system check.</li> <li>Specific. Enables you to select operational Performance Center hosts with the Controller purpose to include in the system check.</li> </ul>
<performance Center Server grid&gt;</performance 	Lists the Performance Center Servers that you selected to include in the system check, and displays their details.
<performance Center host grid&gt;</performance 	Lists the Performance Center hosts that you selected to include in the system check, and displays their details.

# **Chapter 10: PC Licenses**

This chapter includes:

HP ALM Performance Center Licenses Overview	
PC Licenses User Interface	

## HP ALM Performance Center Licenses Overview

To work with HP ALM Performance Center, each of the following licenses must be defined:

License	Description
ALM License	The ALM license is configured as part of the ALM installation process and is managed in Site Administration. For more information about the ALM license, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide</i> .

License	Description
Performance Center	There are two types of Performance Center licenses:
License	• <b>PC.</b> This license is limited by the total number of concurrent runs or Vusers, and may have an expiration date.
	• <b>PC_VUDS.</b> A Virtual User Day (VUD) license provides you with a specified number of Vusers (VUDs) that you can run an unlimited number of times within a 24 hour period (the Virtual User Day). At the end of a Virtual User Day, the remaining number of licensed VUDs is calculated by subtracting the number of used VUDs, or in the case of concurrent usage, the maximum number of concurrent running VUDs, from the total number of licensed VUDs.
	For example, a user has a license that allows him to run 1,000 VUDs. He creates a performance test that requires 200 Vusers and runs for 45 minutes. He runs the test at 8:00 am, 10:00 am, 2:00 pm, and at 4:00 pm. In each case, the test finishes before the next one begins. Because there is no concurrent Vuser usage, he can re-use the same 200 VUDs for each test run, meaning that at the end of the 24-hour period, only 200 VUDs are deducted from the license, leaving 800 for future use.
	However, if the user starts the second run at 8:30 am, the first test is still running before the second test initializes. This overlap requires 400 Vusers to run concurrently (200 for each test). At the end of the day, 400 VUDs are deducted from the license, because that is the highest number of concurrent Vusers. The total left for future use is 600 VUDs.
	Note:
	• The Performance Center and Host licenses are configured directly after installation of the Performance Center Server. You configure the licenses using the PC Licenses Module window. For more information, see "PC Licenses Module Window" on page 213.
	<ul> <li>You can run VUDs on HP developed protocols, with the exception of: COM/DCOM, VB Com, VB Vuser, VB Script Vuser, VB.NET Vuser, and VB.NET Template.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>You cannot run VUDs on SDK protocols.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>You cannot run VUDs on a GUI Vuser script, such as UFT Professional scripts.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>When using a VUD based Performance Center license, a Host license is not relevant.</li> </ul>

License	Description
Host License	The Host license defines the limits of Vuser use per protocol on the host. There are two host license Vuser types:
	<ul> <li><bundle type=""> Bundle. Each bundle contains a collection of protocols. When you select a protocol bundle, this section displays a list of included protocols.</bundle></li> </ul>
	• <b>Global.</b> The global license lets you run all Vuser types, provided you stay within the total limit. The number following "Global" indicates the total number of Vusers purchased.
	<b>Note:</b> The Performance Center and Host licenses are configured directly after installation of the Performance Center Server. You configure the licenses using the PC Licenses Module window. For more information, see "PC Licenses Module Window" on the next page.

## **PC Licenses User Interface**

This section includes:

PC Licenses Module Window	213
Add Licenses from File Dialog Box	215

## PC Licenses Module Window

This page enables you to view summaries of your Performance Center and VUD-based licenses, as well as host license information.

	PC License Summary (Valid Licenses)				Host License Sum	Imary (Valid Licenses)	
Tota Next VU Tota Tota Una	Vusers: Concurrent Runs: License Expires On: Ds License Summa Purchased VUDs: Remaining VUDs: usigned to Projects: Licenses	ıry	100 6 3/1/ 240 240 230	00	Głobal Community		1000 130
🔶 Add License Key 🔶 Add Licenses From File 🎕 Hide Expired 🖹 Licenses Details 🗍 Help							
	License Type	Expiration Mode	Expiration Date (GMT)	License Bundle	Capacity	PC Vusers	Concurrent Runs
1	PC	Time Limited	4/1/2013 12:00:00 AM			10000	
6	PC	Time Limited	4/1/2013 12:00:00 AM				5
<b>6</b>	PC PC	Time Limited	4/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 3/1/2013 12:00:00 AM				5
10 10 10 10	PC PC PC_VUDS	Time Limited Time Limited Unlimited	4/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 3/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM			100	8
50 50 50 50 50	PC PC_VUDS PC_VUDS	Time Limited Time Limited Unlimited Unlimited	4/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 3/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM			100	5
50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5	PC PC PC_VUDS PC_VUDS PC_VUDS	Time Limited Time Limited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited	4/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 3/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM			100 130	5
50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5	PC PC_VUDS PC_VUDS PC_VUDS Host	Time Limited Time Limited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Permanent	41/2013 12:00:00 AM 3/1/2013 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM 12/1/2050 12:00:00 AM 4/2/2013 12:00:00 AM	Web&Multimedia	1000	100 130 10	5
60 60 60 60 60 60 60	PC PC_VUDS PC_VUDS PC_VUDS Host Host	Time Limited Time Limited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Permanent Time Limited	41/2013 12:00:00 AM 31/2013 12:00:00 AM 12:1/2050 12:00:00 AM 12:1/2050 12:00:00 AM 12:1/2050 12:00:00 AM 42:2013 12:00:00 AM 2:1/2013 12:00:00 AM	Web&Multimedia Web&Multimedia	1000	100 130	5
10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	РС РС_VUDS РС_VUDS РС_VUDS Ноя Ноя Ноя	Time Limited Time Limited Unlimited Unlimited Parmanent Time Limited Parmanent	4112013 12:00:00 AM 21/2013 12:00:00 AM 12/12020 12:00:00 AM 12/12020 12:00:00 AM 12/12020 12:00:00 AM 42/2013 12:00:00 AM 2/12013 12:00:00 AM	Web&Muttimedia Web&Muttimedia Global	1000 120 130	100 130 10	5

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select <b>PC</b> Licenses.
Relevant tasks	"How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22
See also	"HP ALM Performance Center Licenses Overview" on page 210

#### PC License Summary Area

Displays summary information for all valid Performance Center licenses.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Total Vusers	Total Vusers of all licenses.
Total Concurrent Runs	The total number of Vusers that can run simultaneously.
License Expires On	Indicates the expiration date of the next license that is due to expire.

#### **VUDs License Summary Area**

Displays summary information for all VUD-based licenses.

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
Total Purchased VUDs	Total number of purchased VUDs.
Total Remaining VUDs	Total number of remaining VUDs.
Unassigned to Projects	Total number of unassigned VUDs.

### Host License Summary Area

Displays protocol bundles and capacity information for all host licenses.

#### All Licenses Area

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
🕂 Add License Key	Enables you to install a single license key at a time.
	Click to open the Add New License dialog box and type the new license key.
	<b>Note:</b> You can only add a license if you have the required permissions.
4 Add Licenses From File	Opens the Add Licenses for File dialog box enabling you to install multiple license keys simultaneously. For user interface details, see "Add Licenses from File Dialog Box" on the next page.
<ul><li>Show Expired</li><li>Hide Expired</li></ul>	Click to display all licenses or to hide expired licenses.
Licenses Details	Click to open the Licenses Details dialog box which displays the following information:
	• Date Assigned. The date the license was added to the system.
	• License Key. The license key.
	• <b>Type.</b> The license type.
	To export details to an Excel file, click <b>Export to Excel</b> .
	<b>Note:</b> You can only view license details if you have the required permissions.

UI Elements	Description
License Type	The type of license available for the license key you selected. Values include: <b>PC</b> , <b>PC_VUDS</b> , and <b>Host</b> . For more details, see "HP ALM Performance Center Licenses Overview" on page 210.
Expiration Mode	<ul> <li>Permanent</li> <li>Time Limited. The license is limited by an expiration date.</li> <li>Temporary. A Time Limited license that is granted for a predefined number of days after product installation.</li> </ul>
Expiration Date (GMT)	The expiration date and time of the license.
Host	<ul> <li>License Bundle. Indicates the name of the Vuser protocol bundle to which the license applies. The license enables the Controller to run Vusers of any protocol that is included in the protocol bundle.</li> <li>Capacity. Indicates the maximum number of Vusers that can be run simultaneously from the LoadRunner Controller.</li> </ul>
PC	• Vusers. The number of Vusers.
	• <b>Concurrent Runs.</b> The maximum number of test runs that can run simultaneously.

## Add Licenses from File Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to install multiple Performance Center license keys simultaneously.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select <b>PC Licenses</b> . Click Add Licenses From File.
Important	You can only add a license if you have the required permissions.
Relevant tasks	"How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22
See also	"HP ALM Performance Center Licenses Overview" on page 210

UI Elements	Description
License File	Click <b>Select</b> and then select the license file.

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
Show/Hide Expired or Installed Licenses	Click to display all licenses, or to hide expired licenses and installed licenses.
#	Indicates a sequential ID number.
License Type	The type of license available for the license key you selected. Values include: <b>PC</b> , <b>PC_VUDS</b> , and <b>Host</b> . For more details, see "HP ALM Performance Center Licenses Overview" on page 210.
Expiration Mode	<ul> <li>Permanent</li> <li>Time Limited. The license is limited by an expiration date.</li> <li>Temporary. A Time Limited license that is granted for a predefined number of days after product installation.</li> </ul>
Expiration Date	Indicates the GMT date and time the license expires.
Host	<ul> <li>License Bundle. Indicates the name of the Vuser protocol bundle to which the license applies. The license enables the Controller to run Vusers of any protocol that is included in the protocol bundle.</li> <li>Capacity. Indicates the maximum number of Vusers that can be run simultaneously from the LoadRunner Controller.</li> </ul>
PC	<ul> <li>Vusers. The number of Vusers.</li> <li>Concurrent Runs. The maximum number of test runs that can run simultaneously.</li> </ul>
Add	Installs the selected licenses.
# **Chapter 11: MI Listeners**

This chapter includes:

MI Listeners Overview	217
How to Manage MI Listeners	217
MI Listeners Module	

# **MI Listeners Overview**

MI Listeners serve as routers between the Controller and a Performance Agent. They enable you to run Vusers over a firewall and to collect server monitor data and application diagnostics data over a firewall.

The MI Listener receives data from the Performance Agent at regular intervals. During the course of the test run, the Controller takes the data from the MI Listener to process as runtime data.

The MI Listeners are only available for load generators.

For detailed information about configuring Lab Management to work with firewalls, refer to the section about working with firewalls in the *HP ALM Performance Center Installation Guide*.

For task information about managing MI Listeners, see "How to Manage MI Listeners" below.

# How to Manage MI Listeners

This section describes how to manage the MI Listeners which enable you to run performance tests on hosts over a firewall.

**Note: Product Feature Movie.** To view a movie that demonstrates how to set up the lab resources required for running a performance test, select **Help > Movies** in the ALM main window.

This task describes how to:

- "Add an MI Listener" below
- "Modify/View host location details" on the next page
- "Assign an MI Listener to a host" on the next page

#### Add an MI Listener

To add an MI Listener:

- 1. Go to Performance Center > MI Listeners.
- 2. Click the **New MI Listener** button E. For user interface information, see "New MI Listener Dialog Box" on page 223.

#### Modify/View host location details

In Performance Center > MI Listeners, select an MI Listener in the grid and click the MI Listener

details button

For user interface details, see "MI Listener Details Dialog Box" on page 223.

#### Assign an MI Listener to a host

To assign an MI Listener to a host:

- 1. Go to Lab Resources > Hosts.
- Select a host in the grid which is located over a firewall, and click the Testing Host Details button
- 3. In the Testing Host Dialog Box, select your MI Listener in the PC MI Listener field.

For user interface information, see "Testing Host Details Dialog Box" on page 137.

### **MI Listeners Module**

MI Listeners Module Window	219
MI Listener Fields	220
MI Listeners Module Menus and Buttons	220
New MI Listener Dialog Box	223
MI Listener Details Dialog Box	223

### **MI Listeners Module Window**

This module enables you to view and manage MI Listeners. MI Listeners enable running performance tests on hosts over a firewall and collecting server monitor data and application diagnostics data over a firewall.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>MI Listeners</b> .
Important information	<ul> <li>For detailed information about configuring ALM to work with firewalls, see the section about working with firewalls in the <i>HP ALM Performance Center Installation Guide</i>.</li> <li>If an MI Listener is being used by a host, it cannot be deleted.</li> </ul>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage MI Listeners" on page 217
See also	"MI Listeners Overview" on page 217
	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
<mi listeners<br="">module common UI elements&gt;</mi>	<ul> <li>MI Listeners module fields. For field definitions, see "MI Listener Fields" on the next page.</li> <li>MI Listeners module menus and buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "Lab Resources Module Menus and Buttons" on page 121.</li> </ul>
<mi grid="" listeners=""></mi>	Displays a list of the MI Listeners in ALM.
Description tab	Describes the currently selected MI Listener. <b>Tip:</b> Right-clicking in this area displays a toolbar for formatting and spell checking the text.
History tab	Lists changes made to the currently selected MI Listener. For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.

### **MI Listener Fields**

This section describes the MI Listener fields:

Field	Description
Description	A description of the MI Listener.
MI Listener ID	The ID of the MI Listener.
Public IP	The public IP address of the MI Listener.
	<b>Note:</b> If you have two different IP addresses for the same MI Listener—one for internal communication with the Controller and a second for public communication with a Load generator located over a firewall—enter the <b>public IP address</b> here. Enter the internal IP address in the <b>MI Listener Name</b> field (see below).
MI Listener Name	The name of the MI Listener.
	<b>Note:</b> If you have two different IP addresses for the same MI Listener—one for internal communication with the Controller and a second for public communication with a Load generator located over a firewall—enter the <b>internal IP address</b> here. Enter the public IP address in the <b>Public IP</b> field (see above).
Purpose	The role designated to the MI Listener:
	Diagnostics data collection over a firewall
	Monitoring over a firewall
	Running hosts over a firewall

### **MI Listeners Module Menus and Buttons**

The MI Listeners module enables you to manage your MI Listeners.

Relevant tasks "How to Manage MI Listeners" on page 217

Common menus and toolbars of the MI Listeners module are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Delete	Edit and	Deletes the MI Listener selected in the grid.
×	click menu>	<b>Note:</b> You cannot delete an MI Listener that is being used by a host.
MI Listener Details	Toolbar and right- click menu	Opens the <b>MI Listener Details</b> dialog box, enabling you to view and edit details of the selected resource.
Export	Toolbar and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export All Grid Data or Export Selected Grid Data dialog boxes, enabling you to export the MI Listeners in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Select one of the following options: <ul> <li>All. Exports all resources in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected resources in the grid.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a resource in the module. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Go to <resource></resource>	Toolbar	Opens the <b>Go To MI Listener</b> dialog box, enabling you to find a specific MI Listener by its ID number. You can only go to MI Listeners that are in the current filter.
Grid Filters	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Enables you to filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Information Panel	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
New MI Listener	Toolbar	Enables you to add an MI Listener .
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Organizes your favorite views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Private	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.
Public	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	In the grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the MI Listeners in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Update Selected	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# New MI Listener Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to add an MI Listener to ALM.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select MI Listeners.</li> <li>In the MI Listeners module, click the New MI Listener button.</li> </ol>
Important information	MI Listeners enable running Vusers over a firewall and collecting server monitor data and application diagnostics data over a firewall.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage MI Listeners" on page 217
See also	"MI Listeners Overview" on page 217
	"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears the data.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
MI Listener Name	The name for the new MI Listener.
Details	Required fields are marked with an asterisk (*) and are displayed in red. For details on the available MI Listener fields, see "MI Listener Fields" on page 220.

### MI Listener Details Dialog Box

This dialog box displays details about the selected MI Listener.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select MI Listeners.</li> </ol>
	2. Right-click an MI Listener in the grid and select <b>MI Listener Details</b> .

Important information	MI Listeners enable running tests on hosts over a firewall and collecting server monitor data and application diagnostics data over a firewall.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106
See also	<ul><li>"MI Listeners Overview" on page 217</li><li>"Lab Resources Overview" on page 104</li></ul>

UI Elements	Description
K 4 4 4	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of MI Listeners.
≜ <b>B</b>	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
MI Listener ID	The ID of the MI Listener.
MI Listener Name	The name of the MI Listener.
Details	Details the currently selected MI Listener. For details on the available fields, see "MI Listener Fields" on page 220.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected MI Listener. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# **Chapter 12: Diagnostics Management**

This chapter includes:

J2EE/.NET Diagnostics Overview	. 225
ERP/CRM Diagnostics Overview	. 226
How to Add ERP/CRM Mediators	. 228
How to Add HP Diagnostics Servers	.228
How to Pre-Configure Siebel/Siebel DB Diagnostics	. 229
How to Pre-Configure Oracle 11i Diagnostics	. 233
How to Pre-Configure SAP Diagnostics	234
How to Enable and Disable Logging on the Siebel Server	235
How to Enable Logging on the Oracle Server	. 236
How to Set and Disable the Oracle Server Diagnostics Password	237
Diagnostics User Interface	.238

# J2EE/.NET Diagnostics Overview

The HP Diagnostics integration with HP Application Lifecycle Management (ALM) allows you to monitor and analyze the performance of Java 2 Enterprise Edition (J2EE), .NET-connected, SAP, Oracle, and other complex environments.

During a performance test, you can drill down into HP Diagnostics data for the whole test or for a particular transaction. After the test, you can use HP LoadRunner Analysis to analyze offline diagnostics data generated during the test.

#### **Monitoring Server Requests**

When configuring a performance test to use J2EE/.NET Diagnostics, you can instruct ALM to capture a percentage of server requests which occur outside the context of any Vuser transaction.

The benefit of enabling this functionality is that calls into a back-end VM can be captured even in the case where:

- The probe is not capturing RMI calls
- RMI calls cannot be captured (perhaps because an unsupported application container is being used)
- The application uses some other mechanism for communications between multiple VMs

For more information about working with diagnostics for J2EE and .NET, see the *HP Diagnostics User Guide*.

# **ERP/CRM Diagnostics Overview**

The following sections provide an overview of ERP/CRM diagnostics.

#### **Understanding ERP/CRM Diagnostics**

During a performance test, the ALM diagnostics modules trace, time, and troubleshoot individual transactions across the Web, application, and database servers. You can drill down from a slow end-user transaction all the way to the bottlenecked method or SQL statement. The ALM Performance Center diagnostics modules enable organizations to:

- Rapidly isolate application components that have a significant impact on end-user experience.
- Provide developers with precise data on how to make performance improvements.

#### **ERP/CRM Diagnostics Modules Architecture**

ERP/CRM Diagnostics architecture, as shown in the diagram below, is comprised of the following components:



- **Mediator.** The ERP/CRM Mediator ("Mediator") gathers and correlates offline transaction data from the Web, database, and application servers. For information on installing the Mediator, see the *HP LoadRunner Installation Guide*.
- **Controller.** Before test execution, the Controller transfers all server information to the Mediator and distributes the percentage of users that will participate in the monitoring. After test execution, the Controller collects the aggregated transaction data files from the Mediators and collates the results. Results are transferred to the Siebel diagnostics, SAP diagnostics, or Oracle DB results directory.
- Load Generators. When you execute a load test, the Controller distributes each Vuser to a load generator, and the load generator executes the Vuser script.

• **Analysis.** Displays detailed diagnostics graphs and reports. For more information about the diagnostics graphs, see the *HP LoadRunner Analysis User Guide*.

#### Connecting the Mediator to a Remote Server

When you set up the ERP/CRM Diagnostics modules, you define a server to monitor by entering the user name of the server where trace/log files are stored. This section explains how the Mediator connects to the server when it is a remote Windows or UNIX server.

- When monitoring a remote Windows server, the Mediator attempts to connect to the server using the configuration details which you enter in the <diagnostics type> Server Configuration Dialog Box during the diagnostics configuration process. This configuration should give administrator permissions to the remote machine.
- When monitoring a remote Linux, the Mediator supports the remote shell connection type. For more information on remote shell connections, see the section that describes verifying the Linux load generator installation in the *HP LoadRunner Installation Guide*.

#### Siebel and Siebel DB Diagnostics Overview

Siebel Diagnostics are split into the following modules:

- Siebel Diagnostics Module. Enables you to break down Siebel transactions into layers, areas, sub-areas, servers, and scripts. You can also view the transaction chain of calls and call stack statistics to track the percentage of time spent on each part of the transaction. Siebel-Web Vusers support Siebel Diagnostics.
- Siebel DB Diagnostics Module. Helps you rapidly identify and resolve database performance problems. You can view the SQLs for each transaction, identify the problematic SQL queries of each script, and identify at which point problems occurred. Siebel-Web Vusers support Siebel DB Diagnostics.

For information on how to pre-configure the Siebel/Siebel DB Diagnostics modules, see "How to Pre-Configure Siebel/Siebel DB Diagnostics" on page 229.

#### Oracle 11i Diagnostics Overview

Oracle 11i Diagnostics helps pinpoint performance problems on Oracle NCA systems. The diagnostics information drills down from the transaction to the SQL statements, and to the SQL statement. Stages of each statement. Oracle NCA Vusers support Oracle 11i Diagnostics.

For information on how to pre-configure the Oracle 11i Diagnostics module, see "How to Pre-Configure Oracle 11i Diagnostics" on page 233.

#### **SAP Diagnostics Overview**

SAP Diagnostics enables you to pinpoint the root cause of a certain problem (for example, DBA, Network, WAS, Application, OS/HW) quickly and easily, and engage with the relevant expert only, without having to present the problem to a whole team of people.

For information on how to configure the SAP Diagnostics module, see "How to Pre-Configure SAP Diagnostics" on page 234.

**Server-side Data Collection.** SAP Diagnostics is based on SAP Distributed Statistical Records (DSR). For each dialog step performed on application server, a statistical record is generated, which includes information such as response time components, database statistics, RFC times, and so on. The Diagnostics Mediator is responsible for collecting diagnostics data from the server during a performance test.

**Vuser Coloring.** SAP Diagnostics allows replaying the SAPGUI protocol. You set the percentage of colored Vusers in the Configuration dialog (up to 100% allowed). Coloring of SAPGUI users creates no overhead on the Application server.

# How to Add ERP/CRM Mediators

This task describes how to add diagnostics servers and mediators in order to work with J2EE/.NET and ERP/CRM diagnostics.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

#### 1. Prerequisite

Make sure that the mediator is installed in the same LAN as the monitored server. For information on installing the ERP/CRM Mediator, see the *HP LoadRunner Installation Guide*.

#### 2. Add and configure the mediator

- a. On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select Diagnostics.
- b. Select the ERP/CRM Diagnostics tab.
- c. Click the **New Diagnostics Mediator** button \*, and enter the required information. For user interface details, see "Diagnostics Module Fields" on page 239.

### How to Add HP Diagnostics Servers

This task describes how to add an HP Diagnostics server to allow you to monitor and analyze J2EE/.NET environments.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

- 1. On the Lab Management sidebar, under **Performance Center**, select **Diagnostics**.
- 2. Select the J2EE/.NET Diagnostics tab.
- 3. Click the **New Diagnostics Server** button, and enter the required information. For user interface details, see "Diagnostics Module Fields" on page 239.

4. Under Lab Settings, select Project Settings. Right-click the relevant project and select Project Settings Details. Add the relevant server information in the Diagnostics Server field.

**Note:** To ensure that diagnostics data is available online, make sure that the time on the diagnostics server is synchronized with its probes.

# How to Pre-Configure Siebel/Siebel DB Diagnostics

This task describes the pre-configuration steps to be performed by the ALM administrator which allow the performance tester to enable and run Siebel diagnostics.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

This task includes the following steps:

- "Prerequisite" below
- "If connecting to a UNIX server with a remote shell (RSH/RCP) connection" below
- "Configure the server machine to enable diagnostics" on the next page
- "Copy files from the Siebel Application Server to the Mediator" on page 231
- "Synchronize clocks" on page 232
- "(Siebel DB) Enable logging on the Siebel Server" on page 233

#### 1. Prerequisite

Make sure that the ERP/CRM mediator is installed and configured. For more information, see "How to Add ERP/CRM Mediators" on the previous page.

# 2. If connecting to a UNIX server with a remote shell (RSH/RCP) connection

- Verify that the RSH and RCP daemons are running on the UNIX server.
- Verify that the UNIX user has permission to run remote shell commands. To check this, type the following at the DOS command prompt:

rsh <server machine name> -1 <UNIX user login name> -n <command>

#### Example:

rsh my\_unix -1 my\_name -n "cd ~;pwd"

**Note:** You can use only RSH commands that work from the DOS command prompt window.

• Verify that no output is generated after executing the RSH command.

**Note:** You should not generate output from the **.login**, **.profile**, and **.cshrc** files (for example, by **echo**, or in any other way, including commands that generate output indirectly, such as **biff**). Where an existing user generates output in the RSH step that cannot be deleted, you should create a new user that does not generate output, and who has permissions to run RSH and RCP commands on the server machine.

#### 3. Configure the server machine to enable diagnostics

To configure Siebel application and Web servers for diagnostics data collection:

a. Enable Siebel Diagnostics on all Siebel application and Web servers involved in the test.

Set the environment variable on the Siebel server to:

SIEBEL\_SarmEnabled=true

Then restart the server.

b. Optimize the server performance settings.

You change the maximum memory caching and file size using the following variables:

SIEBEL\_SarmMaxMemory= <bytes>SIEBEL\_SarmMaxFileSize = <bytes>

The **SIEBEL\_SarmMaxMemory** value controls the size of the buffer that Siebel keeps in the memory before writing the information to the Siebel log files. You can improve server performance by increasing the parameter value. However, information from the end of the run will be missing from the Analysis graphs.

We recommend the following settings:

#### • SIEBEL\_SarmMaxMemory

Value	Number of Vusers	
5000	Less than 20 (low loads)	
1000000	More than 100 (high loads)	

#### • SIEBEL\_SarmMaxFileSize

Value	Number of Vusers	
5000000	Less than 20 (low loads)	
25000000	More than 100 (high loads)	

If more than one Siebel log file is generated on the server every 10 seconds, you should increase the **SIEBEL\_SarmMaxFileSize**.

#### c. Generate a list of Siebel Server IDs.

On the Siebel server, open a command window and run the following command:

```
<Siebel bin directory>\srvrmgr /u <username> /p <password> /g <gateway se
rver> /e <entrpr server> /c "list servers show SBLSRVR_NAME, SV_SRVRID"
where:
```

/u <username> is the server administrator username.

- /p <password> is the server administrator password.
- /g <gateway server> is the gateway server address.
- /e <entrpr server> is the enterprise server name.

/c <command> is the execute a single command.

This command generates a list of all the Siebel application servers and their IDs. Keep a record of the server IDs, since this information is required in the Siebel Server Configuration dialog box.

#### 4. Copy files from the Siebel Application Server to the Mediator

After configuring the application server, copy the files listed below from the Siebel Application server **\bin** directory to either the <Mediator Root>\bin directory, <Windows>\System32 directory, or any other directory in PATH on the Mediator machine:

#### For Siebel 7.53, copy the following files:

	sarmanalyzer.exe		sslcshar.dll
•	ssicver.dll	•	ssicosa.dll
	sslcsym.dll		

For Siebel 7.7, copy the following files:

<ul> <li>sarmanalyzer.exe</li> </ul>	ssicosa.dll
Iibarm.dll	<ul> <li>sslcosd.dll</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>msvcp70.dll</li> </ul>	ssicrsa.dll
<ul> <li>msvcr70.dll</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ssicscr.dll</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>sslcacln.dll</li> </ul>	ssicshar.dll
ssiccore.dll	ssicsrd.dll
<ul> <li>ssicevt.dll</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ssicsym.dll</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>ssicos.dll</li> </ul>	ssicver.dll

#### 5. Synchronize clocks

• **On Windows Siebel Servers:** Ensure that all the machines' clocks in the Siebel system are synchronized. This ensures that the correlation of SQLs to transactions is correct.

Synchronize the Siebel Gateway and load generators' clocks by running the following command from the load generator:

net time \ <Gateway name> /set /y

Replace **<Gateway name>** with the name of the Siebel Gateway.

 On Unix Siebel Servers: Ensure that all the machines' clocks in the Siebel system are synchronized. This ensures that the correlation of SQLs to transactions is correct.

You can synchronize the clocks on a UNIX system in one of the following ways:

- Use the **date** command on the UNIX Siebel Gateway server to change the time manually, so it will be synchronized with the Load Generator's clock.
- Change the time on the load generator so that it will be synchronized with the UNIX Siebel Gateway server.

• Configure the time difference in Analysis. For more information, see the chapter about Siebel DB Diagnostics Graphs in the *HP LoadRunner Analysis User Guide*.

#### 6. (Siebel DB) Enable logging on the Siebel Server

For task details, see "How to Enable and Disable Logging on the Siebel Server" on page 235.

### How to Pre-Configure Oracle 11i Diagnostics

This task describes the pre-configuration steps to be performed by the ALM administrator which allow the performance tester to enable and run Oracle 11i diagnostics.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

This task includes the following steps:

- "Prerequisite" below
- "Consider this before connecting to a UNIX server with a remote shell (RSH/RCP) connection" below
- "Enable logging on the Oracle server" on the next page
- "Set or disable the Oracle server diagnostics password optional" on the next page

#### 1. Prerequisite

Make sure that the ERP/CRM mediator is installed and configured. For more information, see "How to Add ERP/CRM Mediators" on page 228.

#### Consider this before connecting to a UNIX server with a remote shell (RSH/RCP) connection

- Verify that the RSH and RCP daemons are running on the UNIX server.
- Verify that the UNIX user has permission to run remote shell commands. To check this, type the following at the DOS command prompt:

```
rsh <server machine name> -1 <UNIX user login name> -n <command>
```

#### Example:

```
rsh my_unix -1 my_name -n "cd ~;pwd"
```

Note: You can only use RSH commands that work from the DOS command prompt

window.

• Verify that no output is generated after executing the RSH command.

**Note:** You should not generate output from the **.login**, **.profile**, and **.cshrc** files (for example, by **echo**, or in any other way, including commands that generate output indirectly, such as **biff**). Where an existing user generates output in the RSH step that cannot be deleted, you should create a new user that does not generate output, and who has permissions to run RSH and RCP commands on the server machine.

#### 3. Enable logging on the Oracle server

For task details, see "How to Enable Logging on the Oracle Server" on page 236.

#### 4. Set or disable the Oracle server diagnostics password - optional

To help ALM deal with the Oracle server diagnostics password, you can either set the password in the Vuser script, or you can disable the password request on the server itself. For task details, see "How to Set and Disable the Oracle Server Diagnostics Password" on page 237.

### How to Pre-Configure SAP Diagnostics

This task describes the pre-configuration steps to be performed by the ALM administrator that allows the performance tester to enable and run SAP diagnostics.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

#### Install the ERP/CRM Mediator

Make sure that the ERP/CRM mediator is installed and configured. For more information, see "How to Add ERP/CRM Mediators" on page 228.

**Note:** When using SAP Diagnostics, ensure that a SAPGUI client is installed on the same machine as the ERP/CRM Mediator.

# How to Enable and Disable Logging on the Siebel Server

This task describes how to enable and disable logging on the Siebel server.

Note:

- This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.
- Enabling logging on the Siebel server can negatively impact server performance. We recommend that you disable logging and restore the default logging settings at the conclusion of the performance test.

#### To enable logging on the Siebel server

Perform the following steps:

1. Open a command window and run the following command:

<Siebel bin directory>\srvrmgr /g <gateway server> /s <Siebel server> /e <en terprise server name> /u <username> /p <password>

where:

/u <username> is the server administrator username.

/p <password> is the server administrator password.

/g <gateway server> is the gateway server address.

/e <entrpr server> is the enterprise server name.

/s <siebel server > is the siebel server (the default server).

2. Enter the following commands:

change evtloglvl ObjMgrsqllog=4 for comp <component name>

evtloglvl EventContext=3 for comp <component name>

evtloglvl ObjMgrSessionInfo =3 for comp <component name>

#### Example:

For the Call Center component, enter **sccobjmgr\_enu** as the component name, as follows:

change evtloglvl ObjMgrsqllog=4 for comp sccobjmgr\_enu

#### To disable logging on the Siebel server

Perform the following steps:

1. Open a command window and run the following command:

<Siebel bin directory>\srvrmgr /g <gateway server> /s <Siebel server> /e <en terprise server name> /u <username> /p <password>

where:

/u <username> is the server administrator username.

/p <password> is the server administrator password.

/g <gateway server> is the gateway server address.

/e <entrpr server> is the enterprise server name.

/s <siebel server> is the siebel server name (the default server).

2. Enter the following commands:

change evtloglvl ObjMgrsqllog=0 for comp <component name>

change evtloglvl EventContext=0 for comp <component name>

change evtloglvl ObjMgrSessionInfo =0 for comp <component name>

### How to Enable Logging on the Oracle Server

This task describes how to enable logging on the Oracle server.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

This task includes the following steps:

- "Verify that the trace diagnostics are enabled" on the next page
- "Set the trace file size to unlimited" on the next page

#### 1. Verify that the trace diagnostics are enabled

Perform the following steps:

- a. Log on to the Oracle application server with administrator privileges, and select the desired module in the Oracle application. The Responsibilities dialog box opens.
- b. Select System Administrator and click OK.
- c. In the Functions tab, select Profile > System and click Open. The System Profile Values

dialog box opens.

- d. In the **Display** section, select **Site** and **Profiles** with **No Values**, enter %Diagnostics% in the **Profiles** field, and then click **Find**.
- e. If any diagnostics profiles are disabled (denoted by a "Yes" in the **Site** column), change the setting to "No".
- f. Save your settings.

#### 2. Set the trace file size to unlimited

#### For Oracle 9i:

On the Oracle server, run the following command in the SQL editor:

Alter system set max\_dump\_file\_size=UNLIMITED scope=both;

#### For Oracle 8i:

a. On the Oracle server, run the following command in the SQL editor:

Alter system set max\_dump\_file\_size=2048000;

b. Edit the **init\*.ora** file on **\$ORACLE\_HOME\admin\<sid>\pfile\init<sid>.ora**. Find the line of the parameter, change its value, and then save the file.

**Note:** Verify that you have enough disk space on the database server since these trace files can be very large.

### How to Set and Disable the Oracle Server Diagnostics Password

To help ALM deal with the Oracle server diagnostics password, you can either set the password in the Vuser script, or you can disable the password request on the server itself.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

- "Set the diagnostics password in the Vuser script" below
- "Disable the diagnostics password request on the Oracle server" below

#### Set the diagnostics password in the Vuser script

In VuGen, add the **nca\_set\_diagnostics\_password(<password>)** function to your script and select a password.

Note: The nca\_set\_diagnostics\_password function must come after the nca\_connect\_ server function.

#### Disable the diagnostics password request on the Oracle server

Perform the following steps:

- 1. Log on to the Oracle server with administrator privileges, and select the desired module in the Oracle application. The Responsibilities dialog box opens.
- 2. Select System Administrator and click OK.
- In the Functions tab, select Profile > System and click Open. The System Profile Values dialog box opens.
- 4. In the **Display** section, select **User**, and enter the required user name. In the **Profile** field, enter %Utilities:Diagnostics% and click **Find**. The Utilities:Diagnostics profile values are displayed.
- 5. In the User column of the Utilities: Diagnostics profile, set the value to Yes.
- 6. Save your settings.

### **Diagnostics User Interface**

This section includes:

Diagnostics Module Window	239
Diagnostics Module Fields	239
Diagnostics Module Menus and Buttons	240

### **Diagnostics Module Window**

The Diagnostics Module Window enables you to add and manage ERP/CRM mediators and J2EE/.NET servers.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>Diagnostics</b> .
Relevant	"How to Add ERP/CRM Mediators" on page 228
10315	"How to Add HP Diagnostics Servers" on page 228

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
<alm common<br="">areas&gt;</alm>	For details on the ALM common areas, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<diagnostics module fields&gt;</diagnostics 	For details on the fields that are available in the Diagnostics module, see "Diagnostics Module Fields" below.
<diagnostics module menus and buttons&gt;</diagnostics 	For details on the icons that are available in the Diagnostics module, see "Diagnostics Module Menus and Buttons" on the next page.
ERP/CRM Diagnostics tab	Enables you to add and manage ERP/CRM Diagnostics mediators.
J2EE/.NET Diagnostics tab	Enables you to add and manage J2EE/.NET Diagnostics servers.
History tab	Displays a history of the changes made to the selected server/mediator, including the date and time of the change and the name of the user who made the change.
	For details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.

### **Diagnostics Module Fields**

This section describes the Diagnostics module fields.

Field	Description
Description	A description of the mediator/server.
Enable SSL	Select <b>Enable</b> if ALM is communicating with Diagnostics through SSL.

Field	Description		
Logical Name	The logical name given to the mediator/server.		
Machine Name / IP	The name or IP address of the mediator/server.		
Over Firewall	Denotes if monitoring over a firewall is enabled or not. Select ${\bf Y}$ for enabled and ${\bf N}$ for not enabled.		
	Note: Available for ERP/CRM diagnostice only.		
Password	Enter the password you use to log on to HP Diagnostics. Default: Admin		
	Note: Available for J2EE/.NET diagnostics only.		
Port	Enter the port number used by the diagnostics server. Default: 2006		
	Note: Available for J2EE/.NET diagnostics only.		
Туре	The ERP/CRM mediator type.		
	Note: Available for ERP/CRM diagnostics only.		
Username	Enter the user name with which you log on to HP Diagnostics.		
	<b>Note:</b> The user name that you specify should have <b>view</b> , <b>change</b> , and <b>execute</b> privileges. For more information about user privileges, see the <i>HP Diagnostics Installation and Configuration Guide</i> .		

### **Diagnostics Module Menus and Buttons**

This section describes the menus and buttons in the Diagnostics module.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Menu	Description
×	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Deletes the selected server/mediator from the grid.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Menu	Description
Check Server/Mediator	Diagnostics Server/Mediator and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Click to check if the server/mediator is up and running.
Copy URL 한	Diagnostics Server/Mediator	Copies a selected server/mediator and pastes its URL as a link. The server/mediator itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking the link opens up ALM and takes you to the server/mediator. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
Diagnostics Server/Mediator Details	Diagnostics Server/Mediator and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Click to view server/mediator details.
Export	Diagnostics Server/Mediator and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the servers/mediators in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options:</li> <li>All. Exports all servers/mediators in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected servers/mediators in the grid.</li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for field details in the module. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Go to Diagnostics Server/Mediator	Diagnostics Server/Mediator	Opens a dialog box which prompts you for the server/mediator ID. Click <b>OK</b> to open the server/mediator details window.
Grid Filters	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Enables you filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP</i> <i>Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Information Panel	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Menu	Description
New Diagnostics Server/Mediator	Diagnostics Server/Mediator	Click to add a new ERP/CRM mediator or J2EE/.NET server. For information on the relevant fields, see "Diagnostics Module Fields" on page 239.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	In the grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> . For details about the Diagnostics fields, see "Diagnostics Module Fields" on page 239.
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the resources in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Update Selected	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle</i> <i>Management User Guide</i> .

# **Chapter 13: Patch Management**

This chapter includes:

Patches Overview	243
How to Upload Patches to ALM	243
Patch Management User Interface	. 243

# **Patches Overview**

The Patches module enables you to upload a Performance Center patch to Lab Management and to then install the patch on the appropriate host or server.

### How to Upload Patches to ALM

This task describes how to upload patches to ALM.

**Note:** This task is part of a higher-level task. For details, see "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

#### To upload a patch:

- 1. On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select Patches.
- 2. Click the **New Patch** button : The Select Patch dialog box opens, enabling you to select a patch (.msp/.msi) to upload.
- 3. Click Open. The New Patch dialog box opens.
- 4. Enter the details for the new patch and click **OK**. The patch is added to the system and appears in the Patches grid.

### Patch Management User Interface

This section includes:

Patches Module Window	. 244
Patches Module Fields	.244
Patches Module Menus and Buttons	. 245
Patch Details Dialog Box	.247
New Patch Dialog Box	.248

### **Patches Module Window**

This module enables you to view and upload patches.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>Patches</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Upload Patches to ALM" on the previous page
See also	<ul><li> "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106</li><li> "How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270</li></ul>

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
<information panel&gt;</information 	Located in the lower area of the module. Displays a description about the patch selected in the grid.
<patches grid=""></patches>	Displays a list of the patches that have been uploaded to ALM Performance Center.
<patches module<br="">common UI elements&gt;</patches>	<ul> <li>Patches module fields. For field definitions, see "Patches Module Fields" below.</li> <li>Patches module menus and buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "Patches Module Menus and Buttons" on the next page.</li> <li>ALM main menu and sidebar. For details on the Tools menu, Help menu and sidebar, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.</li> </ul>

### **Patches Module Fields**

This section describes the Patches module fields:

Field	Description
Description	Displays a description of the selected patch.
ID	The patch ID.
Name	The patch name.
Path	The patch path.

### **Patches Module Menus and Buttons**

This section describes the menus and buttons available in the Patches module.

To access On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select Patches.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Copy URL	Patches and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Copies a selected patch and pastes its URL as a link. The patch itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking the link opens up ALM and takes you to the patch file or folder. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
Export	Patches and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the patches in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options:</li> <li>All. Exports all project settings in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected project settings in the grid.</li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for patches in the module. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Go to Patch	Patches	Opens the Go To Patch dialog box, enabling you to find a specific patch by its ID number. You can only go to patches that are in the current filter.
Grid Filters	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Enables you filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Information Panel	View and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.
New Patch	Patches	Opens the Select Patch dialog box, which enables you to select a patch to upload.
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Organize Favorites dialog box, enabling you to organize the list of favorite views by changing properties or deleting views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Patch Details	Patches and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Patch Details dialog box, enabling you to view and edit details of the selected patch.
Private	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.
Public	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	In the Project Details grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> . For details about the patches fields, see "Patches Module Fields" on page 244.
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the patches in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Update Selected	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### Patch Details Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to view details of a patch in Lab Management.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>Patches</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243
See also	<ul><li> "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106</li><li> "How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270</li></ul>

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
000	<b>First/Previous/Next/Last Entity.</b> Enables you to browse through the list of projects.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Details	For field definitions, see "Patches Module Fields" on page 244.

## **New Patch Dialog Box**

This dialog box enables you to add new Performance Center patches.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select Patches.</li> </ol>
	2. Click the <b>New Patch</b> button . The Select Patch dialog box opens.
	3. Navigate to the location of the patch, and click <b>Open</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears all data in the dialog box.
AB STATE	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
R.	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Details	Lists Patches fields. Required fields are displayed in red. For details on the available fields, see "Patches Module Fields" on page 244.
	<b>Tip:</b> Clicking in the <b>Description</b> field on this page displays a toolbar for formatting and spell checking the text.
Name	Type a name for the new patch.
	Syntax exceptions: A server name cannot include the following characters: \ / : " ? < >   * % '

# **Chapter 14: AUT Host Management**

This chapter includes:

AUT Resources Overview	.249
How to Import AUT Host Data from Excel	. 249
AUT Resource Modules User Interface	. 254

# **AUT Resources Overview**

Application Under Test (AUT) components, such as Web/application servers or database servers, are hosted on machines known as AUT hosts. The AUT hosts are grouped together into **AUT Pools**.

The AUT hosts are a core element of the Topology and SiteScope integration features.

# How to Import AUT Host Data from Excel

This task describes how to import a list of AUT hosts from an Excel file (.xls or .csv) into ALM.

This task includes the following steps:

- "Prerequisites" below
- "Import the AUT hosts (only for Performance Center users)" on page 253
- "Results" on page 253

#### 1. Prerequisites

The Excel file must be set up so that the columns can be recognized and mapped by the Import feature.

• The first row of the Excel file must contain the field names, or corresponding logical names, that appear in the table below. (Logical names are not case sensitive.)

Some fields are mandatory, others are required or optional.

- Mandatory indicates a field that must appear in the Excel file. If you omit this field, the import fails. If you omit a value in one of the rows of this field's column, the import of that specific row fails.
- **Required** indicates a field that **should** appear in the Excel file. If you omit this field, the code adds the field with the default value for all rows. If you include the field, but omit a value in one of the rows of this column, the code adds the default value for that row.

- **Optional** indicates a field does not have to appear in the Excel file. Omitting this field has no effect on the import procedure.
- Fields representing virtual, reference, and invalid fields are ignored.
- Empty columns are allowed.

Set up the columns and values in the file as follows:

Field name	Logical name	Value	Field for
AUTHOST_ NAME	Logical Name	Any string	AUT host logical name
Required			be given the same value as AUTHOST_MACHINE_NAME
AUTHOST_ MACHINE_ NAME	Machine Name / IP	The machine name/IP	AUT host physical machine name
Ivial luatory			
AUTHOST_ USERNAME	Username	The user name of the machine	User name for logging on to the AUT host machine
mandatory			
AUTHOST_ PASSWORD	Password	The password of the user name	Password for logging on to the AUT host machine
Mandatory			

Field name	Logical name	Value	Field for
Field name AUTHOST_OS Required for UNIX platforms only	name OS Type	Value SUNOS (default) Sun Solaris MacOSX Linux Red Hat Enterprise Linux AIX FreeBSD HP-UX HP/UX 64-bit HP/UX 64-bit NonStopOS OPENSERVER SCO SGI Irix Tru64 5.x	Field for AUT host machine operating system (For UNIX platform only)
		<ul> <li>Truo4 pre 4.x (Digital)</li> </ul>	
AUTHOST_ PLATFORM	Platform	<ul> <li>Windows (default)</li> </ul>	AUT host platform
Required		<ul> <li>UNIX</li> </ul>	

Field name	Logical name	Value	Field for
AUTHOST_ PROTOCOL Required	Protocol	Windows: NetBIOS (default) SSH WMI UNIX: I rlogin Telnet (default) SSH	AUT host protocol
AUTHOST_ UNIX_ PROMPT Required for UNIX platforms only	UNIX Prompt	# (default)	UNIX prompt on the AUT host machine
AUTHOST_ DESCRIPTION Optional	Description	Any string	AUT host description

#### Example:

The following image illustrates an Excel file set up with the following AUT hosts: **1.2.3.4**, **5.6.7.8**, and a third machine whose name was not provided.
6		- 0 - 6	🕽 🕈 Aut	HostsImpo	t_eg.xls [C	ompatibility	y Mode] -	Microsoft E	Excel _	. =	x
	Home	e Insert	Page L	ayout Fo	rmulas	Data Re	eview V	iew Ado	d-Ins 🕜		х
P	aste 🖋	Arial B Z U Son Fon			■ 🗗 ■ 🔤 • ≫•• ► ► ¶ •	General \$ → % •.0 .00 •.00 →.0 Number	, A style	S Cell	rt ▼ Σ ▼ ete ▼ ↓ ▼ nat ▼ 2 ▼ s Edi	∰~ 計~	
	11	•	• (*	∫x AUT	HOST_DES	CRIPTION					¥
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	antibus notata	J	-
1	AUTHOST_ NAME	AUTHOST_ MACHINE_ NAME	AUTHOST_ USERNAME	AUTHOST_ PASSWORD	AUTHOST_ OS	AUTHOST_ PLATFORM	AUTHOST_ PROTOCOL	AUTHOST_ UNIX_PROM PT	AUTHOST_ DESCRIPTIO N		Î
2		1.2.3.4	Sam	Sam					Only mandatory fields are filled		
3	Machine1	5.6.7.8	Peter	Peter	SUNOS	Windows	NetBios		Other fields are filled as well		
4	Machine3		Jane	Jane							
5											

### 2. Import the AUT hosts (only for Performance Center users)

- a. Open the AUT Hosts module:
  - In ALM: On the ALM sidebar, under Performance Center AUT, select AUT Hosts.
  - In Lab Management: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select AUT Hosts.
- b. Select **AUT Hosts > Import**.
- c. Browse to the Excel file containing the AUT hosts, and click **Open**.

### 3. Results

The progress of the import process is displayed. At the end of the process, a report displays the import results. The imported AUT hosts are listed in the AUT Hosts module. AUT hosts that are not imported successfully, must be added manually.

#### Example:

The results from importing the Excel file in step **1** above are illustrated in the following image:

* 💷 🗙	<b>9 .</b> . [								
Logical Name	Machine Na	ime / IP	Platform	О \$ Туре	Protocol	Username	Password	UNIX Prompt	Description
1.2.3.4 Machine1	1.2.3.4 5.6.7.8		Windows Windows	NT NT	NetBIOS NetBIOS	Sam Peter	••••••	. # . #	Only mandatory. Other fields are f
		2 AUT 1 AUT WARI [Row	Hosts import Hosts failed NING: 2 Cell 4]: AU	ted successf to import. THOST_OS	ully. field data (S	UNOS) is inc	Close Detai		
Description History Other fields are filled as well		ERRC [Row value	placed to 'N R: 3 Cell 2]: Fiel was assigne	IT'. Id 'AUTHOS' d to it.	T_MACHINE	_NAME' is mai	ndatory, but no		

#### Note:

- No logical name was provided in the Excel file for machine 1.2.3.4. Therefore, the logical name given is equivalent to the machine name/IP.
- Machine 1's operating system was specified as SUNOS, whereas the platform was specified as Windows. These values are inconsistent as SUNOS is relevant only for a UNIX platform. The value SUNOS was replaced with NT.
- No machine name was specified for the third machine listed in the Excel file. This
  machine was not imported. It should be added manually.
- Required but non-mandatory values were automatically provided by the system during the import process.
- Columns representing virtual, reference, non-valid fields were ignored.

### **AUT Resource Modules User Interface**

This section includes:

AUT Hosts Module	.255
AUT Host Fields	255
New AUT Host Dialog Box / Add AUT Host Dialog Box	.257
AUT Host Details Dialog Box	. 258
AUT Pools Module	. 259
Linked Hosts Page	.260
Add AUT Hosts to Pool Dialog Box	.261
AUT Pools Fields	262

New AUT Host Pool Dialog Box	. 262
AUT Host Pool Details Dialog Box	. 263
AUT Resource Module Menus and Buttons	264

# **AUT Hosts Module**

This module enables you to view and manage AUT hosts.

To access	Use one of the following:
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>AUT Hosts</b> .
	On the ALM sidebar, under <b>Performance Center AUT</b> , select <b>AUT</b> Hosts.
Important information	The AUT Host module is available both in Lab Management and in ALM.
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
<common menus<br="">and Toolbars&gt;</common>	For details on AUT Resource modules menus and toolbars, see "AUT Resource Module Menus and Buttons" on page 264.
<aut grid="" hosts=""></aut>	Displays a list of AUT hosts defined in ALM.
Description tab	Displays the main details and a description about the AUT host.
	Tip: Right-click the <b>Description</b> area for edit and format options.
History tab	Lists changes made to the selected AUT host. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### **AUT Host Fields**

The following table describes the AUT host fields:

Field (A - Z)	Description
Belongs to	The host pools to which the AUT host belongs.
Pools	Available from: Lab Management only
Description	A description of the AUT host.

Field (A - Z)	Description
Logical Name	The logical name given to the AUT host.
Machine Name/IP	The name or IP address of the AUT host machine.
Modified	The date on which the AUT host details were last modified.
OS Type	The operating system of the AUT host machine.
Password	The password for logging in to the AUT host machine.
Platform	The base operating system of the AUT host machine: Window or UNIX.
Protocol	The network protocol used for communication with the AUT host (for monitoring purposes).
	Default value: NetBIOS, WMI,SSH.
UNIX Prompt	The prompt used by the operating system. Also used for communication with the AUT host (for monitoring purposes).
	Available for: UNIX AUT hosts only.
Username	The user name for logging in to the AUT host machine.

# New AUT Host Dialog Box / Add AUT Host Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to create a new AUT host.

To access	Use one of the following:
	From Lab Management:
	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select AUT Hosts.</li> </ol>
	2. Click New AUT Host .
	From ALM:
	1. On the ALM sidebar, under <b>Performance Center AUT</b> , select <b>AUT Hosts</b> .
	2. Click New AUT Host .
	From My Performance Center:
	1. In My Performance Center, select <b>Perspective&gt; Topologies.</b>
	2. Click * Add AUT Host
Important information	When creating an AUT host in ALM, the AUT host is automatically added to the AUT Pool of the project.
	<b>Tip:</b> You can import a list of AUT hosts from an Excel file. For details, see "How to Import AUT Host Data from Excel" on page 249.
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears the data.
AB IN	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
R.	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.

UI Elements	Description
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Machine Name/IP	The name or IP of the AUT host machine.
Details	Enables you to enter the details of the new AUT host. For more details, see "AUT Host Fields" on page 255.

# AUT Host Details Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to view and modify AUT host details.

To access	Use one of the following:
	• On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>AUT Hosts</b> . Right-click an AUT host in the grid and select <b>AUT Host Details</b> .
	<ul> <li>On the ALM sidebar, under Performance Center AUT, select AUT Hosts. Right-click an AUT host in the grid and select AUT Host Details.</li> </ul>
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
K 4 4 4	<b>First/Previous/Next/Last Entity.</b> Enables you to browse through the list of AUT hosts.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR: E	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Machine Name/IP	The name or IP of the AUT host machine.
Details	Displays the details of the selected AUT host. For more details, see "AUT Host Fields" on page 255.
History	Lists changes made to the selected AUT host. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# **AUT Pools Module**

This module enables you to view and manage AUT Pools.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>AUT Pools</b> .
Relevan t tasks	The AUT Pools module is available only in Lab Management.
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

UI Elements	Description
<common Menus and Toolbars&gt;</common 	For details on AUT Pools module menus and toolbars, see "AUT Resource Module Menus and Buttons" on page 264.
<aut pools<br="">grid&gt;</aut>	Displays the AUT Pools defined in the system.
Description tab	Displays the main details and a description about the AUT Pool.
	Tip: Right-click the <b>Description</b> area for edit and format options.
Linked Hosts tab	Enables you to add AUT hosts to the selected pool and remove hosts from the pool. For details, see "Linked Hosts Page" on the next page.
History tab	Lists changes made to the selected AUT Pool. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# Linked Hosts Page

This page enables you to add AUT hosts to an AUT Pool, and remove AUT hosts from an AUT Pool.

To access	From the AUT Pools module:
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>AUT Pools</b> . In the information panel, select <b>Linked Hosts</b> .
	From the AUT Pool Details dialog box:
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>AUT Pools</b> . Right-click an AUT Pool and select <b>AUT Pool Details</b> . In the AUT Pool Details dialog box, select <b>Linked Hosts</b> .
	Note: Available in Lab Management only.
Important information	The Linked Hosts page enables you to link multiple AUT hosts to an AUT Pool.
	Alternatively, you can link a single AUT host to multiple AUT Pools from the <b>Belongs To Pools</b> field in the AUT host's details. For details, see "AUT Host Fields" on page 255.
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

UI Elements	Description
	<b>AUT Host Details.</b> Opens the AUT Host Details dialog box, enabling you to view details about the selected linked AUT host. For details, see "AUT Host Fields" on page 255.
8 <b>2</b> 4	Add Hosts to Pool. Opens the Add AUT Hosts to Pool dialog box, enabling you to select AUT hosts to add to the AUT Pool.
8	<b>Remove Host.</b> Removes the selected AUT hosts from the AUT Pool.
<b>*</b>	Go to Host. Displays the selected linked AUT host in the AUT Hosts module.
Ø	Refresh All. Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.
¥.	<b>Set Filter/Sort.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements	Description
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Q	<b>Find.</b> Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for an AUT host. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<linked Hosts grid&gt;</linked 	Lists the AUT hosts that belong to the AUT Pool. For details about the host fields, see "AUT Host Fields" on page 255.

# Add AUT Hosts to Pool Dialog Box

This page enables you to select AUT hosts to add to an AUT Pool.

-	• From the AUT Pools module:
To access	<ul> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center select AUT Pools. In the information panel, select Linked Hosts and click the Add Hosts to Pool button.</li> <li>From the AUT Pool Details dialog box: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select AUT</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Pools. Right-click an AUT Pool and select AUT Pool Details. In the AUT Pool Details dialog box, select Linked Hosts and click the Add Hosts to</li> <li>Pool button.</li> <li>Note: Available in Lab Management only.</li> </ul>
Important information	Alternatively, you can link a single AUT host to multiple AUT Pools from the <b>Belongs To Pools</b> field in the AUT host's details. For details, see "AUT Host Fields" on page 255.
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

UI Elements	Description
Ø	Refresh All. Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.

UI Elements	Description
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<b>∀</b> •	<b>Set Filter/Sort.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Add	Adds the selected AUT hosts to the AUT Pool.
<aut Hosts grid&gt;</aut 	Lists the AUT hosts available to add to the AUT Pool.
Selected	Displays the AUT hosts selected to add to the pool.

### **AUT Pools Fields**

The following fields are available for AUT Pools:

Field	Description
Description	A description of the AUT Pool.
Modified	The date on which the AUT Pool details were last modified.
Pool ID	The ID of the AUT Pool.
Pool Name	The name of the AUT Pool.
	<pre>Note: The name may contain up to 128 characters, excluding spaces, periods, and any of the following characters:     ; * \ / " ~ &amp; ? { } \$ %   &lt;&gt; + = ^ []()</pre>
Total Hosts	The total number of AUT hosts in the host pool.

# New AUT Host Pool Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to create a new AUT Pool.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>AUT Pools</b> .
	Click New AUT Host Pool *
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears the data.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
Re	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AB:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Pool Name	The name of the AUT Pool.
Details	Enables you to enter the details of the new AUT Pool. For more details, see "AUT Pools Fields" on the previous page.

# AUT Host Pool Details Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to view and modify AUT Pool details.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Performance Center</b> , select <b>AUT Hosts</b> . Right-click an AUT host in the grid and select <b>AUT Host Details</b> .
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

UI Elements	Description
	<b>First/Previous/Next/Last Entity.</b> Enables you to browse through the list of AUT Pools.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Pool Name	The name of the AUT Pool.
Details	Displays the details of the selected AUT Pool. For more details, see "AUT Pools Fields" on the previous page.

UI Elements	Description
Linked Hosts	Enables you to add AUT hosts to the selected pool and remove hosts from the pool. For details, see "Linked Hosts Page" on page 260.
History	Lists changes made to the selected AUT Pool. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### **AUT Resource Module Menus and Buttons**

These modules enable you to manage the AUT resources which host applications under test.

To access	<ul> <li>Use one of the following:</li> <li>In Lab Management: On the Lab Management sidebar, under Performance Center, select <aut resource="">.</aut></li> <li>In ALM: on the ALM sidebar, under Performance Center AUT, select AUT Hosts.</li> </ul>
	<b>Note:</b> In Lab Management, you can define both AUT hosts and AUT pools. In ALM, you can define only AUT hosts.
Important Information	<ul> <li>AUT hosts can be managed both in Lab Management and in ALM.</li> <li>Only a user with administrator privileges can manage AUT Pools (in Lab Management).</li> </ul>
See also	"AUT Resources Overview" on page 249

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
<aut resource&gt; Details</aut 	<aut resource&gt; and right- click menu</aut 	Opens the <aut resource=""> Details dialog box, enabling you to view details of the selected AUT resource.</aut>
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
Copy URL	<aut resource&gt; and <right- click menu&gt;</right- </aut 	Copies a selected AUT resource URL and pastes it as a link. You can paste the URL into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking the link opens up ALM and takes you to the resource file or folder. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
Delete X	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Deletes the AUT resource selected in the grid.
Export	<aut Resource&gt; and <right- click menu&gt;</right- </aut 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export All Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the AUT resources in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options:</li> <li>All. Exports all resources in the grid.</li> <li>Selected. Exports selected resources in the grid.</li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a resource in the module. For details about search options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Go to <aut Resource&gt;</aut 	<aut Resource&gt;</aut 	Opens the Go To <aut resource=""> dialog box, enabling you to find a specific resource by its ID number. You can only go to resources that are in the current filter.</aut>
Grid Filters	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Enables you filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Import	AUT Hosts	Enables you to import a list of AUT hosts from an Excel file (.xls or .csv) into ALM. For details, see "How to Import AUT Host Data from Excel" on page 249.
Information Panel	View and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Where	Description
New <aut< th=""><th rowspan="2"><aut Resource&gt;</aut </th><th>Enables you to add an AUT resource.</th></aut<>	<aut Resource&gt;</aut 	Enables you to add an AUT resource.
*		<b>Note:</b> For AUT Pools, this is available in Lab Management only.
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Organize Favorites dialog box, enabling you to organize the list of favorite views by changing properties or deleting views. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User</i> <i>Guide</i> .
Private	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.
Public	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Opens the Replace dialog box in the <aut resource=""> grid, enabling you to replace a resource field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i>.</aut>
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
and a		For details about the resource fields, see:
		<ul><li>"AUT Pools Fields" on page 255</li><li>"AUT Pools Fields" on page 262</li></ul>
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the resources in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Update Selected	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the <aut resource=""> grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i>.</aut>

# **Chapter 15: Project Management**

This chapter includes:

# Working With Lab Management Enabled Projects Overview

After you create a Lab Management enabled project, you manage the project in Site Administration. For information about managing projects in ALM, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

In addition to the management tasks in Site Administration, however, there are specific use cases where you must be aware of additional procedures. These use cases are:

### Migrating a project from a staging to a production environment

For more information, see "How to Migrate a Lab Management System from a Staging to a Production Environment " on the next page.

### Creating a copy of a project

For information about how to create a copy of a project, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

When creating a copy of a Lab Management enabled project, you must be aware of the following:

- The new project must also have the Lab Management extension enabled.
- Details about test runs are not included in the Usage Reports.
- Timeslot and project settings are not copied.
- Result files associated with the original project are not copied.

### Archiving a Lab Management project

Archiving a Lab Management enabled project means exporting or removing the project from the server on which it is located, and in the future, importing the project back onto that same server.

For information about exporting, importing, and restoring access to projects, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

When archiving a Lab Management enabled project, you must be aware of the following:

- You cannot import a project onto the original server, if a project with the same PUID exists on that server.
- When restoring access to the project:

- Details about test runs are not included in the Usage Reports.
- Timeslot and project settings information is lost.

# How to Migrate a Lab Management System from a Staging to a Production Environment

The following task describes how to successfully move an Lab Management system from a staging to a production environment.

**Note:** As a result of migrating the system, all information contained in Lab Management originally created in the production environment is lost.

The task includes the following steps:

- "Open Site Administration" below
- "Move Lab Management from the staging to the production environment" below
- "Activate Lab Management in the production environment"
- "Update the ALM license" below
- "Update Servers and Hosts" on the next page
- "Move projects from the staging environment to the production environment" on the next page
- "Activate the projects in the production environment" on the next page
- "In the production environment, configure the project settings in Lab Management " on the next page

### 1. Open Site Administration

For details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide.

### 2. Move Lab Management from the staging to the production environment

- a. In the staging environment, in Site Administration, select the Lab Management tab.
- Remove the Lab Management project from the staging and restore it in the production environment. For details about removing and restoring Lab Management, see "Lab Management Tab" on page 25.

### 3. Activate Lab Management in the production environment

For details about activating Lab Management, see "Lab Management Tab" on page 25.

### 4. Update the ALM license

In the production environment, in Lab Management, update the ALM license. For details, refer to the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

### 5. Update Servers and Hosts

**Note:** Perform this step if the servers and hosts in the production environment are different than those in the staging environment.

In Lab Management, remove the existing servers and hosts and replace them with new servers and hosts.

- For details about how to add Performance Center Server, see "How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270.
- For details about how to add hosts, see "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106.

# 6. Move projects from the staging environment to the production environment

Remove each project from the staging environment and restore them in the production environment. For details about removing and restoring projects, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

#### 7. Activate the projects in the production environment

For details about activating projects, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.

### 8. In the production environment, configure the project settings in Lab Management

Perform this step for each project you moved to the production environment. For details about configuring project settings, see "Project Settings" on page 28.

# **Chapter 16: PC Servers**

This chapter includes:

PC Servers Overview	270
How to Manage Performance Center Servers	. 270
Performance Center Servers Module User Interface	271

# PC Servers Overview

The PC Servers module enables you to manage the information and resources needed for Performance Center functionality. You can create new PC servers, monitor Performance Center server status, edit server information, and check server performance.

For details on managing Performance Center servers, see "How to Manage Performance Center Servers" below.

# How to Manage Performance Center Servers

This task describes the various options for managing the Performance Center Servers.

**Note:** This task is part of the following higher-level task: "How to Work with Lab Management Administration" on page 22.

To learn more about Performance Center Servers, see "PC Servers Overview" above.

This task includes the following steps:

- "Add a server" below
- "Check server connections to Performance Center servers" on the next page
- "Reboot a server" on the next page
- "Install a patch on a server" on the next page

### Add a server

- 1. In Lab Management, select Servers > PC Servers.
- 2. Click the **New PC Server** button



### **Check server connections to Performance Center servers**

On the Lab Management sidebar, under **Servers**, select **PC Servers**. Right-click a server in the grid, and select **Check Server > Check Server**.

The Task Manager opens, and the overall result of each check performed on the server, **Passed** or **Failed**, is displayed.

You can view the progress of the server check in the PC Servers module's **Check Server Status** tab.

The following checks are performed:

- Ping to Server. The Performance Center server pings the selected machines.
- Ping URL. The selected server pings the listed URL.

Alternatively, you can perform the above checks, together with an additional connectivity check from the server to a particular URL. Right-click a server in the grid, select **Check Server > Check Connectivity to URL**, and enter the URL.

#### Examples:

- Regular URL: http://www.website.com
- Machine name: machine22 or http://machine22

### **Reboot a server**

On the Lab Management sidebar, under **Servers** select **PC Servers**. Right-click the server in the grid that you want to reboot, and select **Reboot Server**.

### Install a patch on a server

**Note:** To install patches on a server, patches first need to have been uploaded to the ALM. For details, see "How to Upload Patches to ALM" on page 243.

On the Lab Management sidebar, under **Servers**, select **PC Servers**. Right-click the server in the grid on which to install the patch and select **Install Patch**.

**Tip:** You can install a patch on multiple servers simultaneously. To select multiple servers, hold down the CTRL key on your keyboard while selecting the servers.

# Performance Center Servers Module User Interface

This section includes:

276
277
279

### PC Servers Module Window

The PC Servers Module window enables you to manage Performance Center servers.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers, select PC Servers.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270

UI Elements	Description
<pc servers<br="">Module common UI elements&gt;</pc>	<ul> <li>PC Servers Fields. For field definitions, see "PC Servers Module Fields" on page 276.</li> <li>PC Servers Menus and Buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "PC Servers Module Menus and Buttons" on the next page.</li> <li>ALM masthead, menus, and sidebar. For details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.</li> </ul>
<grid filters=""></grid>	Located under each column name. Displays the filter that is currently applied to a column. If the filter box is empty, no filter is currently applied to the column. Type directly into the box, or click the box to display the Browse button, which opens the Select Filter Condition dialog box. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<servers grid=""></servers>	Displays a list of the Performance Center servers.
<information panel=""></information>	Located in the lower area of the module. Displays information about the server selected in the grid.
Description tab	Describes the currently selected server. Click in the text box to display a toolbar for formatting and spell checking the text.

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
Event Log tab	Displays detailed information about the tasks performed on the selected server, the action status, and a description of any errors. For details, refer to the "PC Test Runs Module Window" on page 164
Processes tab	Displays detailed information about the processes and resource usage of the selected server. For details, see "Processes Page" on page 279.
Check Server Status tab	Displays the status of each step of the server checks. To see check server status details, right click a line in the tab, and select <b>Check Server Status Details</b> . For details, see "Check Server Status Page" on page 280.
History tab	Lists changes made to the currently selected host. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### PC Servers Module Menus and Buttons

This section describes the menus and buttons available in the PC Servers module.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers, select PC Servers.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270

UI Elements	Menu	Description
ALM Connection	PC Servers and <right-< td=""><td>Enables you to define the internal and external ALM URL.</td></right-<>	Enables you to define the internal and external ALM URL.
		The internal URL is used by all Performance Center components to connect to ALM.
	click menu>	The URL must be in the following format: http:// <alm>:<port></port></alm>
		Example: http://myalm:8080
		<b>Note:</b> For SSL connectivity the ALM internal URL must begin with https, for example: https://myalm:443.
& Reconfigure Server	PC Servers and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Resets the system information on the selected server. For example, internal/external URLs, user identity, and so on.

UI Elements	Menu	Description
Install Patch	PC Servers and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the Install Patch dialog box, enabling you to select patches to install on the selected server.
V Check Server	PC Servers	Checks connectivity between the selected server and other machines in the system.
Reboot Server	PC Servers and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Enables you to remotely reboot the selected server.
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Copy URL	PC Servers	Copies the selected server and pastes its URL as a link. The server itself is not copied. Instead, you can paste the address into another location, such as an email or a document. Clicking the link opens up ALM and takes you to the resource file or folder. If you are not already logged in, ALM first prompts for login details.
Delete X	Edit and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Deletes the selected server in the grid.
Export	PC Servers and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the servers in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options:</li> <li>Export All. Exports all servers in the grid.</li> <li>Export Selected. Exports selected servers in the grid.</li> </ul>
Find	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a server in the module. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

Go to PC ServerPC ServersOpens the Go To PC Servers dialog box, enabling you to a specific server by its ID number. You can only go to servers that are in the current filter.Grid FiltersViewEnables you filter the data according to an entry in the filt box. For details about filtering options, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.Information PanelViewShows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of t module.New PC ServerPC ServersEnables you to add a PC Server.	ter
Grid FiltersViewEnables you filter the data according to an entry in the file box. For details about filtering options, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.Information PanelViewShows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of to module.New PC ServerPC ServersEnables you to add a PC Server.	ter
Information Panel       View       Shows/Hides the Information Panel in the lower area of module.         New PC Server       PC Servers       Enables you to add a PC Server.	the
New PC Server         PC         Enables you to add a PC Server.           *         Servers         Servers	
Organize Favorites Favorites Organizes your favorite views. For details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide	
PC Server Details       PC       Opens the PC Servers Details dialog box, displaying det of the selected server. For more information, see "PC Servers and <right-click menu=""></right-click>	ails erver
Private         Favorites         Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the us who created them.	ser
Public         Favorites         Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.	
Refresh All       View       Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.	3
ReplaceEdit and <right- </right-  clickIn the PC Servers grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management U 	Jser
Select Columns       View       Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order For more details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.         For details about the PC Servers fields, see "PC Servers Medule Fields" on the most sees.	er. S

<b>UI Elements</b>	Menu	Description
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the servers in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Update Selected	Edit	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management</i> <i>User Guide</i> .

# **PC Servers Module Fields**

This section describes the PC Servers module fields.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Servers</b> , select <b>PC Servers</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Configuration Last Check	Displays whether the last configuration check passed or failed.
Connectivity Last Check	Displays whether the last connectivity check passed or failed.
Description	A description of the Performance Center Server.
External URL	The URL used to connect to the Performance Center Server from an external source.          Note: For SSL connectivity add a Performance Center server using the following format for the external URL:         https:// <pc_server>         Example: https://mypcs:443</pc_server>
Installation Last Check	Displays whether the last installation check passed or failed.
Internal URL	The URL used for all internal communication between the Performance Center Server and ALM, as well as for load balancing.
Name	The server name that you assign when you configure a new server.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
Performance Last Check	Displays whether the last performance check passed or failed.
Server ID	The server ID.
Server State	The current state of the server. The possible states are:
	• Idle. The server is idle.
	• <b>Installing patch.</b> The installation patch is being installed on the server, and the server is temporarily unavailable.
	• <b>Rebooting.</b> The server is rebooting and is temporarily unavailable.
	Default: Idle
Status	The current server status. The possible statuses are:
	Operational. The server is working.
	• Non-operational. The server is not working.
	• Unavailable. The server is not available.

# PC Server Details Dialog Box

The PC Servers Details dialog box enables you to view and update a single server.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers, select PC Servers.</li> </ol>
	2. Right-click a server and select <b>PC Server Details</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
K 0 0 0	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of servers.
AB I	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
Re.	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
AB:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Server ID	The ID of the server.
Name	The name of the server.
Details	Details the currently selected server. For details on the available fields, see "PC Servers Module Fields" on page 276.
Event Log	Displays detailed information about the tasks performed on the selected server, the action status, and a description of any errors. For details, see "Event Log" on page 140.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected server. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Processes	Displays detailed information about the processes and resource usage of the selected server. For details, see "Processes Page" on the next page.
Server Check Status	Displays the status of each step of the server checks. To see server check status details, right click a line in the tab, and select <b>Server Check Status Details</b> . For details, see "Check Server Status Page" on page 280.

# New PC Server Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to add new Performance Center servers.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers , select PC Servers.</li> <li>Click the New PC Server button .</li> </ol>
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270

UI Elements	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears all data in the dialog box.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
Re	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.

UI Elements	Description
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
Details	Lists PC Server fields. Required fields are displayed in red. For details on the available fields, see "PC Servers Module Fields" on page 276. <b>Tip:</b> Clicking in the <b>Description</b> field on this page displays a toolbar for formatting and spell checking the text.
Name	Type a name for the new server.
	Syntax exceptions: A server name cannot include the following characters: \ / : " ? < >   * % '

### Processes Page

This page displays detailed information about the processes and resource usage of the selected server.

To access	From the PC Servers module:
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Servers</b> , select <b>PC Servers</b> . In the information panel, select <b>Processes</b> .
	From the PC Servers Details dialog box:
	On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Servers</b> , select <b>PC Servers</b> . Right-click a server and select <b>Server Details.</b> In the PC Server Details dialog box, select <b>Processes</b> .
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270
See also	"PC Servers Overview" on page 270

UI Elements	Description
Ø	Refresh. Refreshes the grid so it displays the most up-to-date information.

UI Elements	Description
×	Kill Process. Ends the process selected in the grid.
	<ul> <li>Note:</li> <li>Hosts module. Kill Process permissions are required to end the selected process.</li> <li>Performance Center Servers module. A user with Viewer permissions has the ability to end the selected process.</li> </ul>
<processes grid&gt;</processes 	<ul> <li>Displays the following details about the processes:</li> <li>Name. The name of the process.</li> <li>PID. The process ID.</li> <li>Processor Time (%). The percentage of processor time used by the process.</li> <li>Memory Usage (KBytes). The amount of memory (in kilobytes) used by the process.</li> <li>Elapsed Time (d.hh:mm:ss). The amount of elapsed time since the start of the process, where d is the number of days and hh:mm:ss is the number of hours, minutes, and seconds that have elapsed.</li> </ul>
<navigation area&gt;</navigation 	Located at the bottom of the page, enables you to navigate through the pages of entries in the grid. The total number of entries is displayed on the right of the navigation area.

# **Check Server Status Page**

This page displays the status of each step of the server checks.

To	•	From the PC Servers module:
access		On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Servers</b> , select <b>PC Servers</b> . In the information panel, select <b>Check Server Status</b> .
	•	From the PC Servers Details dialog box:
		On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Servers</b> , select <b>PC Servers</b> . Right-click a server and select <b>PC Server Details</b> . In the PC Server Details dialog box, select <b>Check Server Status</b> .

Relevant tasks	"How to Manage Performance Center Servers" on page 270
See also	"PC Servers Overview" on page 270

UI Elements	Description
	Check Server Status Details. The following fields are displayed:
	• Actual Value. Actual value resulting from the server connectivity check.
	• Check. The sub-areas in which the Check Server feature checks the servers.
	• Check Result ID. The ID of each step of the server check.
	• Expected Value. Value expected to result from the server check.
	• <b>Category.</b> The areas in which the Check Server feature checks the server: Configuration, Connectivity, Installation, and Performance.
	• Check Date. The date the server was checked.
	• Error. If an error occurred during the check, displays the error.
	• Status. Indicates whether the server check passed or failed.
Ø	Refresh. Refreshes the page.
₽.	<b>Set Filter/Sort.</b> Enables you to filter and sort the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
	<b>Select Columns.</b> Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Q	<b>Find.</b> Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search in the grid. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<check Server Status grid&gt;</check 	Displays the status of the server checks. Click to select columns to display in the grid.
Actual Value	Actual value resulting from the server connectivity check.

UI Elements	Description
Category	The areas in which the Check Server feature checks the server:
	Configuration
	Connectivity
	Installation
	Performance
Check	The sub-areas the Check Server feature checks. For example, sub-areas in the Performance check are Processor, Memory, and System.
Check Date	The date the server was checked.
Check Result ID	The ID of each step of the server check.
Error	If an error occurred during the check, displays the error.
Expected Value	Value expected to result from the server check.
Status	Indicates whether the server check passed or failed.

# **Chapter 17: CDA Servers**

This chapter includes:

CDA Servers Overview	.283
How to Manage CDA Servers	.283
CDA Servers User Interface	284

# **CDA Servers Overview**

The CDA Servers module is used to create and configure HP Continuous Delivery Automation (CDA) servers within Lab Management. CDA provides a data model that represents the artifacts and relationships required to define how composite applications are delivered to a dynamic set of target environments.

CDA integrates with ALM to provide dynamic provisioning and deployment of resources. When you link an AUT environment configuration to CDA, ALM can then run the linked tests without requiring the user to provide specific values for the environment parameters. Once CDA servers are defined in Lab Management, they can be used in ALM to link AUT environment parameters to CDA parameters. For more information about CDA and AUT Parameters, see the *HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide*.

# How to Manage CDA Servers

This task describes how to create CDA servers in Lab Management. You manage CDA servers in Lab Management and implement CDA linkages in ALM.

Use the following workflow to configure CDA in ALM:



### 1. Update the Communication Security Passphrase

- a. In Site Administration, update the **COMMUNICATION\_SECURITY\_PASSPHRASE** default parameter. For details, see *HP Application Lifecycle Management Administrator Guide*.
- b. Restart the HP Application Lifecycle Management service on the ALM server.

### 2. Create the CDA Server in Lab Management

a. In Lab Management, select Servers > CDA Servers.

b. Click the New CDA Server button

Note: You can only have one CDA server per site.

- c. In the New CDA Server dialog box, enter your server information. For details about the CDA fields, see "CDA Servers Module Fields" on page 287. For user interface details, see "New CDA Server Dialog Box" on page 288.
- d. After you submit, the CDA server data undergoes a compatibility check. The internal URL is used to check connectivity. If there are no problems with connectivity, your CDA server appears in the grid.

### 3. Update Project Settings

- a. In Lab Management, select Lab Settings > Project Settings.
- b. Select the relevant project from the grid and click the **Project Settings Details** button.
- c. In the Project Settings Details dialog box, update the **CDA Server** and **CDA Domain** fields. Click OK.

Your CDA server is now ready to be linked with ALM.

# **CDA Servers User Interface**

This section includes:

CDA Servers Module Window	. 285
CDA Servers Module Menus and Buttons	.285
CDA Servers Module Fields	.287
New CDA Server Dialog Box	.288
CDA Server Details Dialog Box	.289

# **CDA Servers Module Window**

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers, select CDA Servers.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage CDA Servers" on page 283

User interface elements are described below (unlabeled elements are shown in angle brackets):

UI Elements	Description
<cda servers<br="">Module common UI elements&gt;</cda>	<ul> <li>CDA Servers Fields. For field definitions, see "CDA Servers Module Fields" on page 287.</li> <li>CDA Servers Menus and Buttons. For command and button descriptions, see "CDA Servers Module Menus and Buttons" below.</li> <li>ALM masthead, menus, and sidebar. For details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.</li> </ul>
<grid filters=""></grid>	Located under each column name. Displays the filter that is currently applied to a column. If the filter box is empty, no filter is currently applied to the column. Type directly into the box, or click the box to display the Browse button,
	Which opens the Select Filter Condition dialog box. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
<servers grid=""></servers>	Displays a list of the CDA servers.
History tab	Lists changes made to the currently selected CDA server. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

### **CDA Servers Module Menus and Buttons**

This section describes the menus and buttons available in the CDA Servers module.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers, select CDA Servers.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage CDA Servers" on page 283

UI Elements (A - Z)	Menu	Description
Add to Favorites	Favorites	Opens the Add Favorite dialog box, enabling you to add a favorite view to your private or the public folder. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

UI Elements (A - Z)	Menu	Description
CDA Server Details	CDA Servers and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	Opens the CDA Servers Details dialog box, displaying details of the selected server. For more information, see "CDA Server Details Dialog Box" on page 289.
Delete X	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	Deletes the selected server in the grid.
Export	CDA Servers and <right- click menu&gt;</right- 	<ul> <li>Opens the Export Grid Data dialog box, enabling you to export the servers in the grid as a text file, Microsoft Excel worksheet, Microsoft Word document, or HTML document.</li> <li>Choose one of the following options:</li> <li>Export All. Exports all servers in the grid.</li> <li>Export Selected. Exports selected servers in the grid.</li> </ul>
Find Q	View	Opens the Find dialog box, enabling you to search for a server in the module. For details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Go to CDA Server	CDA Servers	Opens the Go To CDA Servers dialog box, enabling you to find a specific server by its ID number. You can only go to servers that are in the current filter.
Grid Filters	View	Enables you filter the data according to an entry in the filter box. For details about filtering options, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Information Panel	View	Shows/hides the Information Panel in the lower area of the module.
New CDA Server	CDA Servers	Enables you to add a CDA Server.
Organize Favorites	Favorites	Organizes your favorite views. For details, see the HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide.
Private	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible only to the user who created them.
Public	Favorites	Lists the favorite views that are accessible to all users.

UI Elements (A - Z)	Menu	Description
Refresh All	View	Refreshes the grid so that it displays the most up-to-date information.
Replace	Edit and <right-click menu&gt;</right-click 	In the CDA Servers grid, opens the Replace dialog box, enabling you to replace a field value in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Select Columns	View	Opens the Select Columns dialog box, enabling you to determine which fields to display in the grid and their order. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> . For details about the PC Servers fields, see "CDA Servers Module Fields" below.
Set Filter/Sort	View	Enables you to filter and sort the servers in the grid. Any currently applied filters or sorting orders are displayed below the toolbar. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .
Update Selected	Edit	Opens the Update Selected dialog box, enabling you to update a field value for a multiple selection in the grid. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# **CDA Servers Module Fields**

This section describes the CDA Servers module fields.

To access	On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers, select CDA Servers.
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage CDA Servers" on page 283

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements (A - Z)	Description
External URL	The URL used to connect to the CDA Server from an external source. This field is required. Use the following format for the URL: http://[ServerName]:[Port]/cda Note: For SSL connectivity add a CDA server using the following format for the external URL: https:// <cda_server></cda_server>
ID	The server ID.
Internal URL	The URL used for all internal communication between the Performance Center Server and ALM, as well as for load balancing.
Name	The server name that you assign when you configure a new server. Use the following format for the URL: <a href="http://[ServerName]:[Port]">http://[ServerName]:[Port]</a>

# New CDA Server Dialog Box

This dialog box enables you to create a new CDA server.

To access	1. On the Lab Management sidebar, under <b>Servers</b> , select <b>CDA</b> <b>Servers</b> .	
	2. Click the New CDA Server button .	
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage CDA Servers" on page 283	

UI Elements	Description
×	Clear All Fields. Clears all data in the dialog box.
<b>A</b> ₿	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	Thesaurus. Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
UI Elements	Description
----------------	---
Name	Enter a name for the new server.
	Syntax exceptions: A server name cannot include the following characters: \ / : " ? < >   * % '

### **CDA Server Details Dialog Box**

The CDA Servers Details dialog box enables you to view and update a single server.

To access	<ol> <li>On the Lab Management sidebar, under Servers, select CDA Servers.</li> </ol>	
	2. Right-click a server and select CDA Server Details.	
Relevant tasks	"How to Manage CDA Servers" on page 283	

User interface elements are described below:

UI Elements	Description
	First/Previous/Next/Last Entity. Enables you to browse through the list of servers.
AB	Spell Check. Checks the spelling for the selected word or text box.
	<b>Thesaurus.</b> Displays a synonym, antonym, or related word for the selected word.
AR:	Spelling Options. Enables you to configure how to check the spelling.
ID	The ID of the server.
Name	The name of the server.
Details	Lists the details the currently selected server. For details on the available fields, see "CDA Servers Module Fields" on page 287.
History	Lists changes made to the currently selected server. For more details, see the <i>HP Application Lifecycle Management User Guide</i> .

# **Chapter 18: Lab Service**

This chapter includes:

HP ALM Lab Service Overview	. 290
Installing HP ALM Lab Service	.290
Using HP ALM Lab Service	298
HP ALM Lab Service Agent	. 301

## **HP ALM Lab Service Overview**

HP ALM Lab Service acts as an agent on the testing host, enabling ALM to remotely trigger tests and maintenance tasks on the host.

Lab Service runs in the background on the testing host. In order to integrate your testing host with ALM Lab Management capabilities, you define the host in the Hosts/Testing Hosts module in Lab Management or ALM and then point ALM Lab Service to the ALM server using the Lab Service Settings page. For user interface details, see "HP ALM Lab Service Agent" on page 301.

A one-time registration process validates the identity of the agent and establishes a secure communication channel between ALM and the host. After registration, use ALM to run functional tests and perform maintenance tasks on the remote host.

Lab Service acts as a secure interface between ALM and your testing host. Communications with ALM, such as test requests, test results, and maintenance tasks pass through Lab Service. The Lab service communicates with ALM over the standard HTTP protocol and can traverse firewalls. Stopping the ALM Lab service prevents ALM Lab Management from using the host for running tests.

For task information, see "Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298.

## Installing HP ALM Lab Service

This task describes how to install HP ALM Lab Service.

To modify or repair your HP ALM Lab Service installation, see "Modify or Uninstall HP ALM Lab Service" on page 297.

### Install Lab Service using the HP ALM Lab Service - Installation Wizard

1. Download the HP ALM Lab Service MSI installation file from the HP ALM Add-ins page. Select the installation path that matches your operating system.

Note: Lab Service and the ALM server to which you are connecting must be of the same

version in order to be compatible. If your version of Lab Service is not the same as the ALM server, the Hosts/Testing Host grid displays your testing host as **Unavailable**.

2. Run the MSI installation file. The **HP ALM Lab Service - Installation Wizard** launches on the **Welcome** screen.

HP ALM Lab Service - Installation Wizard		
	Welcome to HP ALM Lab Service Installation Wizard	
ALM Lab Service	The Installation Wizard will install HPALM Lab Service on your computer. To continue, click Next.	
→ Welcome		
Destination Folder		
Custom Setup		
Confirm Settings		
Installation		
Finish	WARNING: This program is protected by copyright law and international treaties.	
	< Back Next > Cancel	

### Note:

- Administrator permissions are required on the machine.
- User Access Control (UAC) must be disabled.

#### Click Next.

3. The **Destination Folder** screen opens.

Specify in which folder you want to install Lab Service. To change the destination folder, click **Change**.

B HP ALM Lab Service - Installation Wizard		
100	Destination Folder	
ALM Lab Service	Click Next to install to the folder below, or dick Change to install to a different folder.	
Welcome	Install HP ALM Lab Service to:	
Destination Folder	C:\Program Files (x86)\HP\HP ALM Lab Service\ Change	
Custom Setup		
Confirm Settings		
Installation		
Finish		
< Back Next > Cancel		

Note: You must have read/write permissions to the destination folder.

To install to the folder displayed, click **Next**.

4. The Custom Setup screen opens.

You can enable Lab Service's Auto Login feature at this stage in the installation. Click the Auto Login checkbox icon and select **Enable this feature**. For more information about Auto Login, see "Auto Login" on page 300.

📴 HP ALM Lab Service - Installation Wizard		
	Custom Setup	
ALM Lab Service	Click on an icon below to indicate if a feature should be installed.	
Welcome Destination Folder • Custom Setup Confirm Settings Installation Finish	Auto Login The Auto Login feature enables HP ALM Lab Service to automatically log in to the testing host to execute tests.	
< Back Next > Cancel		

**Caution:** For **Windows XP**, HP ALM Lab Service setup installs a file (GINA DLL) which is necessary for Auto Login. If another application has already customized login to your host, a different version may already be installed, and replacing this file could cause errors. If you would like to enable the Auto Login feature, uninstall the other application and restart the Lab Service installation.

Click Next.

5. The Confirm Settings screen opens.

B HP ALM Lab Service - Installation Wizard		
	Confirm Settings	
ALM Lab Service	To review or change your installation settings, click Back.	
Welcome Destination Folder Custom Setup • Confirm Settings Installation Finish	Click Install to begin the installation.	
< Back Install Cancel		

To review or change any settings, click **Back**.

To accept the settings and start the installation process, click Next.

The Installation page opens and the HP ALM Lab Service files are installed on your machine.

- []]]	Installing HP ALM Lab Service
ALM Lab Service	Please wait while the InstallShield Wizard installs HP ALM Lab Service. This may take several minutes.
Welcome Destination Folder Custom Setup Confirm Settings <b>Installation</b> Finish	Status:
	< Back Next > Cancel

6. After the installation completes, the **HP ALM Lab Service Settings** dialog box opens along with the **Finish** screen.

HP ALM Lab Service - Installation Wizard		
ALM Lab Service	HP ALM Lab Service Installation Wizard Completed	
Welcome Destination Folder Custom Setup Confirm Settings Installation → Finish	Before you click Finish, we recommend you use the HP ALM Lab Service Settings page to configure Lab Service. The agent will not function until the settings are configured.	
	Show the Windows Installer log	
	< Back Finish Cancel	

You can enter your host settings into the Lab Service Settings dialog box and click **OK**. For user interface details about the Lab Service Settings Page, see " HP ALM Lab Service Agent" on page 301.

- We recommend you configure the Lab Service settings at this stage, but you can configure it later as well. The agent will not function until the settings are configured.
- If you enabled Auto Login during the installation, you will be prompted to restart your

computer. Make sure to enter your details into the Lab Service Settings page before restarting.

The Lab Service installation is complete. Click **Finish** on the Finish screen. The Lab Service tray icon **I** appears on the Windows taskbar.

### Install Lab Service using silent installation

From the command line, enter the Microsoft MSI silent installation command:

msiexec /i "<msi-location>/HpAlmLabService\_x64.msi" /quiet SERVERNAME=http://<se
rver\_name>:<port>/qcbin HOSTUSERNAME=<user\_name>

#### Note:

- Administrator permissions are required on the machine.
- User Access Control (UAC) must be disabled.

The following ALM-specific parameters are available:

Parameter (A - Z)	Description
HOSTUSERDOMAIN= <domain></domain>	Required when Auto Login is enabled. Specifies the login user's domain.

Parameter (A - Z)	Description
HOSTUSERNAME= <user_name></user_name>	<b>Required parameter.</b> Specifies the user that must be logged in when running tests on the testing host.
	<ul> <li>Note: The user you select must have the following permissions:</li> <li>Create global objects.</li> <li>All COM permissions.</li> <li>Read/write permissions to the destination folder.</li> <li>All permissions needed to run tests of the desired type. For example, if you intend to run UFT tests from ALM, the selected user must have all permissions needed to run UFT tests. For more information about the permissions required per testing tool, see the user guide for the appropriate testing tool.</li> </ul>
HOSTUSERPASSWORD= <password></password>	Required when Auto Login is enabled. Specifies the login user's password.
ISAUTOLOGIN=1	Enables the Auto Login feature. If Auto Login is enabled, you must use the HOSTUSERDOMAIN and HOSTUSERPASSWORD parameters. For more information about Auto Login, see "Auto Login" on page 300.
LOGLEVEL= <log-level></log-level>	Configures the level ( <b><log-level></log-level></b> ) at which Lab Service will write logs. Supports the following log levels: Error, Off, Warning, Info, Verbose. For more information about log levels, see " HP ALM Lab Service Agent" on page 301.
LOGLOCATION=" <log-directory>"</log-directory>	Configures the location ( <b><log-directory></log-directory></b> ) in which the Lab Service logs will be written.
REGISTER=1	Automatically sends a registration request to the ALM server after the installation completes.

Parameter (A - Z)	Description
SERVERNAME=http:// <server_ name&gt;:<port>/qcbin</port></server_ 	<b>Required parameter.</b> The URL of the ALM server.
	<b>Example:</b> SERVERNAME=http://almserver1:8080/q cbin

Additional standard MSI parameters are available. Type msiexec /? from the command line for more information.

### Modify or Uninstall HP ALM Lab Service

### Modify HP ALM Lab Service Installation

- 1. Run the MSI installation file. The **HP ALM Lab Service Installation Wizard** launches on the **Welcome** screen. Click **Next**.
- 2. The Program Maintenance screen opens.

Select the Modify radio button. Click Next.

3. The Custom Setup screen opens.

Use the feature icons to enable or disable HP ALM Lab Service features.

Click Next.

4. The Confirm Settings screen opens.

Click Next.

5. The Finish screen opens. Click Finish.

### Remove HP ALM Lab Service

**Caution:** After removing Lab Service, you must restart the host before reinstalling a different version. If you try to reinstall a new version without restarting, the installation fails.

### To remove Lab Service using the MSI file:

- 1. Run the MSI installation file. The **HP ALM Lab Service Installation Wizard** launches on the **Welcome** screen. Click **Next**.
- 2. The Program Maintenance screen opens.

Select the Remove radio button. Click Next.

3. The Remove the Program screen opens. Click Remove.

If Lab Service was running when you ran the MSI installation file, the **Files in Use** screen may open. Click **OK** to complete the removal.

4. The Finish screen opens. Click Finish.

### To remove Lab Service using Windows Programs and Features:

- 1. Open the Programs and Features screen in Windows by going to **Control Panel\All Control Panel Items\Programs and Features**.
- 2. Right click on HP ALM Lab Service, and select Uninstall.

# To remove Lab Service using the silent uninstallation, run one of the following commands:

- msiexec /x "<msi-location>\HpAlmLabService\_x64.msi"
- msiexec /x {8A0D781B-7976-419F-91D9-15F3121FCFA5}

## Using HP ALM Lab Service

This task describes how to use HP ALM Lab Service. To run tests from Functional test sets on your testing hosts using ALM, you must register your host with ALM using Lab Service.

To learn more about HP ALM Lab Service, see "HP ALM Lab Service Overview" on page 290.

**Note:** Lab Service and the ALM server to which you are connecting must be of the same version in order to be compatible. If your version of Lab Service is not the same as the ALM server, the Hosts/Testing Host grid displays your testing host as **Unavailable**.



This task includes the following steps:

- "Create the Testing Host" on the next page
- "Configure HP ALM Lab Service " on the next page
- "Approve the Host Registration in Lab Management" on page 300
- "Stop/Start Lab Service " on page 300

### 1. Create the Testing Host

In ALM or Lab Management, under Lab Resources, select the Hosts/Testing Hosts module. Click the **New Testing Host** button and input your testing host information. The **Registration Status** for the new testing host is set to **Not Registered**.

**Note:** You can arrange for ALM to automatically approve a testing host registration by setting **Registration Auto Approve** to **Y**.

For task details, see "How to Manage Testing Hosts" on page 106.

For user interface details, see "New Testing Host Dialog Box" on page 136.

### 2. Configure HP ALM Lab Service

To configure Lab Service, you need:

- The ALM server URL.
- The dedicated Windows user name to be used exclusively for running the test on your testing host.

Note: The user you select must have the following permissions:

- Create global objects.
- All COM permissions.
- All permissions needed to run tests of the desired type. For example, if you intend to run UFT tests from ALM, the selected user must have all permissions needed to run UFT tests. For more information about the permissions required per testing tool, see the user guide for the appropriate testing tool.
- The password and domain of the Windows user name. These are available only if you enabled Auto Login during installation.
- (Optional) The URL and credentials of the proxy server used for communication between the testing host and ALM.

You can configure Lab Service to communicate with ALM by using the Settings page.

To register Lab Service using the Settings page:

a. Right-click the Lab Service icon **I** in your system tray. Open the Settings page.

- b. Provide the ALM server URL and your host user information. Provide proxy server information if necessary. For user interface details about the Settings page, see "HP ALM Lab Service Agent" on the next page. Click **Register Host**.
- c. Refresh the host grid in Lab Management. The **Registration Status** for the new host is set to **Pending**.

### 3. Approve the Host Registration in Lab Management

If you set **Registration Auto Approval** to **Y** when you created the host, then the registration will be automatically approved.

If the host is not set to be automatically approved, you must approve it manually. The host registration request can be approved from within Lab Management by a Lab Administrator. If the host was created as a private host from within an ALM project, registration can be approved from within that project.

Select your host from the grid in the Hosts module, click the **Host Operations** drop-down arrow and select **Approve Registration**. The **Registration Status** changes from **Pending** to **Registered**.

Your new testing host is registered. You can now schedule and run Functional tests on this host using ALM.

### 4. Stop/Start Lab Service

You can start and stop Lab Service using the icon in the taskbar. Right click on the icon and do one of the following:

- To stop, click Stop ALM Lab Service.
- To start, click Start ALM Lab Service.

### Caution:

- Stopping Lab Service makes the testing host appear as Non-Operational in Lab Management. You cannot run tests using server-side execution on your testing host until you start it again.
- If you wait too long after stopping Lab Service, ALM stops polling to see if Lab Service was restarted. You must manually set the testing host's Status to Operational in the Hosts/Testing Hosts grid.

### Auto Login

For ALM to run tests on your registered testing host, Lab Service must have a user logged in to the testing host, and the user must have permission to run the test. To avoid a situation in which the user is not logged in, you can configure Lab Service to automatically log in to the testing host using the user whenever you request a test execution.

If you enable Auto Login, you must fill out the username and password values in the Settings page. For more information, see " HP ALM Lab Service Agent" below.

If you have Auto Login enabled and you disconnect from the session (for instance, if you close the session window), Lab Service will automatically log the user back in and finish the test. However, if you lock the screen, ALM is not able to run a test which requires the session user interface (such as UFT GUI Testing).

### Note:

- To enable Auto Login, administrator permissions are required on the machine.
- To enable Auto Login, User Access Control (UAC) must be disabled.
- To disable or enable Auto Login on an already existing Lab Service installation, run the MSI file and click Modify. For more details, see "Modify or Uninstall HP ALM Lab Service" on page 297.

## HP ALM Lab Service Agent

To access	Right click the Lab Service icon on the Windows taskbar and select <b>Settings</b> .
Important information	You can use the Settings page to manage communication between Lab Service and the ALM server.
Relevant tasks	"Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298
See also	"HP ALM Lab Service Overview" on page 290

User interface elements are described below:

### General tab

Server Settinge		
Server Settings		
ALM server:	http://almserver1:8080/qcbin	
Host Settings		
Host user name:	mtoursuser	(
Host password:	*********	(
' Host domain:	mtours	(
Host name:	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed.	ninistrator. Note
Host name: Message:	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed. mtours	ninistrator. Note
Host name: Message:	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed.	ninistrator. Note
Host name: Message:	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed. mtours	ister Host
Host name: Message:	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed. mtours	ister Host
Host name: Host name: Message: Log Settings	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed. mtours  Reg  C:\ProgramData\HP\ALM-Execution Agent Logs	ister Host
Host name: Host name: Message: Log Settings	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed. mtours  C:\ProgramData\HP\ALM-Execution Agent Logs  Error	ister Host
Log Settings	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed. mtours C:\ProgramData\HP\ALM-Execution Agent Logs Error	ister Host
Host name: Host name: Message: Log Settings	t' to register this host. You can enter a message to the adr already exist in the lab project for registration to succeed. mtours C:\ProgramData\HP\ALM-Execution Agent Logs Error •	ister Host

This tab contains general settings for the lab service.

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
Server	ALM Server. The URL of the ALM server for communicating with Lab Service.
Settings	The URL should be in the following format:
section	http(s):// <servername>:<port>/qcbin</port></servername>

<b>UI Elements</b>	Description
Host Settings section	• Host user name. The name of the Windows user to be used to run ALM tests on this host. This name cannot include the \ backslash character.
	Note: The user you select must have the following permissions:
	Create global objects.
	<ul> <li>All COM permissions.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Read/write permissions to the destination folder.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>All permissions needed to run tests of the desired type. For example, if you intend to run UFT tests from ALM, the selected user must have all permissions needed to run UFT tests. For more information about the permissions required per testing tool, see the user guide for the appropriate testing tool.</li> </ul>
	• <b>Host password.</b> The password of the Windows user. This field is available only if Auto Login is enabled.
	• <b>Host domain.</b> The domain of the Windows user. This field is available only if Auto Login is enabled.
Host	• Host name. The name used by ALM to identify your testing host.
Registration	• Message. The message sent to the Lab Management administrator.
	• <b>Register Host.</b> This button registers the testing host with the ALM server.
	For more information, see "Using HP ALM Lab Service" on page 298.

UI Elements	Description
Log Settings section	<b>Log files location.</b> The directory to which the logs are written. The log records the progress of test runs and maintenance tasks. If the location does not exist, it is created. This field cannot be empty.
	<b>Note:</b> If the write permissions for the log location path do not include the user name defined in the Host Settings section, the execution runs but no logs are generated.
	Log Level. Select a log level from the drop down menu:
	• Off. No logs are generated.
	• Error. Only errors are written to the log.
	• Warning. Errors and warnings are written to the log.
	• Info. Errors, warnings, and general information is written to the log.
	• Verbose. All actions done by the Lab Service agent are written to the log.
	Raising the Log Level may affect performance. We recommend leaving it at <b>Error</b> level unless you need to produce debugging information.

Lab Management Guide Chapter 18: Lab Service

### Proxy tab

HP ALM Lab Service Se	ettings	
General Proxy		
No Proxy		
<ul> <li>Manual Proxy Configu</li> </ul>	ration	
* Proxy Type:	HTTP •	
* Proxy Server:	.193.71.207	: 8080
	Proxy server requires a password	
* Usemame:	mtours	
Password:		
	OK Cancel	

This tab allows you to enter proxy server information if your testing host should communicate with ALM via a proxy server.

UI Elements (in order of appearance)	Description
No Proxy	Select this option if the testing host communicates directly with the ALM server.
Manual Proxy Configuration	Select this option if the testing host communicates with the ALM server via a proxy server. If you select this option, you must enter a proxy type and proxy server, and optionally a username and password.
Proxy Type	The protocol used for communication between the testing host and the proxy server.
Proxy Server : <port number&gt;</port 	The hostname or IP address of the proxy server. Make sure to enter a port number in the field on the right.

UI Elements (in order of appearance)	Description
Proxy server requires a password	Select this option if communication with the proxy server requires authentication. If you select this option, you must enter a username and password for the proxy server.
Username	Username used to authenticate against the proxy server.
Password	Password for the supplied username.

**Note:** Some proxy settings are unavailable from the UI. You can configure advanced proxy settings by modifying the configuration file **HP.ALM.Lab.Agent.RemoteService.exe.config** which resides in the HP ALM Lab Service installation directory. The default installation directory is **C:\Program Files\HP\HP ALM Lab Service**. To edit the configuration file, follow the MSDN intructions that are available in this link.

# We appreciate your feedback!

If you have comments about this document, you can contact the documentation team by email. If an email client is configured on this system, click the link above and an email window opens with the following information in the subject line:

### Feedback on Lab Management Guide (ALM Lab Management 12.00)

Just add your feedback to the email and click send.

If no email client is available, copy the information above to a new message in a web mail client, and send your feedback to SW-Doc@hp.com.



